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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
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Yes ] No %

Indicate by check mark whether the rogistrant (1) has filed all reports requied to be filed by Section 13 o 15{d) of the Secarities
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Indicate by check mark iT disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant 1o ltem 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapler) is not
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is o large accelerated filer, an accelersied filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller
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12b-2 ol the Exchange Act.
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$524,083.608 hased on the closing sales price on the New Yk Stock Exchange of S10.38.

On February 28, 2013, the registrant had 54,238,321 shares omtstanding of common stock, $0.01 par value, which is the registrunt’s
vnly class of common stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Definitive Proxy Statement for the registrant’s 2013 annual mecting of sharchobders, expected to be filed pursuant
o Regalation 14A within 120 days from December 31, 2012, are incorporated by reference into Part HE




PART I,

PART 11,

PART 111

PART IV.

SIGNATURES

Iem 1.
Hem A,
ltem IB.
ftem 2,
fiem 3.

Tiem 4.

tiem 10,
tem 11,
fiem 12,

flem !4.

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC,
FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Business '
Risk Factors -
Unmﬁuhcd Staff (ommcms

ch;n! Proctc:dings

‘Minc Safoty Disclosures

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Relatcd Stockholder Matters and
Issuer Purchases of F.quitv Securitics

Sclemdfmmmmm

Managenient's mscussmn amd Am!ysls ol’ mecml Condition and Results

ofcpmlmns
anti ,;‘mwmmAmumm

lyiirrclurs.k Executive Oﬁ‘ucéﬁ and (Zmporm Ccovcmncc
Executive Compensation

Security Ownership of Cenain Beneficin! Owners and Managenient and
uemui Stockhalder Matters

Pmmpu! Acmummt rm md Scmm

Exhibits, Financial Sistement Schedules -

¥R QW

Page

Ak
X

3

ti

6l

3

8

62

[

63



CALTIONARY STATEMENT  This Arvunad Reprort on Form J0-K may conteunt " forwaed-looking ™ stetements within ibe meing
af Sectinn 274 of the Secaritios Act of 1933, ay wmended tor " 1933 Act”), and Scctions 2LE of the Secureities Exchumge Act of 1934,
ay amended tor “Exchange Acr”). We caution that any such forward-fooking siateaenity made fy s are not grarantecs of fiulure
perfurmance, and actued resalts may differ materioliy froe those expressed ov inglied i sech forwerd-looking staiements. Sone
af the foctary that could cause actuel resudes io differ materiatly frvm extimeies expressed or implied in ower ﬁma‘anir&fmkm{c
SEntements ane Sef forth i ihis Annual Repovit on Form 10K for the year ended Decomber 31, 2012, See frem 1A “"Risk Foctors™
ax well oy “Forward:-Looking Statements  set firth in frem 7. " Monagensens s Discixsioe and Analvsiy of Finaucial Condstion
wnd Resuits of Operationss " of this Awnrel Repoet oo Form 10X

lot thix Anreval Report an Form (K, wy vefer o Dvnex Capital, Ine. amd its subaidiovies ax “the Company, * “we, ™ ux, "
wr our " wmlesy we specifically state stherwise or the context fidicates otherwive.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Dvaex Capital, Inc. is an internally mansged mortgage real ostate investment trust, or mortgage REIT, which invests in
maortpage asseds o a leveraged basis. Our common stock is traded oo the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbod
"DX™ and our B 50% Scries A Cumulative Redecmable Proferred Stock {the "Senies A Preferred Stock™) is traded on the NYSE
umder the symbal "DXPRA". Qur objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted returns t our sharcholders over the long term
that ate reflective of a leveraged, high quality fixed income portiolio with a focus on capital preservation. We seck to poovide
retumns to our sharcholders through regular quanterly dividends and through capital appreciation.

We were formed in 1987 and comnmenced operations in 1988, Beginning with our inception throagh 2000, sur operations
largely consisted of ofiginating and sceuritizing various types of lnans, principably single-family and commercial mongage boans
ansd manufactured housing loans. Since 2000, we have been an investor in Agency and non-Agency mortgage-backed securitics
1"MBS"). Agency MBS consist of residentinl MBS ¢“RMBS" andd commercial MBS (CMBS"), which come with 1 guaranty of
principal psyment by an agency of the US, government or & U8 government-sponsored entity such as Fasnic Moc and Froddie
Miuc, Nom-Agenoy MBS (abso consasting of RMBS and CMBS) have no such guamnty of payment.

Our primary source of ineoms 1s net interest incosme, which 1 the excess of the interest income camed on our Investments
uver the vost of financing these investents. We inviest oar capitsl purssinmt 1o ous Operating Policiex as approved by our Board
of Phrectors, Our diversified investiment steategy permits imvestment in Agency MBS and investmem grade non- Agency MBS,
unek xinge 200K our investments have boen in higher credit guality, shorter dusation investrwentx, [nvestments considened to be of
hgher credit quality have less or imited oxposure to loss of principel while investments which have shorter durations have bess
or limsted exposure to changes iy interest ates. The target asset allocation for the Company is 60% in Agency MBS and 4085 in
non-Agency MBS though our actual progress twward these targets will vary based on available investment oppuortunitics.,

RMBS. The Company's RMBS investments currently consist predominantly of Agency RMBS but thie Company has
owned substantial smounts of non-Agency RMBS in the past. Agency RMBS include hybrid Agency adjusablke-rate mongage
boans {"ARM:="1 amd Agency ARMs. Hybeid Agency ARMs arc MBS collateralized by hybrid adjustable-rate mortgage koans
which are loans that huve o fixed rate of interest for o specificd period (typicully three (o ten years) and which then udjust their
interest rate at beast annuably to an increment over 9 specificd interest rate index as further discussed below. Agency ARMs are
MBS colluteralized by adjustable-rate mortgage loans which have interest rates that generally will sdjust at least annually to an
anvcrement over a spevified interest mate index. Agency ARMs also include hybrid Agency ARM> that are past their fixed-mte
periests o1 within twelve months of their initial reset peried. The Company may also invest in fixed-rate Agency RMBS from time:
to e Additionally, the Company invests in non-Agency RMBS, the majority of which are mted as investment grade.  These
isestents generatly resemble similar types of Agency ARMy, but Isck a gusranty of payment by an agency of the U.S. government
or g LS, govemnnwent-sponsored entity.

Interest rates on the adjustable-rate mortgage loans collaterulinng hybrid Agency ARMs, Agency ARMs, and nen-Ageny
ARM« are based on specific index rates, such as the London Interbank (Mered Rate, or LIBOR, the one-year constant naturity
i



treasury rate, or CMT, the Federal Reserve U.S. 12-month cumulative average onc-year CMT, or MTA, of the 1 1th District Cost
of Funds Index, or COFL. These loans will typically have interim and lifetime caps on interest rate adjustments, of interest rate
caps, limiting the amount thet the rates on these loans may reset in any given period.

CAMBS, The Company’s Agency and non-Agency CMBS are collateralized by first mongage loans and are comprised of
substantially fixed-rste securities. A substantial portion of the CMBS owned by the Company is colfateralized by loans secured
by mullifamily properties. Typically these loans have some form of prepayment prolection provisions (such as prepayment lock-
out) OF prepayment compensalion provisions (such as yield maintenance or prepayment penally). Yield maintenance and
prepayment penalty requirements are intended (o create an economic disincentive for the loans to prepay. Amounts required to
be paid decline over time however, and as boans age, interest rates decling, or market values of the collateral supporting the loan
increase, prepayment penaliies may not serve as a meaninglul economic disincentive to the borrower.

CMRS 1. A portion of the Company’s Agency and non-Agency CMBS also include interest only securities {"10s™) which
represent the right 1o receive excess interest payments (but not principal cash flows) based on the underlying unpaid principal
balance of the underlying pool of mongage Joans. As these securities have no principal associated with them, the interest payments
received are based on the unpaid principal balance (oflen referred 10 as the notional amount) of the underiying pool of mongage
toans. 10 securities generally have prepayment protection in the form of lock-ouls, prepayment penaliies, or yield maintenance
associated with the underiying loans.

Factors that Affect Our Results of Operations and Finencial Condivion

The performance of our investment portfolio will depend on many factors, many of which are beyond our control. These
factors include, but are not limited 10, interest rates, trends of interest rates, the relative steepness of interest rate curves, prepayment
rales on UIF iBvestments, competition for investments, and economic conditions and their impact on the credit performance of cur
investments. In addition, the performnance of our investment pontfolio and the availability ofinvestments at acceptable retum levels
is influenced by actions 1aken by, and policy measurex of, the U.S. government, including the Federal Houging Finance
Administration and the U. S. Depariment of the Treasury (the "Treasury™), and actions taken by and policy measures of the U.S.
Federal Reserve.

In addition, our business model may be impacted by other factors such as the availability and cost of financing and the
state of the overall credit matkets.  Reductions in the availability of financing for our investments could significantly impact our
business and force us 1o scll assets that we otherwise would nod sell, potentially m losses or st amounts below their true fair value.
Other Faclors also impacting our business mclude changes in tegulatory requirerments, including requirements 1o qualify for
registration under the 1940 Act and REIT requirenents.

Investing in morigage-related securitics on 8 leveraged basis subjects us 10 a number of risks including interest rate risk.
prepayment and reinvestment risk. credit risk, market value risk and liquidity nisk, which are discussed in liem 1A, "Risk Factors”
of Part | and in ltem 7."Liquidity and Capital Resources™ as well as in liem 7A, "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risk™ of Part 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Please soc these liems for detailed discussion of these risks und the
potential impact on our resulls of operations and financial condition.

Operating Pelicies and Restrictions

We operaie our business pursuant 1o our Operating Policies as approved by our Board of Directors. which consist of our
Investment Management and Invesiment Risk Policies. These policies set forth investment and risk limitations as they relate to
the Company's investment activilics and are reviewed annuslly by the Board. We also manage our operstions and investments (o
comply with vanous REIT limitations {ns discussed further below in “Federal Income Tax Considerations”) and to avoid qualifying
05 an investment company as such term is defined in the 1940 Act or as & commodity pool operator under the Commaodity Exchange
Act and the rubes and regulations promulgaled thercusdder,

tn implementing the Operating Policies with respect 1o non-Agency MBS, we limit our purchases 1o MBS which are rated
investment-grade by ax least one nationally recognized statistical ratings organication. We also conduct our own independent
cvaluation of the credit risk on any non-Agency MBS, such that we do not rely solely on the security’s credit rating.

[ ]



The Operating Policies also Jimit the overall leverage of the Company to seven times our shareholders” equity capital, up
1o 1en times our equity capital invested in Agency MBS, and six times our equity capital invested in non-Agency MBS. In addition,
among other things, there ate limatanions on interest rate and convexity risk, and our eamnings at risk and our shareholders’ equity
at risk due to changes in inlerest rates, prepayinent raies, investment prices and spreads. The Operating Policies require us to
perform a vanety of stress 1ests on the investment portfolio value and fiquidity from adverse market conditions.

Investment Philoxophy and Strategy

Our investment philosophy is based on a top-down appecach and forms the foundation of our investment strategy. We
focus on the eapected risk-adjusted outcome ol any investment which, given our use of leverage, must include the terms of financing
and the expected liquidity of the investment. Key points of our investment philosophy and strategy include the following:

*  understanding macroeconomic canditions including the curremt state of the U.S. and global economies, the regulatony
environment, competition for assels, and the availability of financing;

«  sector analysis including understanding absohinte rotums, relative retums and rnisk-adjusted reterns;

*  secunty and financing analysis including sensitiv ity analysis on credit, imerest rate volatility, and market value risk: and

*  managing performance and ponfolio risks. including interest rate, credit, prepayment, and liquidity nisks.

In coeculing our Mvestmen sirately. we seck 1o balance the varions risks of owning mongage assets with the carnings
opporturisty on the mvestment. We believe our strategy of investing in Agency and non-Agency morigage assets provides superior
diversification of these rishs across our investmen poetiolio and therefore provides ample opponunities Lo penerate altractive risk-
adjusted returns while preserving our shareholders” capital. W also believe that our shorter duration strategy will provide bess
volatility in out results and our book value per common share than strategies which invest in longer duration assets with potemially
mote thterest rale risk.

The performance of ous investment portlolio will depend on many factors including interest rates, trends of interest rates,
the steepriess of interest rate curves, prepayment rales on aur investments, competition for investments, economic conditions and
thest impact on the credit performance of our invesiments, and actions 1aken by the 1S, government, including the L1.S. Fedesal
Reserve and the Linited States Depariment of the Treasury (the “Treasury”). In addition. our business model may be impacted by
other factors such as the slate of the overall credit motkets. which could impact the availability and costs of financing. See “Factors
that Affect Qur Results of Operations and Finmmeial Condition™ above and "Risk Factors-Risks Related 1o Our Business” in Jtem
EA of Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for funther discussion

Financing and Hedging Strategy

We linance our investments primanty through the use of repurchase agreements, and 10 & lesser extenl, non-recourse
collateralused Ninancing.

Reperchase dgreements. Repurchase agreemand financing is uncommitied short-term financing in which we pledge our
MRS as collaternl 1o secure loans made by the repurchase agreement counterparty. Repurchase agreements generally have terms
af 30-90 days. though in some instances longer terms may be available, and carry a rate of interest which is usually based on a
spread to one-month LIBOR and fixed Ffor the term of the agreement. The amount borrowed under a repurchase agreement is
limited by the fender 10 a percentage of the estimated market value of the pledged collateral, which is genernily up to 95% of the
estimated market value for Agency MBS and up 1o W% for higher credit quality non-Agency MBS, The difference between the
rmarket vatue of the pledged MBS coliateral and the amount of the repurchase agreement is the amount of equity we have in the
posiion and is intended to provide the lender some protection against Buctuations of value in the collateral and’or the failure by
us {0 repay the borrowimng al maturnity.

H the far value of the MBS pledged ns coliaternl declines, benders may roquire that we pledge additional assels to
collpteralize e autsianding repurchase agreement borrowings by imiliating a margin call. Our pledged collaternl Nuctoates in
value primarily os a resull of principal payments and changes in market interest rates and spreads, prevailing market yiehds. actun!
or anticipated prepayment speeds and other market conditions. Lenders may also initinte margin calks during periods of market
stress as a resull of aclual or expected volatility in asset prices. There is no minimum amount of collateral value decline required
before the lender coubd inttiate a margin call. 1Fwe fail 1o mest any margin call, our lenders have the right 1o terminate the repuschase
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agreement and sell the collateral pledged. We attempt 10 maintain cash and other liquid securities in sufficient amounts to manage
our exposure (0 margin calls by lenders.

Repurchase agreement financing is provided principally by major financial instintions and broker-dealers. A significant
source of liquidity for the repurchase agreement market is money market funds which provide collateral-based lending 1o the
financial institutions and beoker-dealer community that, in tum, is provided o the repurchase agreement market. Inorder 10 reduce
our exposure (o counterparty-related risk, we generally seek Lo diversify our exposure by entering into repurchase agreements with
multiple lenders.

For further discussion of repurchase agreement financing, please refer 10 "Liquidity and Capial Resources” in lem 7 of
Pant 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Novt-Reeourse Collateralized Finaneing. We wtilize securitization financing 1o finance securitized mongage loans and
cernain MBS. Secuntization financing is term financing collateralised by securitized morigage loans and is non-recourse 1o us.
Each series of securitization financing may consist of various ¢lasses of bonds st either fined or variable rates of interest and having
varying repayment terms. Payments received on securitized mongage loans and reinvesiment income eamed thereon is used 1o
make payments on the securitization financing bonds,

Hedging Strategy. Our hedging stralegy is designed 1o reduce the impact on our income and sharcholders’ equity caused
by the adverse effects of changes in interest rates.  Grenerally in a period of rising rates our net income may be negatively impacted
from our borrowing costs increasing faster than income on our aszets, and our shareholders’ equity may decline as a result of
dectining market values of our MBS. In hedging the risk of changes in interest rates, we principally utilize interest rate swap
agreements, but may also utilize interest rae cap o floor agreements, futures contracts, put and call oplions on securities or
secarities underlying futures contracts, forward rate agreements, or swaptions. Unless the interpretation of rules established
pursuant 10 the Dodd-Frank Act changes, we will have significan collateral posting requirements for swaps entered into subsequent
1o June 10, 2013, These posting requirements will make swaps significantly more expensive for the Company and may force us
1o utifize other strategics of hedging our interest rate risk. For lurther discussion, please refer 1o ltem 1 A, “Risk Factors” contained
within Part | of the Annusl Report on Foem 10K

As of December 31, 2012, our hedging instruments consisted solely of interest rale swap agreements, Typically inan interest
ralc swap transaclion, we will pay an agreed upon fixed rate of imierest determined al the lime of edening inio the agreement lor
8 period lypically between two and seven years while receiving interest based on s floating rate such as LIBOR. We intend to
comply with REIT and tax limitations on our hedging instrurnents and also intend to limit our usc of hedging instruments to only
those described above. We also intend 1o enter into hedging transactions only with counterparties that we believe have 8 strong
credit rating to help mitigate the risk of counterparty default or insolvency.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The public mongage REIT industry has grown significantly since the beginning of 2008 and includes approximately 33
companics with a tolal markel capitalization of $5%.0 billion as of December 31, 2012, Morigage REITs provide liquidity to the
U.S. real estaie markets through the purchase of RMBS and CMBS and through the origination or purchase of mertgage loans.
The business models of morigage REITs range from investing only in Agency MBS 1o investing substantially in non-investment
grade MBS and loans. Each morigage REIT will assume risks in its investment strastegy. Whereas we invest in shorter-duration
and higher quality MBS in order to mitigate interest rate risk and credit risk, other morigage REITs may be willing 1o accept move
of these risks than we ore and invest in longer-duration or lower-guality assets.

Given the need for private capital 1o replace the capital curcenily supporting mortgage finance (from governmental and
quasi-governmenial public entities such as Fannie Mac, Freddic Mac, GNMA and the Federal Reserve), we belicve that morntgage
REITs will continue to increase in importance (o the U.S. housing and morigage finance industrics. In addition, the uncertainty
around regulation of fmancial institulions under the Dodd-Frank Act, minimum capital siandands that may be implemented under
the Basel 11l Accord, increased risk-weightings for certain types of morigage loans held by depository institutions, and other
potential regulatory changes, may further impact capital formation in the U.S. monigage market which could favor morigage REITs,
There are potentinl consequences Lo increased negulation however, including increasing borrowing costs or reduced availability
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of sepurchase agreement financing and the requirement 1o posa significant amounts of margin in order to enter into derivative
transactions such as interest rate swaps as discassed above, among other things. In addition, as further discussed in liem 1A, "Risk
Factors” below, the Securities and Fachanpe Commission ("SEC™) is reviewing the exemplion currenily used by most mortgage
REITs under the 1940 Act. Il the SEC ultimately resiricts the use of such exemption, mongage REIT business models will likely
be severely tesaricted.

COMPETITION

The financial services industry in which we compete is a highly competitive market. In purchasing investments and obtaining
firancing, we compete with other mosigape REITs, broker dealers and invesiment hanking firms, mutual funds, banks, hedge
funds, mongage bankers, insurance companies, govemmental badies, and other entities, many of which have greater financial
resources and 2 bower cost of capital than we do. Increased competition in the market may reduce the available supply of investmenis
and may drive prices of inyestments 1o unacceptable levels which would negatively impact our ability 10 cam an accepiable amount
ofincome from these investments. Competition can also reduce the availability of bofrowing capacity al our repurchase agreement
counterparties as such capacity is not unlimited. and many of our repurchase agreement counerparties limit the amount of financing
they offer 10 the morigape REIT industey.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

As 8 REIT, we are required 1o abide by oenain requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Code™ ). To retain our REIT sistus, the REIT rules penerally requine that we invest primarily in real
estate-related assets, that our activities be passive eather than active and that we distribute annually 10 our shareholders substantially
all of our taxable income, after cenain deductions, including deductions for our tax net operating boss (“NOL™) carryforward. We
could be subject to income tax if we failed 10 satisfy those requitements. We use the calendar year for both tax and financial

repOrting purposes,

We cstimale that our NOL carmyforward was approximately $135.9 miflion as of December 31, 2012, subject 1o the
completion of our 2012 federal income tax return.  The NOL expires substantially beginning in 2020, We can utilize our NOL
carry forwand to offset our taxable carnings after taking the REIT distribution requiremsnts imto account. As a result of our public
offening of common stock in Febmary 2012, we incorred an "ownership change™ as such term is defined in Section 382 of the
Code. Based on management's analysis and expert third-party ndvice. which necessarily includes certain assumptions regarding
the characienzation under Section 382 ofouruse of capital mised by us, we determined that the owncership change under Sexction 382
hoits our ability to use our NOL camylorward to 8 masimurm amount of $13.4 million per year. This annual limitation may
effectively limt the cumulative amount of pre-ownership change losses. including certain recognized built-in losses, that we may
utilire,

There may be diflerences between tasable income and income compated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles ("GAAP™). These differences primarily arise from timing differences in the recognition of revenue and
expense for lax and GAAP purposes

Failure 1o satisfy certan Code requirements could cause us 1o lose our status as a REIT. Ifwe faiked to qualify as 8 REIT
for any Lavable year. we may be subject 1o federal income tax (including any applicable aliemative minimum tax) at regular
corporste raies and would not receive deductions for dividends paid to sharehobders. We could, however, wtilize our NOL
carryTorward 10 offset any tasable income. In addition, given Lhe size of our NOL. canryforward, we could pursuc a business plan
i the future i which we would voluntarity forepo our REIT status. I we lost or stherwise surrendered ous status as a REIT, we
could non clect REIT status again for five years. Several of our investments in securilized morigage loans have ownershiprestrictions
limitimg their ownership to REITs. Therefore, if we chosc 10 forego our RETT status, we would have 1o sell these investments. or
atherwise provide for REIT ownership of these investments. In addition, many of our repurchase agreement lenders require us ko
maintainour REIT status. 19 we lost our REIT siatus thess lenders have the right 1o terminate any repurchase agreement borrowings
Bt thal time.

.



We also have a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS"), which had an NOL carmyforward of approximately $4.2 million as of
December 31, 2012, subject 10 the completion of our 2002 federal income tax return. The TRS has limited operations, and,
accordingly, we have established a full valuation allowance for the related deferred tax assel.

Qualification as a REIT

Qualification as a REIT requires that we satisfy a vanety of 1ests relating to our incorme, assets, distributions snd ownership.
The significant tests are summarized below.

Sourves of Incevne. To continge qualifying as a REIT, we must satisly two distingt 1ests with respect 1o the sources of
our income: the *75% income test”™ and the 95% income tes1.” The 75%6 income test requires that we derive at least 75% of our
groas income (excluding gross income from prohibited transactions) from certain real estate-related sources. In order 10 satisly
the 95%; income Lest, 95% of our gross income for the taxable vear must consist of either income that qualifies under the 75%
income test or certain other types of passive income.

17 we fail to meeet either the 75% income tes1 or the 95% income test, of both, in a taxable year, we might nonetheless
continue 10 qualify as a REIT, if our failure was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect and the nature and amounts of our
items of gross income were properly disclosed 1o the Internal Revenue Service. However, in such a case we would be reguired
o pay a tax equal to 10004 of any excess non-qualifving income.

Nature ardd Diversification of Assets. At the end of each calendar quarter, we must meet multiple asset tests. Under the
V5% asset test”, at least 75% ol the value of oair total assels must represent cash or cash items {including receivables), government
securities or real estate assers. Under the “ %G asset test,” we muy not own mote than 1004 of the outstanding voting power or
value of securities of any single non-govemnmental issuer, provided such secarities do not qualify under the T5% asset test of relate
to 1asable REIT subsidiaries. Under the 5% asset test,” ownership of any stocks or securities that do not qualify under the 75%
asset test must be limited, in respect of any single non-govermmental issoer, 10 an amount not greater than 5% of the value of our
total assets (excluding ownership of any 1axable REIT subsidiaries),

If we inadveriently fnil 1o satisfy one or more of the asset tests ol the end of o calendar quarter. such failure would not
cause us (o lose our REIT siatus, provided that (i) we satisfied all of the assel tests at the close of the preceding calendar quarter
and (ir) the discrepancy between the values of our assets and the standards imposed by the assel tests either did not exist immediately
afler the acquisition of any particular asset or was not whelly or partinlly caused by such an sequisition. 1 the condition described
in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence was nof satisfied, we still could avoid disqualification by eliminating any discrepancy
within 30 days after the close of the calendar quarter in which il arose.

Ownership, In order o maintain our REIT status, we must not be deemed to be closely held and must have more than
100 sharcholders. The closely held prohibition requines that not more than 50% of the value of our outstanding shares be owned
by five or fewer persons at any time during the last half of our taxable year. The "more than 100 sharcholders” rule requines that
we have at feast 100 sharcholders for 335 days of o twelve-moath taxable year, In the event that we fatled to satisfy the ownership
requitemnents we would be subject to fines and be required (o take curative action to meet the ownership requirements in order o
maintain our REIT siatus.

EMPLOYEES

Asof December 31,2012, we have 17 employees and one corporate office in Glen Allen, Virginia. None of our employoes
are covered by any collective bargaining agreements, and we are not aware of any union organizing ectivity refating to our
employees,



Name lr\in _(;;uml Tithe Business E:E»ﬂnu -
Thomas B. Akin {60} Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer sinee February 2008; Chairman of
Chicl Exccutive Officer the Board sincc 2003; managing peneral pariner of Talkot
Capital, LLC since 1995,

Byron L. Boston {$4) President, Chief Investmen President and Director effective March 1, 2012, Chief
Officer and Director Investmemt Officee since April 2008; President of Boston
Consulting Group from November 2006 1o April 2008; Vice
Chairman and Exccutive Vice President of Sunset Financial
Resources, Inc. from January 2004 to October 2006.

Stephen ). Benedetu ¢30)  Exceutive Viee President, Exccutive Vice Presidem and Chicf Operating Offiocr since
Chief OQperating Officer and ~ November 2003; Executive Vice President and Chief
Chief Financial Officer Financial Qfficer from September 200H to November 2005

amt beginning again in February 2068,

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and its rules and regulations. The Exchange Act requires
us to file reports, prosy statements, and other information with the SEC. Copies of these reporis, proxy statements, and other
information can be read and copied ai

SEC Public Reference Room
1O F Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 201549

{nformation on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obsained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The
SEC muntains a website thal containg reports, proay statements, and other mformation regarding issuers that file ebecironically
with the SEC These materinls may be obtained elecironically by accessing the SEC's home page ot www seg goy,

Our website can be found at www dynescapital com, Our annual reports on Form 1K, our quanerly reports on Form
106 and our currem reports on Form KK, and amendments (o those reports, [iled or fumished pursuant to Section 1 3(a) or 15(d)
of the Eachange Act. arc made avarlable froe of charge through our website a5 soon o reasonably peacticable afler such matenal
15 electronically fited with or furnished 10 the SEC,

We have adopled a Code of Husiness Conduct and Ethacs (“Cosbe of Conduct™ s that apphies 1o alf of our employees, officers
andd directors, Our Code of Conduct 15 also available free of charge on our website, along with our Audit Commitiee Charter, our
Nomnating and Corporate Governance Commitiee Charter, and our Compensation Commities Charter We will post on our
website amendments 1o the Code of Conduct or waivers from its provisions, i any, which are applicable (o any of our directors
or executive officers in sccordance with SEC or NYSE requirements,

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS

Oir buxiness s subject 1o various nsks, inchsding these described below. Our business, operating results, wml financun!
conditum could be materially and sdversely affected by any of these risks. Plense note that addiional risks not presently known
to s o that we curnently deem immaterind coudd abse impair our business, opernting resudix, and fuvncial condinon,

FPage
Risks Related 10 Our Business B
Riskx Related 10 Regulmory and Legal Reguirenwnts 20

Risks Retated to Owning Our Stock b2
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Risks Related to Our Business

Qar business mode! depends on our ability to access the credit markets 1o finance our investmenrs. Onr fnabllity 1o access
Sinancing on reasonable terms conld matertally adversely affect our operations, financial condition and business which may,
It 1urn, negatively affect the market price of our stock.

We depend heavily upon the availability of adequate funding for cur investment activities, with such funding primarily
consisting of repurchase agreement financing. Our access 1o Ninancing depends upon a number of factors, over which we have
listhe or no control, including:

+  peneral market and ecobomic conditions;

+  theactual or perceived financial condition of credit market panticipants incloding banks, broker-dealers, hedge funds,
andl money-market funds, among others;

«  the impact of governmental policies and/or regulations on instilutions with respect 10 activities in the credil markets;

»  market perception of quality and liquidity of the type of assets in which we invest; and

»  market perception of our financial strengah.

Repurchase agreements are short-tenm commitments of capital, Disruprions or volatility in the credit and repuschase
agreement markets can and do periodically occur and can result in diminished financing capacity for mortgage securities. These
events can lead 10 adverse impacts on the values of mortgage securities. I a severe event were (0 occur, lenders may be unwilling
ar unshle 1o provide financing for our investments or may be willing o provide financing only at much higher rates. This may
impact our profitability by increasing our borrowing costs of by forcing us 1o sell assetz.  In an extreme case, this may also result
in our inahility o finance some o1 all of our securities which could force us Lo liquidate all or portions of our invesiment porttolio,
potentially in an adverse market environmenm.

In addition, 1t is possible that the lenders that provide us with financing could experience changes in their ability or
willingness lo provide financing, independent of our performance or the value of our assets, Such changes could occur as o result
of regulatory changes for our lenders, market conditions or their financial condition. 1 major market participants exit the financing
markets or otherwise restrict their financing to us, it would increase the competition for available repurchase agreement financing,
which could adversely altect the marketability and value of our securities and other financial assels in which we invest and could
force us 1o sell pssets potentially when asset prices are depressed. These actions would negatively impact our book value and cur
profitability.

The amount of financing we reccive under our repurchase agreements will be directly related 10 the lenders’ valuation of
the assets that secure outstanding borrowings. Typically, repurchase agreements grant the respective lender the night to reevaluate
the market value of the assets that scoure outstanding borrowings at any time. I o lender determines that the value of the assets
has decreased. it has the right to mitiate a margin call. A margin call would require us to transler additionnl assets to such lender
or to repay a portion of the outstanding borrowings. Any such margin call could have s material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition, business, liquidity and ability to make distnibutions 1o shareholders, and could cause the value of
our common stock to decline. We may be forced 1o sell assets ot signilicantly depressed prices 1o meet margim calls and (o maintain
adequale liquidity, which could cause us to incur bosses, Moreover, 1o the extend that we are forced 1o scll assets because of changes
in market conditions, other market participants may lace similar pressures, which could exacerbale a difficult market environment,
further depress market values of our asscts and result in signi ficantly grester losses on our sale of such assets, In an extreme case
of markel duress, 8 market may not exist for contain of our assets at any price,

in addition, if repurchase agreemen linancing were not available or i1 1t were not available on reasonable terms, we could
implement a strategy of reducmg our levernpe by selling asseis or not replacing MBS as they mmontizc and’or prepay, thereby
decreasing the omstanding amount of our related borrowings. Such an action would likely reduce interest income, interest expense
and net income, the extent of which would depend on the level of reduction in assets and liabilities as well as the sake prices for
which the assets were sold.



Repurchase agreements are generally uncommited shors-term financings and changes to terms of such finuncing may adversely
affect asir profitabifivy.

Repurchase ageeemients are uncommitted fisancings from lenders with an average teom of nincty days or less. Since we
rely heavily on borrowings under repurchase agneements to finance certain of our investments, our ability o achieve our investment
and profitability ebjectives depends on our ability to borrow in sufficient amounts and on favorable teems and to renew or replace
maturing barrowings on @ continious basis. 1 the wemis on which we borrow chanpe in a8 meaningful way, our profitability may
be impacted which coald reduce distributions 1o our sharcholders.

A decline in the market volue of aur assels may canse our book velue to decline and may result in morgin calls that conld force
us 1o sell assets under adverse markes conditions.

The market value of our assets is generathy deteomined by the marketplace on a spread to the Treasury and or LIBOR
swap interest rate curves and generally will move inversely (o changes in interest rates (e, as Treasury and/or LIBOR rates
icrease, the value of our investiments will deerease). Thwe movement of the Treasury and LIBOR swap curves can result from a
varicty of factoes, including but pot limited 1o factors such as Foderal Reserve policy, market inflation expectations, and iarket
perceptions of risk  In periods of high volutlity, spreads on our investments to the respective interest fate curve may' increase,
which would have the same consequence for the value of our assets as if the underlying interest rate curve had increased. As most
of v investments are considercd avaitable for sale ander GAAP and are therefore carried at fair value in our financa sttcments,
the decline in value would cause our sharcholders’ cyuity to correspondingly decline.

Because we wiilize recourse collateralized financing such as sepurchuse agreements, a decline in the market value of our
investments may limit our ability W borrow apainst these assets or result in our lenders initiating margin calls amd reqquiring a
phedge of additional collateral o cash. Posting additional collateral or cash 1o suppart our borrowings would reduce our Iiquidity
and limit our ability to leverage our assets, which could adversely affeet our business. As a result, we could be foreed to scll some
of our assets in order W maintain liguidity, Foroed sales tepically result in Jower sales prices than do market sales made in the
nonmal course of busisess. I our mvestorents were liquidated at prices below the amortized cost basis of such investimonts. we
would incur losses, which could result in a rapid deterioration of our financial condstion.

(hur inadility fo meet cortain covenants in onr reparchase agreements and derivative instraments contd adversely affect onr
Sfinancial condition, reswults of eperations and caxh flows,

(n connection with certain of our repurchise agreements iwnd derivative instruments, we ire requined 1o maintain certasn
financm) and financial covenants. The most restrictive requires that, on any date, we have (1) & smnimum of $30 million of bguadity:
{a) » einimum sharcholders” equity of $100 miblion; and (i) and a maximum deb-to-equaty mtio of 9-10-1. 1o addition, virtuslly
all of our repurchase agreements require us to maintain our statws ax 8 REMT and to be exempted from the provisions of the 1940
Act Compliance with these covenants depends on market factors and the strength of our business and operating results. Vanous
nskx, unvertamtios ond evems bevond our contrel could affect our ahility to comply with these covenants, Failure to comply with
these covenants could result in an event of default, termination of a repurchase agrecment. scockeration of all amounts owing under
the nepurchase agroement. and generally gives the counterpanty the right to excrvise certain other remedics under the repurchase
agreement., including the sale of the axset subject to repurchase ut the time of default, unless we were able to negotiate 2 waiver
i connection with sny such defsul rebated 10 failure 1o comply with o covenant. Any such waiver could be conditioned on an
amendment to the repurchase agreement snd any relmted guaranty agreement on terms that may be unfavormable to us. If we arc
unablc 1o negotiate 8 covenant waiver or replace or refinance our sxs@ts under a new repurchase facility on faverable torms or at
all. our finmncial condition. resubts of operstions and cash flows could be adversely nffected.  Further, cortain of our repurchase
agreements hive cross-defuult, cross-aceelerastion or similar provisions, such that if we were %o violate s covenant under onc
repurchase agreemnent, that vielation could lead to delults, sccelerations.or other adverse events under other repurchase agreements,
s well

We finance oar non-Agency MBS with o lmited namber of repurchase agreement lenders. A withdrawal by one or more of
thexe lewders could force ws to self our nov-Agency MBS at pesentially distressed prices witich conld impacy onr profitebiticy.
I coutd also cause other lenders to withdraw financing for our Agency MBS,



Non-Agency MBS historically have moge price volatility than Agency MBS which limits the number of lenders willing
to peovide repurchase agreement financing for these securitics. In a period of price volatitity, we may be subject to margin calls
which could adversely impact our liquidity. These margin calls could result from price volatility in the non-Agency MBS or from
higher masgin requirements by the kender in order to provide additional collateral as a result of the price volatility. In addition,
kenders may no longer offer financing of non-Agency MBS which could foree us 1o sell some or all of these investments if we
could not find replacement financing. In cither instance we may be required to sell assets which could negatively impact our
profitability. In an extreme situation, it we lost significant smounts of financing or if we received a significant amount of margin
calls on our non-Agency MBS, other lenders may also seek to reduce their financing of our Agency MBS, 1nsuch a case we would
likely have 1o scll additional investments to maintain our liquidity.

Adverse developments involving major financial lnstitutions or one of our lenders could alse result in & rapld reduction in onr
abitly o borrow and adversely affect our business and profloabifiey.

Sinoe 2008, cvents in the financial markets relating o major financial institutions have raised concerns that 8 maserial
adverse development involving o of mone masjor financial instittions could result in our lenders reducing our sceess to funds
available under our repurchase agreements. Such a disruption could cause ear lenders 10 reduce or Werminate our aocess to future
burrowings. In such a scenario, we may be foreed to sell investments under adverse market conditions. We may also be unable
to purchase additional investments without access o addittional inancing. Either of these events could adversely affect our business
anck profitability.

If a lender to us in a repurchase transaction defoudts on its obligation to resell the underiying security back to ux ar the end of
the transaction term, ov if we default on our obligations under a repurchase agreement, we wifl incur losses.

Repurchase agreement transactions are lepally structuncd as the sale of a security 1o a lender in return for cash from the
kender. These transactions are accounted for as financing agresments beeasuse the lenders are obligated (o resell the same securities
back to us at the end of the transaction term. Because the cash we reacive from the lender when we initially sell the securitics to
the lender is less than the value of those sccaritics, if the lender defaubts on its obligation fo resell the same securitics back to us,
we would incur a boss on the transaction equal to the difference between the value of the scourities sold and the amount borrowed
from the kender, The lender may defuult on its obligation to resell if it experiences financial difficulty or if the lender has re-
hypothecated the secunity wo another party who fails to transfir the security W the lender, Additionally, if we default on one of our
obligations under a repurchase agrecment, the lender can terminate the transaction, scll the underlying collateral and cease envtening
mto any other repurchase transactions with us. Any losses we moeur on our repurchase transactions could adversely affect our
carnings and reduce our ability to pay dividends to odr sharcholders,

A decrease or lack of tiguidity in exr investmentys miay adversely affect onr business, inclading our abilily to value and scll osr
assers.

We invest in securties that are not publicly traded in liquid markets. Though Agency MBS are generally deered to be a
very liquid secunity, turbulent market conditions in the past have ot times significantly and negatively impacted the liguidity of
these axsets. This has resulted in periods of reduced pricing for Agency MBS from our repurchase sgreement lenders. In extreme
cases, financing might not be available forcertain Ageocy MBS, Generally, our lenders will value Agency MBS based on liquidation
value in peniods of significam market volanlity,

With respect to non-Agency MBS, such securities typically experience greater price volutility than Agency MBS as there
1w guaranty of payment by Fannie Mue and Freddie Mac. and they can be more difficult to valoe. In addition, third-party pricing
for non-Agency MBS may be mose subjective than for Agency MBS, As such, non-Agency MBS are typically bess liquid than
Agency MBS and are subject to a greater risk of repurchase agreement financing not being available, market value redictions,
sndor lower sdvance rates and higher costs from lenders.

Hligquictity in our investment pontfolio may make i difficult for us to sell certain investment scoumities if the need or desing
arises, In addition, if we are required to liquidate all or a portion: of our portfolio quickly, we mmy realize significantly bess than
the value m which we have previously recorded certuin of eur investment securities, As a result, our ability to vary our portfolio
in response W changes in cconomic and wther conditions may be relatively limited, which could adverscly affect our results of
operations and financin] condition,
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The adoption of the Dodd-Frank Act and futare regulations implementing thiz and sihver fegidation thet affects the morgoge
indnstry and the RMBS markers may have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations end financial condirion.

On July 21, 2010, the President signed into law major linancial services reform begistation in the foem of the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consunser Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act. The Dodd-Frank Act significamly changes the regulation
of financial institutions and the financial services industry, including the mongage industry. The Dodd-Frank Act tasks many
apencies with issuing a variety of new regulations, including rules related 10 mongage origination and servicing, securitization
and derivatives. Becawse & number of tegulations under the Dodd-Frank Act have yet 10 be proposed or adopied, it is not yet known
how these addinonal regulations will ultimately affect the borrowing environment, the investing environment for RMBS, of interest
rate swaps and other derivatives. Consequently, it is not possible for us 1o predict how additional regulation pursuant to the Dodd-
Frank Act will affect our business, and there can be no assurance that the Dodd-Frank Act will not have an adverse impact oa out
results of operations and financial condition.

In addition to the Dodd-Frank Act, the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision in 2008 published Basel HI, &
comprehensive set of reform measures 1o strengthen the regulation, supervision and risk managemen of the banking sector. In
June 2012 the U.S. lfederal banking agencies proposed tules to implement the Basel [1] capital standards and implement changes
1o the risk-weighting standards for assets held by depository institutions. These measures aim to improve the banking sector's
ability to absorb shocks anising from financinl and economic siress, whatever the source, improve risk managensent snd governance,
and strengthen banks' transparency and disclosures. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the U8, federal banking
regulators have delayed implementation of the proposad Base| 1] capital standards, and related proposed changes 1o risk-weightings
fos assets held by depository institmgions, 10 consider the significant volume of comments received on the proposed Basel 111
standards. Whibe we will not be subject 10 Basel H1, many of our lenders will be, and it is likely that Bagel 1L in some manner
will impact the cost and availability of repurchase agreement financing when adopted and implemented.

Int response 1o the financial crisis in 2008, the Federal Reserve has cased nsonetary conditions By lowering the federal funds
target rate and has actively sough? fo pat downward pressure on interest rates through the purchase of longer-term Treasury
securities and fived-rate Agency MBS. The Federal Reserve through the apen market operations of the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York ("FRBNY™) mow owns substantial amounts of Treasury securities and fixed-rate Agency MBS as a result of these
effarts. ifthe Fedrral Reserve begins tightening monetary policy or if the FRENY were o sefl these securities or even announce
that it intends o sell these secwrities, lomger<term interest rates are likely to increase dramatically whick conld megatively impact
anr reported resulis, oar operations, onr Higuidity and oxr book valur.

In response 1o the financin! crisis. undd 1n order 1o mibigate its implications for the U8, economy and linancial system. the
Federal Reserve aggressively cased manelary policy throughout 2008 by reducing the target for the federal funds mite. By December
ot 2008, the Federal Open Marke! Commitiee (“FOMC™) had reduced its target federal Tunds rate 1o a range of between 0% and
N.25%, which it still maintains as of the date of this Annup! Report on Form 14K, With the target federal funds mite at the effective
bower bound, the FOMC sought to provide additional policy monetary stimulus by expanding the holdings of longer tevm securities
m its portfolio. including large-scale purchases of Treasury securitics and fixed-rate Agency RMBS (which the market has referred
Lo &s quantitalive easing, or "QE"). The purchases were imended to lower longer-term interest mies in genera! and morigage rates
n particular. and contribute to an overall casing of monctary conditions. Open market operations (i.c.. the purchase and salc of
secunlics by the Federnl Reserve) have histoncally been the pnmary means by which the Federal Reserve implements monetary
policy. Open marke! eperations are conducted by the FRBNY, in compliance with authorizations, policics, and procedures
established by the FOMC,

The Agency MBS purchase program was announced in November 2008 and has continued in some fashion since that
time. The FOMC announced in January 2013 that it will continue 1o purchase through the FRBNY Agency RMBS of $40 billion
per month ond will reinvest the proceeds from paydowns received on its existing Agency RMBS postfolio. The FOMC 15 also
purchasing $45 ballion per month m longer-term Treasury secunitics.  Taken together, the FOMC has said that it expects these
actions should maimain downward pressure on bonger-lerm inderest rales, support morigage markets, and help o make broader
financial conditions more accommeodative. The FOMC has also indicated that it will closely monitor information on economic
snd financial developments in coming months, 1f the outhook for the LS. labor market docs not improve substantially, the FOMC
has said that it will continue its purchases of Treasury amd Agency MBS, and employ its other policy tools as appropriste, unil
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such improvement is achieved in a context of price stability. In determining the size, pave. and composition of its asset purchases,
the FOMC has said that it will take appropriate account of the likely efficacy and costs of such purchases.

The actions of the Federal Reserve inthe context of modem LS. financial history is unprecedented, The potential market
volatility from the Federal Reserve’s future withdrawsl of support vig these assel purchases may be extreme. Further, the ultimate
dispesition of securities purchased by the Federal Reserve is not known and significant price volasility could occur, In such a
case, it is likely thai prices could decling which would cause 8 decline in our book value and alzo could resull in margin calls by
our lenders with respect to Agency MBS that are pledged as collateral for repurclase agreements. Ifdeclines in prices are substgntial,
this could force us ko sell assets at a loss or a1 an otherwise inopportune time in order to mect margin calls or repay lenders.

In addition, by keeping the ¢iTective targeted federal funds rate m the range of between 086 and 0.25%, the Federal Reserve
has kept short-term interest rates low which has benrefited our horrowing costs. Onee the Federal Reserve announces a higher
targeted range or if markets determine that the Federal Reserve is likely to announce a higher target range, our borrowing costs
are likely to increase which will negatively impact our results of operations and could impact our financial condition and book
value,

Finctnations in interest rates nay have wariows negative effects on us and cowld lead to reduced profitabitity and a fower book
waelue,

Fluctuations in interest rates impact us in 8 number of ways. For example, in a period of rising rates, we may experience
a decline in our profusbility from borrowing rates increasing faster than our assets reset or from our investments adjusting bess
frequently or relative 1o a different index (¢.g.. one-year LIBOR) from our borvowings {which are typically based on one-month
LIBOR). We may also experience a reduction in the market value of our Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS as a result ol higher
yield requirements for these types of securities by the market. In a period of declining interest rates, we may experience increasing
prepayments resulting in reduced profitability and retums of our capital in lower yielding investments as discussed elsewhere.
Although we cannot predict the occurrence of precise impact of future interest rate Quctuations, such fluctuations could negatively
impact our resulis of operations, and could impact our financial condition and book value,

Many of our investments are Ananced with borrowings which have shorter madurity or mierest-reset teoms than the
associated investment, fnaddition, both our Agency and non- Agency CMBS are fixed-rate, and a significant portion of our Agency
RMBS have o fixed rate of imerest for a centain period of time and then reset semi-annually or annually based on an index such
as the siv-month or one-year LIBOR or one-year CMT. These securities are financed with repurchase agreements which bear
inierest based predominamly on one-momh LIBOR, and generally have initial maturitics between 30 and 90 days. v o period of
rising rates, rales on our borrowings will typically increase Faster than vales on our assets reset, which may result in a reduction in
our net ivterest income. The seventy of any such decline would depend on our assetHability composition at the time as well as
the magnitude and period over which interest rates increase,

Additionally, increases in interest rales may wegatively affect the markel value of our securities.  In some instances
increases in shori-term rales are rapid enough that short-term rates equal or exceed medium/dong-term rates resulting in a flat or
inverted yield curve. Any fixed-rate or hybrid ARM investrents will gencerally be more negatively affected by these increases
than securities whose intevest-rate periodically adjusts. For those securities that we corry a3 estimated market value in our financip!
statemems, we are required 10 reduce our sharcholders” equity, or book value, by the amount of any decrense in the market value
of these securities. In nddition, as mentioned elsewhere in these Risk Factors, reductions in market value of our securities could
result in mangin colls from our lenders and could result in our being forced 1o sell securities at a Toss,

Interest rote caps on the ARMs coflaterelizing our investmoents may adversely affect our profitabilily if interest rafes increase.

Because the interest rales on the mortgage boans collstermlizing ARM securitics are fypically based on an inlerest rate
index such ss LIBOR, the coupons camed on ARM securities adjust over time. The level of adjustment on the interest rates on
ARM securities is limited by contract and is bused on the limitations of the underlying ARMs. Such mongage koans typically
have interim, or periodic, and lifetime interest rate caps which limit the amount by which the interest rates can adjust. Periodic
interest rate caps limit the amoum interest rates can sdiust during any given period. Lifetime interest rate caps limit the amount
interest rates can adjust from inception through matunity of a particular ioan., In o sustained period of rising interest rates of a period
inw hich interest ries rise rapidly, interest on our ARM securities could be limited due to the ARM seourities reaching their perrodic
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or lifetime imerest rate caps. We may experience price volatility as ARM securities approsch their caps. We may also expenence
a decline in our profitabdlity as the repurchase agreements which finance our ARM securities have no periodic or lifetime interest
rate caps

Qur business model depends in part on the continued viabilisy of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mae, Both Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac are currently ander conservatorship by the Federal Housing Finance dgency ("FHFA"). As conservator, the FHEA has
astwmed all the powers of the sharcholders, directors and afficers af the GSEs with the goal of prexerving anid conserving their
assets. Both Fannie Moe's and Freddie Mac's solvency is being sapported by the Treasury through their committed purchases
of Fannie Mae and Freddic Mac preferred stock. The uithmate impact an the operations of Fannie Moe and Freddie Mac from
the conservatorships and the support they receive from the U.S. povernment is not determinable and cowld affect Fannie Mac
and Freddie Moc in such o way that our business, operations and fimancial condition may be adversely affected.

In 206K, the FHFA placed Fanme Mac and Freddic Mac under feders] conservatorship, As its conservistor, the FHFA hax
broad regulitory powers over Fannic Mac and Freddic Mic and hax entered into Preferred Stock Purchose Agreements, as amwndesd,
1"PSPAS™ ) pursuant to which the Treasury ensures that Fannic Mac and Freddic Mac will separstely mamtain a positive net worth
by committing to purchuse preferred stock of Fanme Mac amd Freddse Mag,

The problems faced by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. whach sesulted in their placement into federal consenvisionship and
receipt of significant U.S, govemment support, have sparked debate among federal policy makers regarding the continued role of
the US, government in providing liguidity for monigage Joans und Agency MBS, On February 21, 2012, the FHFA released it
Strategic Plan for Enterprise Conservatonships, which set forth three gouls for the next phase of the Fannie Mac and Freddic Mo
conservatorships. These three goals are 1o () build a new infrastructure for the secondary mortgage market, (i) gradually contract
Fannwe Mac and Freddie Mac's presence in the marketplace while simplifying and shrinking their operations, and (iii) maintiin
foreclosure prevention activities and crodit svailabitity for new and refinunced mongages, On October 4, 2002, the FHFA rebeased
its white paper entitled Buibding u New Infrastructure for the Secondary Mortgage Market, which proposes a new infrastructure
for Fannic Maxs and Freddie Mac that has two basic goals. The first goal is 1o replave the curment, owdated infrastructures of Fannic
Mac and Freddic Muc with o common, more efficient infrastructure that aligns the standards and practices of the Iwe entitics,
beginning with con: fustions performed by bath entitivs such as issuance, master servicing, bond admnistration, collaterul
managenent and data integration. The second poal is to establish an operating framework for Fannic Mae amd Freddic Mac thar
is conststent with the progress of housing finance reform and encourages and acoomumeodates the increased participation of private
capital i assuming credit nsk associated with the secondary mongage market.

The FHFA recognizes that there are & number of impediments to their goals which may or may nod be surmountabbe, such
as the shsence of any significant secondary mortgage market mechanisms beyond Fannic Mae and Freddic Mac, and that its
proposals are in the formative stages. Ax a result. it is unchear if the proposals will be enacted i any form and, if enacted, how
closcly what is cnacted will resemble the ogiginal proposals from the FHFA White Paper.

With Fannic Mac's and Freddie Mac’s future under debate, the nature of thewr future guaramec obligations could be
vonsiderably limited. Any changes w the nature of their guarantee obligations vould redefine what constitutes an Agency MBS
and could have broad adverse implications for the market and our business, operations and financial condition. If Fannic Mac or
Freddic Mac are climinated, or their structuges change significamly (e.g.. limitation or removal of the guarantee obligation), we
may be unable to acquire additional Agency MBS, This would rempove a material component of our investment strategy and would
make it more difficult for us to comply with the provisions of the 1940 Act (see further discussion below reganding the 1940 Act).

Although the Treasury has commined w the solvency of Fannie Mac and Freddic Mac, there can be no assuranee that
these sctons will be adequate for their neads. I these setions are inadequate, Fannic Mac and Freddie Mac could fail to honor
their guarantoes and other obligations. I Fannic Mae and Freddic Mac were unwilling or unable to honot the guarantee of payment
on Agefey MBS, o were pereived 1o be fess Tikely 1o honor fully such guaranices, we could potentially incur substantial losses
on such sceuntics and experience extreme market price volatitity. We rely on our Agency MBS as collateral for our financings
under our repurchase agreements. Any decline in their value, or perecived market uncertainty about their value, would make it
muore difficub for us 10 obdain financiog on acceptable terms or at all, or to matntain our compliance with the terms of any financing
transachions.



Future policies that change the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the LS, government, including
those that result in their winding down, nationalization, privatization, or elimination, may create market uncenainty and have the
elfect of reducing the actual or perceived credit quality of securitics issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddiec Mac. As a
result, such policies could increase the risk of loss on investments in Agency MBS guaranteed by Fannie Mae and/or Freddie Mac.
It alse is possible that such policies could adversely impact the market for such securities and spreads at which they trade. Al of
the forepgoing could materially and adversely affect our business, operations and Minancial condition,

Global savereigi credit risk conld have o material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and liguidity.

Sovereign credit in the United States and Europe is carrently under pressure as a result of large budget deficits, fiscal
imbalances and below trend growth or negative growth. While we do not borrow directly from any sovereiga, global risk appetite
is impacted by changes in actual or pevceived credit risk of the United States, Furope and Asia. Adverse changes in sovercign
credit ratings could have a material adverse impact on financial markets and economic conditions in the Linited States and worldwide,
andt on the availability of financing as well as the price of secunities that we own. Any such adverse impact could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition and resulis of operations.

In addition, since Fannie Moe and Freddie Mac are under conservatorship of the ULS. government which is supporting
their solvency, it is unclear if any downgrade in the credit of the 2.8, government would impact its ability to maintain the solvency
of these entities. [n such a case, the ability of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac 10 perform pursuant o their guaraniees on Agency
MBS may be severely limited which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition and results of
QPETANONS.

Changes in prepayntent rates on the morigage loans snderlying onr investments may sdversely affect our profitability and the
market value of our investmients. Changes in prepayment roves also subfect us fo relnvestment risk,

Our investments subject us to prepayment risk 1o the extent that we own them a2 premiums 1o their par value. 'We use
the effective yield method of accounting for amortization of premiums which is impacted by actual and peojecied borrower
prepayments of principal on the loans (whether on a voluntary or involuniary basis) underlying our inventments. 11 we experience
aclual prepayments in excess of forecasts or increase our expectations of future prepayment activity, we will amortize premiums
on inveslments on an accelerated basis which may adversely affect our profitability.

Prepaymeents occur on both a voluniary or involuntary basis. Voluntary prepayments tend 10 increase when interest rates
arc declining o, in the case of ARMs or hybrid ARMs. based on the shape of the yield curve. CMBS in which we invest generally
ar¢ protecied in the case of voluntary prepayments either from absolwte prepaymen lock-out on the loan or compensation for
future lost interest income on the loan through yield maintenance payments or prepayment penaltics. The actual level of prepayments
will be impacied by sconomic and market conditions, including new loan underwriting requirements, Involuniary prepayments
tend 10 increase in periods of economic stress, Involuntary prepayments occur for all of our investment types. including Agency
RMBS and CMBS and non-Apgency RMBS and CMBS.

The value of our RMBS assets is affected by prepayment rates on the mortgage loans underlying the RMBS, and our
investment simtegy includes making imvestments based on our expectations regarding prepayment mates. Prepayment rates that
nre faster than anticipated may increase or decrease the value of a security. depending on the type of security and the price paid
to acquire the security, and will impact the yield on the security. Prepayment rates may be affecied by a number of factors including
the availability of mongage credit, the relative economic vitality of the area in which the related properties are located, the average
remaining life of the loans, the everage size of the remaining loans, the servicing of the mongage loans, possible changes in tax
laws, other opportunities for investment, homeowner mobility and other economic, social, geographic, demographic and legal
factors. Conscquently, such prepayment rates cannot be predicied with any certainty. In making investment decisions, we depend
on certain assumptions based upon historical trends with respect to the relationship between interest rates and prepayments under
normal market conditions. 1f regulatory changes, dislocathons in the residentinl morigage market, or other developments change
the way that prepayment trends have historically responded to interest rate changes, our ability to (1) predict or make assumptions
regarding prepayment rales. (2) assess the markel value of tlarget assets, (3) implement hedping strategics and (4) implement
techniques 1o hedge prepayment risks would be signilicantly mfTected, which could materiolly adversely affect our financial position
and resulis of operations. If we make ervoncous assumplions regarding prepayment rates, we may experience significant investment
losses,
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I we receive increased prepayments of ous principal in 2 declining or low interest rale environment, we may eamn a lower
relum on our new invesiments as compared 1o the MBS that prepay given the declining interest rate enviconment. 1f we reinvest
our capital in lower yielding investments, we will likely have lower net interest income and reduced profitability unless the coss
of financing these investments declines faster than the rae at which we may reinvest,

The Treasury and Congress continne to seek ways to sapport the U.S. bouving market and the everall U.S. economy, including
seeking woys fo moke it easier tv refinance loans owned or gueranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac where the borrower
way have negative equity. In addition, morigage loan modification programs and future legislative action may adversely affect
the velae of and the return on Agency RMBS securities in whick we invest. Since we own osr Agency RMBS of premiums to
their par bulance, we could incur substantial losses on onr Agency RMBS if mortgage loan refinancings increased.

The Treasury and the Depanment of Housing and Lirban Development {"HLUD™) have implemented the Home AfTordable
Refinance Program (or "IHARP" ), which atlows barmowers whoare current on their morigape payments Lo refinance loans ofiginated
or or before May 31, 2009, with current loan-to-vale ratios exceeding 809, in ordet to reduce their monthly morigage payments.
HARP specifically targets borrowers that are curvent on their mongage payment but who have negative equity in their home and,
as a resaly, have been unable to selinance into a lower cost morigage (given the decline in current morigage rates compared Lo pre-
May 31, 20005 HARP currently is set 10 expite oo December 31, 2013 Many of our Agency RMBS that are collateralized by
morgage loans whose coupons exceed current mortgage interest rates are owned at premiums to their par balance. HARP initially
was hot as successiul as intended, and recent changes 1o the program, panicularly with respect to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's
implementation of HARP, have led w increased pasticipation in HARP and generally increased prepayment activity on Agency
RMRBS. I refinance activity conlinues to increase for Agency RMBS of if we increase forecasted prepayments on our Agemcy
RMBS, our net interest income would be negatively impacted by the additional amortization of premium on our Agency RMBS.
in additson, we may experience significant volatility in the market value of Agency RMBS as the market resets prepayment
eapectations on Agency RMBS. Such volatliny could lead 1o margin calls from our repurchase agreement lenders and could force
us to sell these secunities under unfavoeable conditions and possibly st 8 loss.

The Treasury and HED have also created a number of different prograras intended 1o aszist borrowers that are struggling
to make their mortgage payment that may involve. among other things. the modification of mortgage loans to reduce the principal
amount of the boans (through forbearance andor forgivencess) and/or the rate of interest payable on the loans. or to extend the
payment terms of the loans. Loan modifications such as these could resull in our ullimately recesving less than we are contractually
due on certain of our imvestments. A significant number of loan modifications with respect (o a given security could negatively
impact the realised vields and cash flows on such security. These loan modification programs, liture legislative or regulatory
actions. including new morigage loan modification programs and possible amendments 1o the bankruptey laws, which result in
the modification of outstanding residential mortgage loans. as well as changes in the requirements necessary 1o qualify for
refinancing mortgage loans wilh Fannie Mac. Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae, may adversely affect the value of, and the retums on,
our securitized single-family mongage loans and Agency RMBS,

We invest in interest only (7107} derivative securities isswed by CMBS secaritization trasts which are backed principally by
multifamily mortgage loans. We conld lose some or all of onr investment in CMBS 10 securifies if the foans in the CMBS
secNTitization rusts anexpectediy prepay.

10 secunities have no principal amounts cutstanding and consist only of the right lo reccive excess inlevest payments on
the wnderiving CMBS Toans included in the securitization trust.  We could bose some or afl of our investment in our 10 securitics
if the underlying loans in the CMBS defauht and are liquidated, restructured or are otherwise repaid or refinanced prior to therr
expected repayment date. Such an event would cause our net income to decline and could also result in dectines in market prices
on our CMBS 10 securitics. thereby reducing our book value, resulting in margin calls from repurchase agreement lenders, and
adversely affecting our financial condition. In addition. loans underlying the CMBS may be protected from voluntary prepayment
through lock-out, yield maintcnance. or prepayment penalty provisions. In certain 10 securities, yicld maintenance or prepayment
penalties may not be sufficient 1o compensate us for the loss of future excess interest as a result of the prepayment thereby adversely
affecting our results of operations.



Provisions requiring yield maintenance charges, prepayment pesulties, defeasance or lock-outs in CMBS IO securities may
not be enforceable

Provisions in loan documents for mongages in CMBS [O socuritics in which we invest requiring yvicld maintenance
charpges, prepayment penaltics, defeasance or lock-out periods may not be enforceable in some states and under federa! bankrupley
law. Provisions in the loan documents requiring yickd mainicnance charges and prepayment penaltics may also be imerpreted as
constituting the colfloction of interest for usury purposes. Accordingly, we cannot be assured that the obligation of a botrower to
pay any yickd maintepance charge or prepayment penalty under a loan document in a CMBS 10 security will be enforecable. Also,
we cannot be assiercd that forcclosure procecds undee a boan documcent in a CMBS 10 secunity will be sufficient to pay an enforecable
yicld maintenance charge. I yvicld maintenance charges and prepayment penaliies are not collected, or if 2 Jock-out period is not
enforced, we may incus losses 1o write-down the value of the CMBS 10 security for the present valoe of the amounts not collected.
This would also likely cause margin calls from any lender on the CMBS 10 impacied.

We invest in commercial mortgage loans and CMBS collateralized by commercial mortgage loans which are secured by income

producing properties.  Such loans are typically made to single-asset entities, and the repaymesnt of the lown is dependent
principally on the net aperating income from performance and value of the anderiying property. The volatitity of income
performance results and property valaes may adversely affect our commercial mortpage loans and CMBS.

Our commercial mongage loans and CMBS are secured by multifamily and commercial property and are subject 1o risks
of delinguency, foreclosure, and loss. Commercial monigage loans generally have a higher principal balance and the ability of a
borrower 10 repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent upon the successful operation of the
property rather than upon the existence of independent incomic or assets of the borrower. 1f the net operating income of the property
is reduced, the borrower’s abdlity 1o repay the loan may be impaired. Net eperating income of an income-praducing property can
be affected by, among other things: tenant mix, success of tenant businesses, property management decisions, propenty location
and condition, competition from comparable types of properties, changes in laws thal increase operating expenses or limit rents
that may be charged, any need to address environmental contamination at the property, changes in national, regional or local
cconemic conditions and’or specific industry segments, declines in regional o local real estate values and declines in regional or
local rental or occupancy rates, increases in interest rates, real estate lax rates and other operating expenses, changes in povernmental
rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including environmental legislation, and acts of God, terrerism, social unress and civil
disturbances.

Commercial ond multifamily propeny values and net operating income derved from them are subject to volatility and
may be affected adversely by a number of fictors, mcluding, but not limited to, national, regional and locad economic conditions;
kocal real estate conditions; changes or continued weakness in specific industry segmenis; perceptions by prospective lenanis,
retatlers and shoppers of the safety. convenience, services and stiractveness of the propenty: the willingness and ability of the
property’s owner o previde capable management amd adequate maintenance: construction quality, age and design; demographic
factors; retroactive changes 1o building or ssmilar codes; and increases m operating expenses (such bs energy cosis),

Declines in the borrowers' net operaling income and‘or declines i propenty values of collateral securing commescnl
maortgage Joans could result in defaulis on such loans, declines in our book value from reduced eamings andior reductions 1o the
markel value of the mvestment,

Credit ratings assigned vo debt secarities by the credit rating agenvics may not accarately refiect the risks associared with those
securities. Changes in credit ratings for secarifies we own or for simvilor securities might negatively impact the market value
of these secarities.

Rating agencies rate secunities based upon their assexsment of the safety of the receipt of principal and interest payments
on the securities. Rating agencies do not consider the risks of Nuctuations in fair vialue or other factors that may influence the value
of socuritics and, therefore, the assipned credil muing may not fully reflect the true nisks of an invesiment in securibies. Also, mting
agencies may fail to make timely adjusiments 1o credit ratings based on svailable data or changes 1n economix outlook or may
atherwize fail o make changes in credit mtings in response 1o subsequent evenls, 50 our investments may be better or worse than
the ratings indicute. We atiempdt 1o reduce the impact of the risk that o credil rating may not sccurmely reflect the risks associated
with a panticular debi security by not relying solely on credit ratings as the indicator of the quality of an investment, We make our
mogqubsition decisions after factoring in other information tha we have obtained sbout the loans undertying the secority and the
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credit subordination structure of the security. Despite these effors, our assessment of the quality of an investment may also prove
10 be inaccurate and we may incur credit bosses in excess of pur mitial expectations.

Credit rating agencies may change their methods of evaluating credit risk and determining ratings on securities backed
by real estate boans and secunties. These changes may occur quickly and often. The market's ability to understand and absorb
these changes, and the impact 1o the securnitizaton market in general, are difficult 10 predict. Such changes may have a negative
mpact on the value of securities that we own.

Qur ownersbip of securitized mortgage loans subjects xs fo credit risk and, although we provide for an allowence for loan
fosses on these foans es required ander GAAP, the loxs reserves are based on estimates, As a ressls, actuaf Iosses Incurred may
Be larger than our reserves, requiring us to provide addisional reserves, which woald impact our financial position and results
of operations.

We are subject to credit rizk as a result of our ownership of securitized mostgage boans. Credit risk is the risk of loss 1o
us from the failure by a bomrower (or the proceeds from the liquidation of the underlying collateral} 1o fully repay the principal
balance and interest due on s monigage boan. A borrower’s ability to repay the loan and the value of the underlying collateral could
be neganvely impacted by economic and market conditions. These conditions could be global, national, regional or local i nature.

We peovide reserves [or Tosses on securitized mongage loans based on the current performance of the respective pool ot
on an individual loan basis. 1 losses are expenenced more rapidly due 10 declining property performance, market conditions or
other faciors, than we have provided for in our reserves, we may be required 1o provide additional reserves for these losses.  In
addition, our allowance for loan losses is based on estimates and to the extent that proceeds from the liquidation of the underlying
collateral are l2ss than our estimates, we will recoed a redoction in our profitability for that period squal to the shorntfall,

Oier efforts to manage credir risk may wot be saccessfil in miting delinguencies and defawles in underlylng foons or lusses on
our investments. If we experience higher than anticipoted definguencies and defawlys, our earnings, onr book value and onr
caxh flow may be negatively impacted.

There arc many aspects of credut performance for our invesiments that we cannot control. Third panty servicers provide
tow the primary and specia! servicing of our single-family and commercial morgage loans and non-Agency securities and CMBS.
In that capacily these service providers control all aspects of Joan collection, loss mitigation, default management and ultimate
resolution of a defauhied loan, We have a nsk management function which oversees the performance of these servicers and provides
limited assel management services. Loan servicing companies may not cooperale with our risk management efforts, or such efforts
may be ineffective. We have no contractual nghts with respect 10 these servicers and our risk management operations may nod be
sucoessiul in limiting future delinquencies, defaults. and bosses,

The securitizations in which we have invested may nod receive funds that we believe are due from mortgage insurance
companices anvd other counterpartics. Service providers (o securitizations, such as trustees, bond insurance providers, guarantors
ond custodinns. may not perform in a manner thal promodes our interests or may default on their obligation 1o the secunitization
trust. The value of the properties collmemnlizing the boans may decline causing higher losses than anticipated on the liguidation
of the property. The frequency of defaull and the loss severity on loans that do default may be greater thun we anticipated, 1f
loans become “real esiate owned” ("REQ™), servicing companics will have 1o manage these properties and may not be able to sell
them. Changes in consumer behavior, bankrupicy laws, tas laws, and other Iows may exacerhate koan losses. In some states and
circumstances, the securittzations in which we invest have recourse. 2s the owner of the boan, against the bosrower’s other assets
and income in the event of loan defaull; however. in most cases, the value of the underiying property will be the sole source of
funds for any recoverics,

Grarantors may fail to perform on their obligations to pur secnritization trusts, whick conld resnit in additional losses (o ws.
In certain instances we have pusranty of payment on commercial and single-family mongage loans pledged to
securitization trusts (sec lem 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk™). These guarantors have repoeied

substantial Josses since 2007, eroding their respective capital bases and potentially adversely impacting their ability to make
payments where requited.  Generally the guarantors will only make pavment in the event of the default and fiquidation of the
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collareral supporting the boan. 1T these guarantors fail to make payment, we may experience losses on the loans that we otherwise
would not have experienced.

We may be subject to the risks associated with inadeguate or sntimely services from thivd-party service providers, whick may
harm our resolis of operations. He alse rely on corporate trustees 1o act on bebalf of us and other holders of secarities in
enforcing our rights.

Qur Ioans and loans underlying noni-Agency MBS we own are serviced by third-pany service providers, Should a servicer
expenience financial difficulties, it may not be able w perform these obligations. Due 1o application of provisions of bankrupicy
law, servivers who have sought bankruptcy protection may not be required 10 make advance payvments (o us of amounds due from
loan borrowers, Even il a servicer were able 10 advance asmouns in respect of delinguem loans, its obligation 10 make the advances
may be limited 10 the extent that is does not expeet 1o recover the advances due 1o the deteriorating credit of the delinguent loans.
In addition, as with any external service provider, we are subject to the risks associated with inadequate or untimely services for
other reasons. Servicers may not advance funds 10 us that would ordinarily be due because of ermors, miscalculations, or other
reasons. Many borrowers require notices and reminders to keep their loans current and to peevent delinquencies and foreclosures,
which our servicers may fail to provide. In the current economic environment, many servicers are experiencing higher volumes
of delinguent loans than they have in the past and, as a result, there is 2 risk that their operationsl infrastructures cannot properly
process this increased voluree. A substantial increase in our delinguency rate resulting feom improper servicing or loan performance
in general may result in credil losses.

We also rely on corporate irusiees 10 act on behalf of us and other holders of securitics in enforcing our rights, Under the
Lerms of most securities we hald we do not have the right 10 directly enforee remmedies against the issuer of the security, but instead
must rely oa a trustee 10 act on behall of us and other security holders. Should a trusiee 801 be required 1o 1ake action under the
werms of the securities, or fail to take action, we could experience losses.

Qur use of hedging strategies to mitigate our interest rate exposure may not be effective, may adversely affect oar income, may
expase s fo counterpurty risks, and may increase our contingent Habilities.

We may pursuc varous types of hedging sirategies, including inferest rale swap agreements, inlerest rate caps and other
devivative transactions (collectively, “hedging instruments™).  We expect hedging to assist us in mitigating and reducing our
exposure to higher interest expenses, and 1o a lesser extent, losses in book value, from adverse changes in interest rates. Our
hedging activity will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates, the type of assels in our investmenl portfolio
and fHinancing sources used. No hedging strategy, however, can completcly insulate us from the interest rale risks to which we are
exposed, and there is na assurance that the implementation of any hedging strategy will have the desired impact on our results of
operations or financial condition. Certain of the U 5. federal income tax requirernents that we must satisly in order to qualify as
8 REIT, and certain Commodity Futures Trading Commission rules, regulations and guidance we must satisfy in order not to be
requived to regisier as a commodity poo! operator, may limit our ability 1o hedge against such risks, In addition, these hedging
strategics may adversely affect us because hedging activities involve an expense that we will incur regardiess of the effectivencss
of the hedging activity.

Interest rate hedging may fail 8o protect or could adversely affect us because. among other things:

interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of nising and volatile interest mtes;

available interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk from which we seek protection:

the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related Gability;

the amount of income that 8 REIT may eam from hedging transactions (other than through taxable REIT subsidiaries)

1o offset interest rate losses may be Hmited by ULS. federul income tax provisions governing REITs;

*  the credit quality of the panty owing moncy on the hedge may be downgraded 1o such an extent that it impairs our
ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging ransaction;

*  the party owing mongy in the hedging transaction may defaull on its obligation to pay;

*  the value of derivatives used for hedging may be adjusted from time 1o time in accordance with GAAP 1o reflect

changes in fair value, and downward adjustments, or “mark-to-market losses,” would reduce our sharcholders” equity

and book value; and
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*  hedge accounting under GAAP is extremely comples and any inefTectiveness of our hedges under GAAT will impact
our saatement of operalions.

We expect 10 primarily use interest rate swap agreements 10 hedge against anticipated future increases in interest expenise
from our repurchase agreements. Should an interest rste swap apreement counterparty be unable to make requined payments
pursuam to the agreement, the hedged fiabality would cease 10 be hedged for the reraining term of the interest rate swap agreement.
In addition, we may be at rish of loss of any collateral held by s hedging counterparty 1o an inierest rale swap agreemen, should
the counterparty become insolvent or file for bankruptey. Our hedging transactions, which are intended (o limit losses, may actually
adversely affect our eamings, which could reduce our ability to pay dividends to our sharcholders.

Hedging mstruments involve risk since they often are not traded on regulaied exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange ot
its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental awthorities. Consequently, there may be no requitements with
respect 1o record keeping, financial responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the enforceability
of hedging instruments may depend on compliance with applicable statwory, commodity and other regulatory requirements and,
depending on the identity of the counterpanty, applicable international requirements. The business failure of a hedging counterpany
with whom we enter inio a hedging transaction will most likely result in s default. Defanlt by a party with whom we enter into
a hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealived profits and force us to cover our commitments, if any, al the then curvent
market price. Although generally we will seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may nol always be possible
1o dispose of of close out 2 hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterpany, and we may not be able 1o enter into
an olfsetting contract in ofder 10 cover our nisk. 1 cenain circumstances a liquid secondary market may not exist Tor bedging
instrutnents purchased of sold, and we may be required (o maintain a position until exercise or expiration, which could result in
losses.

Hedging instruments could also require us to fund cash payments in certain circumstances {such as the early termination
of s hedging instrument caused by an evens uf default or othet voluntary or involuntary lermination event of the decision by 2
hedging counterparty to request the posting of vollateral it is contractually owed under the terms of the hedging instrument). With
respect 1o the termination of an existing interest rate swap agreement, the amount due would generally be equal to the unrealivzed
loss of the open interest rate swap agreement position with the hedging counterparty and coutd also include other fres and charges.
These economic losses would be reflected in our results of operations. and our sbilily to fund these obligations will depend on the
Niquidity of our ssseis and access 1o capital 31 the time. Any losses we incur on our hedging instruments could adversely affect
our carmings and reduce our obility to pay dividends to our sharchobders.

We may change our investment strategy, operating poficies, dividend policy and‘or asset atfocations withont shareholder consent.

We may change our investment stregy. operating policies. dividend policy andior asset allocation with respect to
mvestments, acquisitions, leverage, growth, operations, indebledness. capitalization and distribations at any time without the
consent of our sharcholders. A change in our investment strategy may increase our exposure 10 interest re and‘or credit risk.
default risk ond real estate market Muctuations. Furthermore, a change in our asset allocation could result in our making investments
i assel categones different from our historical investments. These changes could adversely affect our financinl condition, results
of operations. the market price of cur cammen stock or our ability 1o pay dividends to our shareholders.

Congpetition may prevent us from acguiring new investments at favorable yiclds, and we may not be able to ackieve our investment
objectives whick may polentially have a negative impact on par prafitability.

Our et income will largely depend on our ability Lo acquire monigage-related assets at favorable spreads over our
barrowing costs. The availability of mortgage-nelsted assets meeting our invesiment criteria depends upon. among other things,
the level of activity in the real estate market and the quality of and demand for securities in the montgage securitization and
secondary markets. The size and level of activity in the residential real estate lending market depends on various factors, including
snierest rales, regional and national economic conditions and real estate values. In acquiring investments, we may compets with
ather purchasers of these types of investments. including but not limiled 1o other mongage RENTs, brokev-dealers, hedge funds.
hanks. savings and loans, insurance companics. mutual funds. and other entities that purchase assets similar to ours, many of which
have greater financial resources than we do. As a result of all of these factors, we may not be able to acquire sufficient asscts at
acceplable spreads to our borrowing costs, which would adversely aflect our profitabality,
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New assets we acquire may not generase plelds as antractive as yields on our current assers, resulting in a decline b our earnings
per share over time.

In order to maintain our portfolio size and our carnings, we must reinvest the cash flows we roceive from our existing
investment portfolio including monthly principal and interest payments, and proceeds froms sales. If the assets we acquine in the
future cam lower yiclds than the assets we currently own, our reported camings per share will likely decline over time as the older
asscts pay down or are sold. The risk that nowly-acquired investments will not generate yiclds as atimctive as yickds oo our cumrent
assets has been exacerbated in recent guartess duc to the very low interest rate environment, Federal Reserve monetary policy and
open market parchases of assets, and increased competition for investment socurities.

Qur Chairman end Chief Executive Officer devotes a portion of hix ime to another company I a capacity that could create
conflicts of interest that may arm our investment opportunities; this lack of a full-time commitment conid also harm onr

aperating resilis,

Our Chairman and Chief Excoutive Officer, Thomas Akin, is the managing general panner of Talkot Capital, LLC, w
which he devotes a portion of his time. Talkat Capital invests in both private and public companics, including investments in
common and preferred stocks of other public morigage REITs. Mr. Akin's activitics with respect to Talkot Capital result in his
spending only a portion of his time and effort on managing our activitics, as be is under no contractual obtigation which mandates
that he devete 4 minimum amount of time to our company. Since he is not fully focused on us at all times, this may harm our
overall management and operating results.  In addition, though the investment strategy and activitics of Talkot Capital are not
directly related 1o us, Mr. Akin's activitics with respect 1o Talkot Capital may create conflicts. Our corporate govemance policies
include formal natification policies with respect to potential ssues of conflict of interest for competing business opportunitics.
Compliance by Mr. AKin, and all employecs, is closcly monitored by owr Chief Financial Officer snd Board of Directors.
Noncthebess, Mr. Akin's activitics with respect to Tatkot Capital couldt create conllicts of interest.

Risks Related to Regulstory and Legal Requirements

Risks Specific fo Our REIT Stat

Qnalifying as a REIT invaives kighly technival and complex provisions of the Code, and a techrical ar inadvertent vialation
conld jeopardize owr REIT qualification. Maintaining onr REIT status muy reduce our flexibility to manage eur eperations,

Qualification as s REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Code provisions for which onty limied
yudicial and wdministative anthorities exist. Even a technical or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our REIT gualification,
Our quulification as & REIT will depend on our satisfaction of centain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder
ownership und other requirements on a continuing basis. Our operstions and use of leverage abso subjects us to interpretations of
the Code, and technical or inadverient violations of the relevant requirements under the Code could cause us w0 lose our REIT
status or 1o pay significant penaltics und interest. In addition, our ability to satisfy the requirements to qualify as » REIT depends
in part on the actions of third parties over which we have no control or only limited influcnce, including in cascs where we own
an cquity inferest in an eatity that is classified a5 a pantnership for US. federsl incoms tas purposes,

Maintiining our REIT status may limit flexibility in monaging our operations, For instance;

* I we muke frequent asset sales from our REIT amtities 10 persons. deemed customers, we could be viewed as a
“deader,” and thus subject W 100% prohibited transaction taxes or other entity level taxes on income from sweh
transactions.

*  Complisnce with the REIT income and asset requirements may limst the type or extent of hedging thist we can
undertake.

* Our ability to own non-real estste related asscts s can non-real estute reluted income is limited. Our abality o
own equity interests in skher entitics 15 limited. 1 we fail to comply with these limits, we nuy be forced to ligquidate
sliractive asyets on short notice on unfavorable lerms in onder to muintain our REIT status,

*  Our sbility W invest in taxable subsidiarics s limited under the REIT rules. Maintuining compliance with this
limitation could require us to constrain the growth of fture taxable REIT affiliates.
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»  Nowwithsianding our NOL camryforward, meeting minimum REIT dividend distnbution requirements could reduce
our liquidity. Faming non-cash REIT 1axable income coubd necessitate our selling assets, incurring debt, or raising
new equity in order 1o fund dividend distributions.

+  Stock ownership tests may Timit our ability to raise sipnificant amounts of equity capital from one source.

If we do not gualify as @ REIT or foil to remain gualified as a REIT, we may be subject 1o tax as a reguler corporation and
could foce o tax lability, whick wonld reduce the amount of caxh availaile for distridution to aur shareholders.

We intend to operate in a manner that will allow us to qualify as 8 REIT for federal income 1ax purposes. Our gualification
as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of cenain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other
requirements on a continuing basis. Our ability (o satisfy the asaet tests depends upon our analysis of the characterization and fair
market values of our assels, some of which are not susceptible 10 & precise determination, and for which we will not obtain
independent appraisals. Our comphiance with the REIT income and quanesly asset requirements also depends upon our ability to
successfully manage the composition of our wncome and assels on an ongoing basis.

I we were to fail 1o qualify as a REIT in any 1axable year, we would be subject to federal income 1ax, after consideration
of our NOL. carryforward but not considering any dividends paid 1o our shareholders during the respective ax year. 1f we could
not otherwise offzet this taxable income with our NOL canryforward, the resulting corporate tax liability could be material 1o out
results and would redoce the amount of cash available for distribution 10 our shareholders, which in tum could have an adverse
impact on the value of our common stock. Einless we were entithed 10 reliel under cenain Code provisions, we also would be
disqualified from tasation as 3 REIT until the {ifth taxable vear following the vear for which we failed 1o qualify as a REIT.

Our futare use of our tax NOL carryforword bs limbted under Secrion 382 of the Code, which could result in higher raxable
income and greater distribution reguirements in order 1o maintaln our REIT stotus. Further, if we anknowingly anderge
another ownership chasge pursuant 1o Section 382, or miscalculate the limitations imposed by a knownt ownership change,
and atilize an impermixsible amount of the NOL, we may fail 1o meet the distribugion reguirements of a REIT and therefore
we coulid love aur REIT status.

We can use our lax NOL camryforward to offset our taxable camings afier taking the REIT distnibution requirements into
account. Section 382 of the Code Fimits the amount of NOL that could be used 1o offset taxable earnings afier an “ownership
change™ occurs. A Section 382 ownership change generslly occurs if one or more sharcholders who own at heast 5% of our stock.
or certain groups of sharcholders, imcrease their aggregate ownership by more than S0 percentage points over their lowest ownership
percemape within a rolling three-vear periog.

Our public offering of common stock in February 2012 resulted in an ownership change under Scction 382, Based on
management's analysis and cxpert third-party advice, which neoessanily includes certain assumprions regarding the charactenization
under Section 382 of our use of capital raised by us, wie determined that the ownership change under Section 382 will limit our
ability 10 use our NOL. camyforwand 10 offset our taxable income Lo an estimated maximum amount of $13.5 million per year.
Because NOLs generally may be camied forward for up to 20 years, this annual limitation may effectively limit the cumulative
amount of pre-ownership change bosses, including certain recognized buill-in losses. that we may utilize. This would result in
hugher taxable income and greater distribution requirements in order 1o mainkain RET qualification than if such limitation were
not in effect.

We may sncur additional ownership changes under Section 382 in the future, in which case the use of our NOL could be
further limited. Future issuances or sales of our stock (including transactions involving our stock that ars oul of our control ) could
result in an ownership change under Section 382, If further ownership changes occur. Section 382 would impose sivicier annun!
limits on the amount of pre-ownership change NOLs and other losses we could use to reduce our taxable income.

I we unknowingly undergo another ownership change under Section 382, or miscalculate the limilations imposed by a
known ownership change, the use of the NOL could be Himited more than we have determined and we may utilize (or may have
utilized) more of the NOL than we otherwise may have been allowed. fn such an instance we may be required to pay 1axes. penalties
and interest on the excess amount of NOL used, or we may be required to declare a deficiency dividend 1o our sharcholders for
the excess amount. In addition. if any impermissible use of the NOL bed to a failure to comply with the REIT distribution
requitemenms. we couhd fail to gualify as a REFT.
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The faifure of investments subject to repurchase agreements to quallfy as real extate assers coald adversely affect our ability
1o guallfy as a REIT,

Repurchase agreement financing arrangements are structured legally as a sale and repurchase whereby we sell centain of
our investmenis to a counterparty and simullancously enter into an agreement 10 repurchase these securities at a later date in
exchange for 3 purchase price. Economically, these agreemients are financings which are secured by the investments sold pursuant
thereto, We believe that we would be treated for REIT asset and income test pumposes as the owner of the securities that are the
subject of any such sake and repurchase agreement, notwithstanding that such agreements may legally transfer record ownership
of the securities 10 the counterparty during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, that the IRS could assen that we
did not own the securities during the term of the sale and repurchase agreement, in which case we could fail 1o qualify as a REIT.

Even if we remain qualified as ¢ REIT, we may face other tax linbilities thet reduce our cash flow and our profitabilisy.

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as 8 REIT, we may be subject 10 cenain federal, state and local taxes on our
income and assets, including taxes on any undistributed income, tax on income from some activities conducted as a result of
foreclosure of considered prohibited transactions under the Code, and state or local income taxes. Any of these Laxes would
decrease cash available for distnibution 1o our shareholders. In addition, in order 10 meet the REIT qualification requirements, or
10 avert the imposition of a (0% tax that applies to certain gains detived by a REIT from prohibited transactions, we may hold
some of our assets through a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS") or other subsidiary corporations that will be subject 1o corporate-
level income tax at regular rates to the extent that such TRS does not have an NOL carryforward. Any of these taxes would decrease
cash available for distribution 1o our shareholders.

If we fail to mainsain our REIT status, our ability to utilize repurchese agreements o3 a source of financing and 1o enter into
interest rate swap agrecments may be Impacted,

Most of our repurchase agreements and the agreements goveming our interest rale swaps require thal we maintain our
REIT status as a condition 10 engaging in a ransaction with us, Even though repurchase agreements generally are not committed
facilities with ous lenders, if we failed to maintain our REIT status our ability 1o enter into new repurchase agreement iransaciions
or renew existing, maturing repurchase agreements will likely be limited. Some of our repurchase agreements and swap agreements
hove cross-default provisions which provide for lenders to erminate these agreements if we defaull under any of our repurchase
sgreements of swap agreements. As such, we may be required 1o sell mvestments, potentially under adverse cimumstances, that
were previously financed with repurchase agreements and we may be forced 1o tenminate our interest rate swap agreements,

Certain of enr securitization frusts that qualify as “taxable mortgage pools”™ require ns to maintain eguity interests in the
secNriization trusts. [f we dp not, our profitebility and cosh fiow may be reduced,

Certain of our securitization trusts are considered taxable montgage pools for federal income tax purposes, These
securitization trusts arc exempt from taxes so long as we. or another REIT, own 10084 of the equity interests in the trusts. I we
fail to maintain sufficient equity intenest in these securitization trusts or if we Fail to maintain our REIT status, then the trusts may
be considered scparate taxable entities. I the trusts are considened scparate taxable cntities, they will be required (o compue
taxable income and pay tax on such income. Our profiability and cash flow will be impocted by the amount of taxes paid.
Moreover. we may be precluded from selling equity interests, including debt securities issued in connection with these trusts that
might be considered (o be equity interests for tax purposcs, 1o cortain owlside investors.

If we fail to properly condnuct our operations we cosld become swbject to regulation under the 1940 Act. Conducting our business
in a manner 5o that we are exempt from regisiration snder and compliance with the 1948 Act may redwce onr flexibitity and
conld limit onr ability to pursue certain epperiunities.

We seek to conduct our operations so as (o avoid falling under the definition of an investment company pursuant to the
1940 Act. Specifically, we seck to conduct our operations under the exemption provided under Section J(cNSXC) of the 1940
Act, » provision available 1o companies primarily engaged in the business of purchasing and otherwise acquiring mongages and
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other tiens on and interests in real estate. According to SEC no-action letters, companies relying on this exemption must ensure
that as least $5% of their agsets are morigage loans and cther qualifying asvets, and at beast 80% of their assets are real estate-
related. The 1940 Act requires that we and cach of our subsidiaries evaluate our qualification for exemption under the Act. Out
subsidianes will rely either on Section He SN or other sections that provide exemptions from registering under the 1940 Act,
including Sections MaK | KC)and (e 7). The SEC is curremly reviewing the Section 3¢ SKC) exemption as further discussed
helow. We believe that we are operating our business in accondance with the exemprion requirements of Section ML

Lindet the 1940 Acy, an investment company is required 1o regisier with the SEC and is subject 1o extensive restrictive
and potentially adverse regulations relating to, among other things, operating methods, management, capitsl siructure, dividends,
and transactions with affiliates. If we were determined 10 be an investrnent company, our ability 1o use leverage and conduct
husiness as we do today would be substantially impaired.

Inn August 2011, the SEC initioted a review of Section 3(c) SNCh of the 1940 Act and the regulations and regulatory interpretations
promuigased thereunder. We rely on Section 3(c)(SHC) as an exemption from registration and regulation under the 1940 Act
and any regulatory changes as a result of this SEC review conld require us to change onr business and aperations.

On August 31, 2011, the SEC issued a concept release relating 1o the exclusion from registration as an investiment company
provided to mongage companies by Section MeXSHC) of the 1940 Act. This release raises concemns regarding the abality of
mongage REITs 10 continue (o rely on the exclusion in the future. In panticular, the release states the SEC is concemed that cenain
types of mongage-related pools today appear to resemble in many respects investment companies such as closed-end funds and
may not be the kinds of companies that were intended 10 be excluded from regulation under the 1940 Act by Section He)SNC).

Although we believe that we are properly relying on Section JeXSHC ho exempt us from regulation under the 1940 Act
fwhich helief in large pan is based on no-action letters issued by the SEC with respect 1o operations of other mongage REIT3),
the SEC review coubd eventually affect our ability to rely on that exemption of could eventually require us 1o change our business
and operarsons in oeder for us o continue 10 rely on that exemption. I the SEC changes or narrows this exempiion, we could be
required 1o sell a substantial amount of our MBS under potentially adverse market conditions, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations. We could also be forced to materially alter our business model and
investment strategies which could matenially and adverscly affect our profitability.

The outcome of the review by the SEC ot this time is not determinable. and the SEC may take no action as a resull of its
review of the Section HcHSKC) exemnplion from the 1940 Act. 1t is also possible that the SEC issues interpretative guidance for
mortgage RE[Ts as 10 how their operations must be structured in order (o avoid being considered an investment company. and
complignce with any such guidance could limit our operations and our profitabality as indicaled above. Finally, it is possible that
the SEC requires montgage REITs 10 be considered investment companics and o register under the 1940 Act which would severely
timit our operations and profitability and likely have a material adverse elfect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Qther Reguintory Risks

In the event of bankrapicy cither by ourselves or one or more of onr third party lenders, under the U.S. Bankrapicy Code,
assets pledged as collaveral under repurchase agreements may not be recaverable by ns. We may incur losses equal to the
excess of the colfaveral pledged over the amount of the associated repurchase agreement bereowing.

In the event that one of our lenders under & repurchase agreement files for bankruptcy, it may be dilficult for us 10 recover
our assels pledged as collateral (o such fender In addition, if we ever [ile for bankrupicy, lenders under our repurchase agreements
may be able 10 svoid the automatic stay provisions of the U.S. Bankrupicy Code and take possession of and liquidate our collateral
under our repurchase agreements without delay. In the event of o bankrupicy by one of our lenders, or us, we ay incur bosses In
amounts equal 1o the excess of our collateral pledged over the amount of repurchase agreement borrowing duce 1o the kender.

If we fail to abide by certain Commodity Futwres Trading Commission (“CFTC”) rules and regulations, we may be subject
enforcement action by the CFTC.

On December 7, 2012, the CETCs Division of Swap Dealer and Intermediary Oversight (the “Division™} issued no-
sction velicl from commodity pool operator (“CPO™) registration to mortgage REITs that use CFTC.regulated products
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{“commodity interesis”) and that satisfy centain enumeraied criteria,  Pursuam o such no-action letter, the Division will not
recommend that the CFTC 1ake enforcement action againgt a monigage REIT if its operator fails 1o register as a CRO, provided
that the mortgage REIT (i) submits a claim 10 take advantage of the reliel and (ii) the monigage REIT: (a} limits the initial margin
and premiums required 1o establish its commodity interest positions 1o no greater than 5 percent of the fair market value of the
mongage REIT's total asgets; (b) limits the net income derived annually from its commeodity interest positions, excluding the
income from commodity interest positions that are “qualifying hedging transactions.” 1o bess than 5 percent of its anmual groas
income; (€) does not market interests in the mortgage REIT 1o the public as interests in a commodity pool or otherwise in a vehicle
for trading in the commodity fulures, commaodity oplions or swaps markets; and (d) cither: (A) identified itsell as a “monigage
REIT™ in hiem G ofits last ULS, income tax retum on Form 1 120-REIT; oe (B) if it hag not yet liled its first US. income tax return
on Form H120-REIT, it discloses 1o its sharchobders that it intends 1o ideniify itself as a “mongage REIT in its first U.S. income
tax retumn on Form H20-REIT.

We submitted our claim to the Division on December 19, 2012 and intend 1o satisfy the criteria set fonh above. If we do
not satisfy the criteria set forth sbove, we may become subject (0 CFTC regulation or enforcemsent aclion, the consequences of
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of eperations.

Estimates are inherent In the process of applying GAAF, and management may not always be able to make esthnates which
accurately reflect actwal results, which may lead to adverse changes in our reported GAAP results,

Inserest income on our asscts and inkerest expense on our liabilities is panially based on estimates of future events. These
estimates can change in a manner that negatively impacts our resulis or can demonstrate, in retrospect, that revenue recognition
i prior periods was 100 high or oo low. For example, we use the effective yield method ol accounting for many of our investmenis
which involves calculating projecied cash flows for each of our assets. Calculating projected cash flows involves making
assumplions about the amount and timing of credit losses, loan prepayment raies, and other factors. The yield we recognize for
GAAP purposes generally equals the discount rate that produces a net present value for actual and projecied cash Nlows that equals
aur GAAP basis in that asset. We update the yield recognized on these assets based on actual performance and as we change our
estimates of future cash flows. The assumptions that underlic our projecied cash flows and effective yield analysis may prove to
be cverly optimistic, or conversely, overly conservative. In these cases. our GAAP yield on the asset or cost of the bability may
change, leading to changes in our reported GAAP results,

Risks Related to Owning Our Stock

The stock ownership limit imposed by the Code for REITx and owr Articles of Incorporation may restrict onr business
combination appertunities. The stock ownership limitation may alse resalt in reduced liguidily in onr stock and may resalt in
{oxses to an acgniring sharcholder.

To qualify as a REIT under the Code, not more than $0% in value of our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or
indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include cenain entities) at any time during the last half of each
taxable year after our first year in which we qualify as a REIT. Our Articles of Incorporation, with certain exceplions, authorize
our Board of Direclors to take the actions that are necessary and desirable to qualify as a REIT. Pursuant 10 our Articles of
Incorporation, no person may beneficially or constructively own more than 9.8% of our capital stock (including our common stock
and Series A Preferred Stock). Our Board of Directors may grant an exemption from this 9.8% stock ownership limitation, in its
sole discretion. subject 1o such conditions, represemiations and underiakings as it may determine are reasonably necessary.

The ownership limits imposed by the 1ax law are based upon direct or indirect ownership by “individuals,” but only during
the last half of & tax year. The ownership limits comained in our Anticles of Incorporation apply to the ownership at any time by
any “person.” which includes entitics, and are intended 10 assist us in complying with the tax law requirements and to minimize
sdministrative burdens, However, these ownership limits might also delay o prevent i transaction or a change i our control that
migh involve a premium price for our stock or otherwise be in the best inderest of our sharcholders.

Whether we would waive the ownership limitation for any other sharcholder will be determined by our Board of Directors
on a case by case basis. Our Articles of Incewporation’s constructive ownership rules are complex and may cause the outstanding
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stock owmned by a group of related individuals or entities 10 be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual or entity. As
a result, the acquisition of less than these peroentages of the outstanding stock by an individual or entity could cause that individual
or enlity 1o own constructively in excess of these percemages of the cutstanding stock and thus be subject 1o the ownership limit
The Board of Directors has the right 1o refisse 1o transfer any shares of our capital stock in a transaction that would result in
ownership in excess of the ownership limit. In addition, we have the right 1o redeem shares of our capital stock hebd in excess of
the ownership limit.

The stock ownership Bmit imposed by the Code for REIT: and onr Articles of Incorporation may mpeir the ability of holders
1o convert shares of var Series A Preferved Stock into shares of sur common stock upon a change of control,

The terms of our Series A Preferred Stock provide that, upon occurrence of a change of comeol (as defined in the Anicles
of Incorporation), each holdet of Series A Preferred Stock will have the right {unless, prior to the Change of Control Conversion
Date (as defined herein), we provide notice of our election to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock) (o convent all or pan of the
Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares of our common
stoch per share of Series A preferred Stock based on a formula set forth in our Anicles of Incorporation. However, the stock
ownership restrictions in our Articles of Incorporation also restrict ownership of shares of our Series A Preferred Stock. As a result,
no holder of Series A Prelerred Stock will be entitled o convert such siock into our comman stock to the extent that receipt of our
common stock would cause the holder 10 exceed the ownership limitations contaibed in our Articles of Incorporation, endanger
the tax staius of one or more REMICs in which we have or plan to have an interest, or result in the imposition of a direct or indirect
penally tax on us. These provisions may limit the ability of a holder of Series A Preferred Stock 1o convert shares of Series A
Preferred Stock inte our common stack upon a change of control, which could adversely affect the market price of shares of cur
Series A Preferred Stock.

Dividends payabde by REITs do not gualify for the reduced tax rates availeble for some dividends,

The masimum tax rate applicable 10 income from “qualified dividends™ payable 10 domestic sharcholders that are
individuasls, trusts and estates may be either! 5% or 2%, depending on whether the taxpayer’s income exceeds the threshold for
the newly enacted 39.6% income tax bracket. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for the reduced
rates. Although this legislation does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or divsdends payablke by REITs, the moee favomble
rates applicable to regular corporate qualificd dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive
myesiments 11 R¥EITs to be relatively bess atiractive than imvestments in the stocks of non-RETT corporations that pay dividends.
which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, mcluding our common stock.

Recognition of excess inclusion income by s conld have adverse consequences fo us or our shareholders.,

Certain of our secaritics have historically penerated eacess inclusion income and may continue (o do so in the future,
Cenain categonics of shareholders, such s foreign sharcholders eligible for treaty or other benefits, sharcholders with NOLs, and
certain tas-cxemp shareholders that are subject 1o unrelated business income tax, could be subject 10 increased taxes on a partion
of their divadend income from us that is atiributable to excess inclusion imcome. In addition, 10 the extent that our stock is owned
by Lax-exempt “*disqualificd organizations.” such as certain government-related entitics and charitable remainder trusts that are
not subgect 1o tax on unrelated business income. we may incur a corporate kevel tax on a portion of cur income. In that case, we
may reduce the amount of cur distributions to any disqualified organization whose stock ownership gave risc (o the tax.

Item 1B, UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are ne unresolyed comments from the SEC Stall,

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

We lease one faclity located at 4991 Lake Brook Dnve, Suite 100, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060 under two separate leases
which provides a total of 9280 squure feet of office space for our executive officers and sdministrative staff, The term of the first
kewse for 7,068 square feet expires in March 2014, but may be renewed at our option for one additional five-year period o1 2 rental
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rate 3% greater than the sate in effect during the preceding 12-month period. The term of the second leage for 2,212 square foet
expires in Janusry 2017 and is not subject 10 2 renewal option. We believe that our property is maintained in good operating
condition and ig suitable and adequate for our purposes.

ITTEM 3. LEGALPROCEEDINGS

The Company records accrusls for cortain ouistanding logal prooccedings, investigations or claims when it is probable
that a lisbility will be incurred and the amount of the loss can be rcasonably estimated. The Company evalusics, on a quanierly
basis, developments in begal proccedings, investigations and claims that could affeet the amount of any accrual, as well as any
developments that woubd make a loss contingency both probable and reasonsbly estimable, When a loss contingency is not both
probable and reasonably cstimable, the Company docs nat accrue the loss. However, if the loss (or an additional loss in excess of
the sccrual) is at beast a reasonable possibility and material, then the Company discloses a reasonable cstimate of the possible loss
or range of loss, if such reasonable estimate can be made. I the Company cannot make a seasonable estimate of the possible
matcrial loss, or range of loss, then that fact is disclosed.

The Company and its subsidiaries ane parties to various legal prococdings. inchasding thosc as described befow. Although
the ultimate outcome of these legal proceedings cannot be ascertained at this time, and the results of legal proceedings cannat be
predicted with certainty, the Company believes, based on current knowledge, that the resolution of any of these proceedings will
not have a material adverse effoct on the Company's consolidated financial condition or liquidity. However, the resolution of any
of the proccedings described below could have a material impact on consolidated results of operations or cash flows in a given
future reporting period as the proccedings are resolved.

One of the Company’s subsidiarics, GLS Capital, Inc. "*"GLS"}, and the County of Allegheny, Pennsylvania ("Allegheny
County™) arc defendants in a class action lawsuit filed in 1997 in the Coun of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania
{the “Court™). Between 1995 and 1997, GLS purchased from Alkegheny County delinguent property tax lien reccivables for
progeertics located in the county. The plaintiffs in this maticr alleged that GLS improperly recovered or sought recovery for ecrtain
fees, costs, interest, and attomeyd” fees and expenses in connection with GLS colbection of the property tax lien reccivables. The
Court granted class action status and defined the class to include only owners of real cstate in Allegheny County who paid an
stiorneys’ Foe between 1996 and 2003 in connection with the lorced collection of delinquent propenty tax receivables by GLS
{generally through the inisistion ol a foreclosure action]. Amendments 1o the statute that governs the collection of delinguent tax
lien recervables in Penoxylvama, related case law, and GLS' filing of one or more suwecessful motions for summary judgment
resulted in the dismissal of centain claims against GLS and asrrowed the issues being litigated 1o whether sttomeys' fees and related
expenses charged by GLS in connection with the collection of the reocivables were reasonable. Such attomeys” lees and lien costs
were assessed by GLS in its collection efforts pursuam (o the prevailing Allegheny County ondinance. On Apnit 23, 2012, as &
result of 8 petition to discontmue filed by the plaintiffs, tw Court dismitssed the remaining cloims sgainsty GLS.  Plaintifls
subsequently appealed the dismissal to the Pennsylvanis Commonwealth Count of Appeals. The claims made by plaintilts on
appeal include only the legality of charging and recovening sttomeys” fees snd tax Lien revival and assignment costs from the class
members, Plaintifls have not cnumerated their damages in this matter,

The Company. GLS, and Allegheny County are named defendants in o pulative class action lawsun fited in June 2012 in
the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, The lawsuit relates 10 the activities of GLS in Allegheny County
refated 10 the purchase and collection of delinguent property tn lien receivables discussed sbove, The purporied class in this
setion consists of owners of real estate in Allegheny County whose property is or has been subject 1o a tas len filed by Allegheny
County that Allegheny County cither retained or sold 1o GLS and who were billed by Allegheny County or GLS for attomeys’
fees. interest, and certain other fees and who sustained economic demages on and afler August 14, 2003, The putative class
sliegations are that Alkegheny County, GLS, and the Company violated the class’s constiustional due process rights in connection
with delinquent tax collection effonts. There are also allegations that amounts recovered from the class by GLS and / or Allegheny
County wre an unconstilutional taking of private property. The claims against the Company are solely based upon its ownership
of GLS, The complaint requests that the Coun order GLS 10 acooum for amounts alleged 1o have been collecied in violstion of
the putative ¢lass members’ nights and create a constructive rust For the return of such amounts o members of the purposted class,
The some class previously fiked substantially the some lawsun in 2004 against GLS and Allegheny County (ACORN ~. County
of Allegheny and GL.S Capital, Inc. ), and G1.5's Motion for Summary Judgment is pending in that action. The Company believes
the claims are without merit and intends to defend agamst them vigorously in this matter,
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The Company and DCI Commercial, Tnc. (*"TXC1"), & former affiliaste of the Company and formerly known ag Dynex
Commercial, Inc., are appelices (or mespondends) in the mater of Bagic Capital Management, Inc. et 8l {collectively, “BCM™ or
the “Plaintuilis”) versus DCT et al. currendly pending in state court in Dallas, Texas. The matter was initially filed in the state coun
in Datlas County, Texas in Apnl 1999 against DCH, and in March 2000, BCM amended the complaint and added the Company as
a defeadamt. Following a trial count decision in favor of both the Company and DCI, Plaintiffs appealed, seeking reversal of the
trial court's judgment and rendition of judgment against the Company {or alleged breach of loan agresments for tenant impeovements
in the amount of $0.3 million. Plaintiffs also sought reversal of the trial coun's judgment and rendition of judgment against DCI
in favor of BOM under two mutually exclusive damage models, for $2.2 million and $25.6 million, respectively, related to the
alleged beeach by DCI of 8 $160 million “master” loan commitment. Plaimifls also sought reversal and rendition of a judgment
ity their favor for attomeys’ fees in the amount of $2_1 million. Allematively, Plaintiffs sought a new trial. On Febeuary 13, 2013,
the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals in Dallas, Texas (the “Filth Circuit™) rubed on Plaintill's appeal, affirming the previous decision
of no liability with respect io the Company, and reversing the previous decision of no liability with respect 10 DCI relating 0 the
S160 rillion “master” loan commitment. The Fifth Circuil ordered a new trial 10 determine the amount of attorneys’ fees and
prejudgment and post-judgment interest due 1o Plaimifls and reinstated the $25.6 million damage award against DCI The Fifth
Circuit's decigion appears to permit PlaimtifYs 1o recover the costs of their appeal from both the Company and DCIL. The Company
and DCI currently intend 10 tile a motion for rehearing with the Fiflth Circuit on the issue of the costs. As part of the moticn for
rehearing, DCI may also challenge the 525.6 million damage award and the decision regarding attomeys' fees. Management
believes the Company will not be obligated for any amounts that may ultimately be awarded against DCL.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSLRES

Nooc.
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FARTIL

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRART'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our commeon stock is traded on the New York Stock Fxchange under the trading symbol “DX™. The commeon stock was
held by appwoximately 25728 holders of record as of February 28, 3013, On that date, the closing price of our common stock on
the New York Stock Fxchange was $10.83 per share. The high and low stock prices and cash dividends declared on our common

stock for each quarter during the last two years were as follows:

Commoa Stock
Dividends
High Low Doclared
2012: -
Second quarter $10.49 $8.94
Fourth quarter  $1090 $8.66
2001
First quarter S0 8 027
Second quarter $10.14 5027
Fourth quartcr §9.65 $7.25 $0.28

Any dividends declared by the Board of Directors have generally been for the purpose of maintaining our REIT status
and maintaining compliance with dividend requirements of the Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock his a stated
quarterly dividend of $0.53 125 per share and was declared and paid i full for the last two quanters of the 2012 fiscal period, taking
into account & proportional adjustment to the third quaner 2012 dividend because the Series A Preferred was issued during the
third quarter of 2012,
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The following graph is a five vear comparisen of cumulstive odal returns for the shares ol our commeon stock, the Standard
& Poor's SO0 Stock Index ("S&P S00™3, the Bloomberg Mongage REIT Index, and the SNIL. U.S. Finance REIT Index. The table
helow assumes S100 was invested at the close of irading on December 31, 2007 in each of our common stock, the S&P 300, the
Bloomberg Morngage REIT index, and the SNL LS. Finance REIT Index and assumes reinvesiment of dividends.

lagex
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Bloomberg Mongage REIT index $ 100005 S875 5 AT 0§ 9319 S 9147 § 10830
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LLLLXE B 5364 8 6725 8 8§37 8 K201 §  9R4H

The sources of this inlermation are Bleomberg. SNL Financial, and Stasddard & Poor's. which management believes to
be reliable sourves. The historical information set forth above is not necessarily indicative of future performance. Accordingly,
we do pol make of endorse any predictions as to fulure share perlormance.

Un November 7, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors awthorised a common stock repurchase program under which
the Company may purchase up o $50 milhon of its outstanding shares of common stock through December 31, 2014, Subject to
applicable secuntics laws and the torms ol the Series A Profermed Stock designation, which is contained in our Articles of
Incorporation, future repurchases of common stoch will be made 8t limes and in amounts as the Company deems sppropriate,
provided that the repurchase price per share is bess than the Company’s estimale of the current net book value of a share of common
stoch. Repurchases may be suspended or discontinucd at any time  Tix following table provides common stock repurchases made
by or on behalf of the Company during the three months ended December 31, 2012:
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Maximum
Total Number lﬁp“"’““
of Shares ar Value of
Parchased as Shares that
Part of Poblicly May Yet Be

Total Number Anmounced Parchased
of Shares Average Price Plans or under the Plany
Purchased Pald per Share Programs or Programs
- (8 in thousands
October 1, 2012 - October 31, 2012 g
November |, 2012 - November 30, 2012
December 1, 2012 - December 31, 2012 e e LT e T
Toaal 104000 § 286 104000 §$ 49079

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sclected financial information should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statememts of the Company and notes comained in iem 8 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For the Year Eaded December 31,

(% in thanusands except per shiare data) 012 011 2010 2009 2008
Net intcrest income $78801 ' S8 % -0,
Net interest income afier provision for lmn

tosses 78,200 5B424 23,776 9 €56
Gain on sale of investments _BASL 2006 17
Fair value sdjustments, net
Othey income, net 1A "
Gieneral and sdiinigtiralive expenses (6,716} (5 63")
Net income S TSR A5
Net income to common sharcholders 13,57 IR
Net income per common share: o

Basic S 104 $ o9l

Dibuted vl & sl
invidends declared per share;

Common

Scrics A Preferred

Series D Preferred
Average interest caming assets ' A1 A2B3440 " 3012, “T40540...
Average interest bearing liahilities (3 069 348) (2.002,931) (&ss 9201 (ﬁ!?,ﬂlﬁl
Average cffective yickd camed oo assets™ 1 N 481 529%
Average effective rate on liabilites'’ (r. :9;% u mm (2.061%
Net iterest spread 4 % 3.17 !i . 33N
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11 Average hatances are calculaicd as o yimpde average of e datly balances and exclude snreatized gatrey and fovses on
available-for-sele securitivs. Average balunces afvo exclude funds keld by trustees except proceeds from defeased Toans
hrrld by trusiees

12 Effective vields {rates) are basved on gunvalized income texpease) anvtewnts, Recalentation of effective vields anud rates oy
not be possible wxing dota privicked becetise certaie tincome and expense iieoes of a ove-time noture are not annualized for
the calculation of effective viotds or rates, A exampte of such a otte-time tem (s the reiraspective adfustments of discoun?
and premiion aerestization arivng from adisstments of effective inferest rutes.

As of December 31,
fermentenls it thonsands except share and per
share dore 2012 2011 2008
Investments S 4,175,062 3§ 2,500,976 s snste
Tota! assets 4,280,229 2,582,193 . 607.191
Repurchase agreements 3564128 2093793 1,234,183 638,329 M2
Nuw-recourse collateralized financing 30,504 0,595 107,105 143,081 177,187
Toual liabilities S 3663519 2210844 1357227 789309 466,782
Sharcholders' equity S mleTI 0§ 3TL349 S 292357 S 168753 & 140409
Common shares outstanding $4268915 40382530 30342897 13931512 12,169.762
Book value per common share ' 5 163 S 920 S 964 S 908 § 8.07

11y The cotcadatrw of book value per common share as of December 38, 2002, December 31, 2000, ad December 31 2008
excludes the agsresede lguidatiov vabdwe of the preferred stock owistamling oo of thase dates which was S57.5 mitlion, $42.2
mittiens, enved $42.F million, nespeetiaely

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The foltawing discission should be read i corpunciion with our financial statements and the relaied nows included in
Hem 8 Finaecial Statemets and Supplementary Data ™ i this Anmael Report on Form 1G-K. This discussion contains forward.-
looking satements that involve risks and wnceriainties. (ur octiel resilis conlid differ materially from thase anticipated in these
ferwesed-foaking skatements as o reswit of vavions faciors including, but not timited 1o, thase disclosed in ftem 14, "Risk Factars”
elsewhere i this Ameaal Beport on Form [0-K and in enher dociments filed with te SEC and otherwise publicly disclosed, Please
refer to  Forward-Looking Statements ™ contuined within this liem 7 for additional informeation

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

We belicve that the outlook for our business model is favarable given the economic backdrop, despite the uncertainty
regarding government policy and s potential effects on prepayments of our investments, the impact on our portfolio from asset
purchases by the Federal Reserve in a third round of quantitative casing, or "QE3", und the uncertainty in Europe (in particular,
uncertainty regarding the European Unien's political, seonomic and mwmetary future) wnd its potential impuct on the UK, cradit
markets. During 2012 we significantly expanded our imvestment in Agency CMBS 10 and non-Agency UMBS and UMBS 10
given the attractive risk-adjusted retum and prepayment protection profile of these investments.  With respect 1o non-Agency
CMBS sud CMBS 10, we have purchased higher quabity securitics { A-rated and AAA-rated, respectively) which will have higher
yiclds than Agency CMBS and CMBS 10, but which camry higher financing risks and costs and can exhibit more prce volatility.
W alse added longer-to-reset Agency Hybrid ARMs a5 we expect interest rates overall o remain range-bound for the foresecable
future,

During the fourth quarter of 2012, we reported net income of $1E3 million, or $0.34 per commaon share versus $18.4
millon, or $0.34 per commeon share for the thind quarter of 2012, Our net interest income inereased ta 521, 1 miltion for the fourth
quaster of 2002 comparcd 1o S19. 1 mallion for the third quarner of 2012 duc to the higher average balance of our investment portfolio
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of $4,117.5 million during the fourth quaner of 2012 versus $3,729.1 million for the thind quarter of 2012, Although our average
interest eaming assetz increased, our weighted average net interest spread declined 10 1,.93% for the fourth quarter of 2012 from
2.00¢4% Tor the thind quanier of 2012, Qur net interest spread is declining as a result of purchasing lower spread assets and also
from interest-rate resets on our Agency ARM portfolio.

The following table summanizes the average annualized yield by type of MBS investment for the fourth quaner of 2012
and for each of the preceding four quaners:

Three Moaths Ended
December 31, September 38, March 31,  December 31,
2012 202 Janc 30, 2082 2012 011

Average annuslized yields: & oo :

Agency RMBS

Agency CMBS (includes 10s) o

Non-Agency RMBS T

Non-Agency CMBS (includes 10s) £3T%

All other investments . 5.08% 531% 5.74%
Costs of fivancing R 7, (L20p
Net intercst spread 2.00% 2.56%

Although we have targeted a M%/40% allocation between Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS0ans, our Agency MBS
allocation in recent quarters has increased ontside of this range due to sitractive investment opportunities in Agency CMBS 0.
The following tsble provides our asset allocation as of December 31, 2012 and as of the end of each of the four preceding quarters:

Deccmber 31, Scptember 30, Junc 30, March 31, December 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 on

Non-Agency MBS 13.6%
Other investments 1.8%

Our sharcholders’ equity decreased to 3616.7 million as of December 31, 2012, or $10.30 per commmon share, from $617.9
mitlion, or $10.31 per common share as of September 30, 2012, The decrease in sharcholders” equity since September 30, 2012
resulted from a net decrease m accumulated other comprehensive income of 33.4 million, partially offset by our net income in
excess of dividends declared. The decrease in accumulated other compretwensive income was due 1o 8 net decrease in the fair vabue
of available for sale investments due to decreases in the fair value of Agency RMBS caused by increased prepayment concems.

As of December 31, 2012, we had an estimated net operating boss ("NOL") camyfoward of $135.9 million, As a result
of our commaon stock offering in February 2012, we underwent an “ownership change” under Section 382 of the Code ("Section
382"). In general, if @ company undergoes an ownership chonge under Section 382, the company’s ability 1o wilize an NOL
carryforwand 1o offset its tasable income (and, in our case, after taking the REIT distribution requirements into socount), becomes
limited to & centain amount per year. For purposes of Section 382, an ownership change occurs if over a rolling three-year period,
the peroentage of the company stock owned by 5% or grester sharcholders has increased by more than 50 perocnlage points over
the lowest percentage of common stock owned by such sharcholders during the three-year period. Based on management's analysis
amed expert third-party advice, which necessarity includes certain assumptions segarding the characterization under Section 382 of
our use of capital raised by us, we determined that the ownership change under Section 182 will limit our ability to use our NOL
carryforward to offset our taxable income to an estimated maximum amoumnt of 513.4 million per year. The NOL carryforward
expires substantially beginning im 2020,

The following marketplace conditions and prospective trends have impacted and may continue to impact our future results
of operations and our financisl condition. For additional information about risks that may be posed by these trends, please refer
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1o Pan L ltem LA, "Risk Factoes™ and Pan I, [lem TA, *Quantiative and Qualitative Disclosuses abaut Market Risk” comained
within this Anmual Report on Form 10-K.

Fedhoraal Rexerve Monetary Poficy and the Effects oo Agency RABS and Pregenyments

In September 20112, the Federal Open Market Commitiee ("FOMC™) announced QF3 by indicating that 1t will purchase
$40 billion per month i fised-rate Agency RMHES, continue 10 reinvest principal repayments oo is existing Agency RMBS
portfolio, and exiend the average maturity of it boldings of securities. These actions are expecied 1o increase the FOMC's holdings
of longee-term securities by about $85 billion each monih.. The Federal Reserve expects these measutes to pul downward pressure
on bong-term interest rates. Whake the Federal Reserve hopes that QF3 will expedite an economic recovery, stabilise prices, reduce
unemploviment and ressant business and household spending, there is no way of knowing what impact QE3 o any future actions
by the Federal Reserve will have on the prices and ligquidity of Agency RMBS or other securities in which we invest. The Federal
Reserve indicated in January 2012 thar QE3 would continue in 2013 and until improvements in economic conditions and labor
markets are achieved.

During the fourth quaner of 2012, we received principal payments on our Agency RMBS of $214.9 million. Our average
constant prepay ment rate, or CPR_ for our Agency RMRBS during the fourth guaner of 2012 was 24.3% versus 23.4% for the third
quarter of 2002, 20.8% lor the second quarnter of 2012 and 21.4% for the first quarter of 2012, As of December 31, 2(H2, the
weighted average coupon on the morigage loans underlying our Agency RMBS was approaimaiely 4.16%, while the monthly
average Mhyear Gaed mongage rate and the S-year hybnd ARM mongage rate as of that dase, as published by Freddie Mac, were
3.66% and 2.78%,, respectively.

Generally, the lower couprms available on new mortgage loans, the actions by the Federal Reserve and the low interest
rate environment should entice boerowers 1o relinance their morigage loans at lower rates. Todsay, however, many obstacles exist
to refinancing, incleding but not Fimited o, tsghier lender underw riting standards, the lack of borrower’s equity in the underlying
real estse and the lack of an acceplable level of income, Thiese obstacies are currently contributing 1o Hmited refinancing ol loans
th our Agency RMBS ponttolio and are keeping prepayment speeds low relative to expectations and 10 historic prepayment rales
insuch a low interest rate environment. In an efon 10 increase refinancing of Agency RMBS, the US. Treasury created the Home
Aftordable Refinance Program. or HARP. which seeks to ease refinancing restrictions for high loan-lo-value borrowers. The
HARP program cases underwriting requirenients for lenders and qualification conditions for borrows to extend loans which qualify
for incluston in Agency RMBS. HARP is currently set to expire on Decernber 31, 2013,

Given the comtinued Jow inierest rate environment, the changes 10 HARP, and the commitment by the Federal Resenve
10 keep long-term interest rates low, including the Federal Reserve's actions through QF3, we continue to expect somewhat elevated
prepayment speeds on our Agency RMBS into 2003, As explained more {ully in this Arnual Repoet on Form 10K, increased
prepayments impact our net interest income by increasing the amontization expense on any mvestments we own at premiums to
their par balance and Jowers secunity vields.

Asser Speveands and Compretition for Assess

Over the past few vears, cradit markets i the United Stotes have geoerally eaperienced tighiening credit spreads (where
credit spreads are defined ax the dilference between yields on securities with credit risk and yields on benchmark LLS. Treasury
secunities). Fn panticulor, spreads on MBS have tightened over the past several quarters from increased competilion for these assets
from lack of supply, from favorable market conditions in karge part due to the Federnl Reserve's involvement in the markets (as
discussed above and below ) and from substantiol amounts of capital mised by mongage REITs and other market participants in
2012 Reductions in credit spreads will generally result in increased asset prices (assuming po corresponding increase in the
benchmark Treasury mte) which increases our book value, However. when credit specads tighten and asset prices increase, yields
on potendinl new investment opportunities will decrease. On balance, we saw declining new investment yields during 2012 from
tghier credit spreads and from declining benchmark Treasary rates. [n the first two months of 201 3, credit spreads have continued
o tighten,

Crenernmens Ffoficy Tiatiatives
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The U.S. government is actively seeking 10 support the U.S, housing market and has inroduced programs such as the
HARP program noted above. Changes in the HHARP program initkated in 201 2 represent continued efforts 1o spur refinance activity.
In addition, Senators Barbars Boxer and Robert Menendes have reiniroduced a bill in February 2013 that would sireamline
refinancing of loang currenily guaranieed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and extend the expiration date of HARP by one year.
The U.S. government has slso introduced the Home Afedable Mongage Program, or HAMP, which seeks 10 assist borrowers
through the modification of morigage loans to reduce the principal amount of the loan, the rate on the boan, of 10 extend the payment
terms of the loan, We expect that the U.S, government will continue 10 introduce and experiment with housing programs and
policies 1o agsist the recovery of the housing market. These programs could increase prepayment rates which would result in lower
yields on our Agency RMES,

Iriorest Rates

The Federal Reserve continues o maintain a very accommaodative monetary policy. The FOMC in January 2013 reiterated
ils target range for the federal funds rate (the raie at which Li.5. banks may borrow fror each other) at 0%¢-0.25%. The FOMC
continues (o emphasize that sconomic growth might not be strong enough b generate sustained improvement in labor market
conditions and that strains in global fimancial markets continue 1o pose significant downside risks 1o the economic outlook. The
FOMC also indicated that it currently anticipates that the exceptionally low range for the fiederal funds rate will be appropriaie at
keast as long as the unemployment rate remaing above 6.50%, inflation between one and two years ahead is projected 10 be no
more than a half percentage point above the 2% longer-run goal, and longer-term inflation expectations continue 1o be well anchored.
In determining how long to maintain a highly sccommodative stance of monetary policy, the FOMC indicated that it will also
congider other information, including additional measures of labor market conditions, indicators of inflation pressures and inflation
expectations, and readings on financial developments. Finally, the FOMC indicated that when it decides to begin vo remove policy
accommodation, it will take a balanced approach consistent with its longer-run goals of maximum employment and inflation of
2%.

The actions by the FOMC noted above have continued 10 keep overall interest rates low and the Treasury yield curve
relatively flat (as oveasured by the difference of 1.53% between the two year Treasury rate and the ten year Treasury rale as of
December 31, 2012 versus 1.64% a3 of December 31, 2011} Asset credit spreads also remain tight despite continued economic
uncertainty both domestically and abroad. in our judgment primarily due to the extraordinary involvement by the Federal Reserve
in the markets, While our borrowing costs are based on shori-term market mtes such »s LIBOR and the Federal Funds Target
Raie, our asset yields more closely correlate with longer4erm Treasury mates and longer-lermn swap mites. In general, a flat yicld
curve will resull in reduced net imierest spreads for new investments and will impact our ability 1o reinvest our capilal on an
accretive basis,

A negative impact of a {lattening yiel curve is the prospective reduction of our net inderest spread (and the related retum
on our invested capital) for new invesiments. Since the first quarter of 2012, we have seen declining net inlerest spreads on our
new investment purchases in pant as a resubt of the flattening yicld curve and in part as s result of reduced credit spreads discussed
further below,

Fi ing

Our busimess model requires that we have access 1o leverage, principally through the repurchase agreement market, We
access the repurchase agreement markets through relationships with broker-dealers and financial institutions. Repurchase
agreement {inancing is generally uncommitied financing and as such, there can be no guaranice that we will always have acoess
to this financing. During periods of sustained volatility in the credit markets, such as was expenienced in 2008, or other disruptions
1o the credit and financing markets, access 10 repurchase agreement financing may be limited as liquidity providers reduce their
exposure o the short-lerm funding credit markets. Repurchase agreement markets also fund many different types of sssets for
many different types of borrowers including MBS, assct-backed securities, commercial paper and government securitics. Recent
activities by the Federal Reserve, including Operation Twist, have increased the supply of these other types of assets which has
increased competition for repurchase agreement financing. Consequently, we have scen 8 modest incroas¢ in our repurchase
agreement financing costs duning most of 2012,

Regulatory Refovm
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in July 2010 the Dodd-Frank Act was enacted into taw. This legisistion aims (o restore responsibility and accountability
to the financial system. It remains unclear how this legisiation may ultimately impact the Company . credit markets and the market
for repurchase agreements or ather bosrowing facilities, the investing environment for Agency and non-Agency MBS, or interest
rate swaps and other derivatives, since the rules and regulations under the Dodd-Frank Act continue 1o be promulgated, implemented
and interpeeted by the CFTC.

On August 31, 201}, the SEC issued a concept release relating 1o the exclusion from registration as an investment company
provided 1o mortgage companies by Section MeXSHC) of the 1940 Act. This release raises concerns regarding the abality of
maortgage REITS 1o continue 1o rely on the exclusion in the future. tn panicular, the release states the SEC is concerned that certain
types of mongage-related pools oday appear 1o resemble in many respects investment companies such as closed-end funds and
may not be the kinds of companies that were inlended to be excluded from regulation under the M0 Act by Section Jc¥3KC).
The cutcome of the review by the SEC at this time is not determinable. For a discussion of the uncenainties and rigks related 10
the SEC's review, phease refer 1o "Risk Factors™ contained within Pan 1, ltem | A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

GSE Reform

On February 11, 2011, the Treasury released proposals (o limit or potentially wind down the role thar Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac play in the mongage market. Similar proposals o limit or wind down the role of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have
been proposed by a number of other parties. Any such proposals, if enacted, may have broad adverse implications for the MBS
market and our business, resulis of operations, and financial condition. We expect such proposals 1o be the subject of significant
discussion, and it is not yet possible 1o determine whether such proposals will be enacted. We do ncd believe the ultimate reform
of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will occur in 2013, However, it is possible that new types of Agency MBS could be proposed
and sold by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac that are siractured differemiy from current Agency MBS, This may have the effect of
reducing the amount of available investment opportunities for the Company. No such new siructures have as yet been proposed.
For further discussion of the uncerainties and risks related to GSE reform, please refer 1o "Risk Factors” contained within Pan |,
lem tA of this Annual Repon on Form 10-K.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Crical sccounting poliies arc defined as thase that require management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgmenis,
and which may result in materially different results under differont assumptions and conditions. The tollowing discussion provides
more infarmation an the accounting policies management believes include the most significant judgments, estimotes or
uncertmntes.

Amortization of trvestarent Preminms  We amortize premivms sad sccrele discounts assaciated with the puschase of our
IVEStment secunilics It mierest income over the pripected Ivies of our securities, including contractual payments and estimated
prepayments, usimg the eifective yield method i accordnnce with ASC Topic 310-20. Estimates and judgments related Lo future
levels ol mortgage prepavments are critical 1o thix determination, ond they are difticull for management 1o predict. Mongage
prepayment cxpectations can change hased on how changes in current and projecied interest mies impact 4 borrower's hikelihood
of relinancing as well as ather foctors, including but not limited to real estate prices. bomowers’ eredit quality, changes in the
stringency of Ioan underwtiting practices, and lending industry capacity constraints. [n addition. further modifications 1o existing
programs such s HARP. of the implementation of new programs can have a sigmificant impoct on the e of prepaynyents. Further
GSE buyouls of loans in immiment nisk of default, loans that have been modified, or loans that have defaulied will gencrally be
reflected as prepayments on our securitics and incremsce the unceniainy sround management’s estimates,

We estimate long-term prepayment rates on our investments using & third-party service and market data. The third-panty
SCTVICC CSITNASS Propayment rates using models that incorporate the forward yield curve, curment mortgage rates and charaeteristics
of the outstanding loans. such ax loan age and current ierest rales. We review the third-party service estimates and compare the
results to any available market consensus prepayment speeds.  We also consider historical prepsyment rates and current market
conditions 10 validate the reasonableness of the prepayment rates estimated by the third-panty service and. based on management's
judgment, we may make adjustments if deemed necessary. Actunl and anticipated prepayment experience is reviewed quanerly
nnd effective yields are recalculsied when difterences arise between the previously estimated future prepayments and the amounts
actually receivied plus current anticipated future prepayments.
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Oherdhan-Temporary Iupatrments. When the fair value of an available-for-sale security is less than its amontized cost
as of the reporting date, the security is considered impaired. We assess our securities for impairment on at least & quarterly basis
and determine i the impairments are cither iemporary of "other-than-temporary ™ in accordance with ASC Topic 320-10. Accounting
literature docs ot define what it considers an other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI™) 10 be: however, it does state that an
OTT! docs not mcan permanent impairment. The literature does provide some examples of factors which may be indicative of
an OTTI, such as: (a) the leagth of time and extent 1o which market value has beet less than cost: (b) the financial condition and
pear-term prospects of the issuer; and (¢) the intent and ability of the bolder 10 retain its investment in the issucr for a period of
time sufficient 1o albow for any anticipated rocovery in market value,

We assess our ability 1o hold any Agency MBS or non-Agency MBS with an unrealized loss until the recovery in i
valug. Qur ability o hold any such MBS is basod on the amount of the unrealiued loss and significance of the related investment
as well 85 our currot leverage and anticipated liquidity. Although Fanarie Mac and Froddic Mac are not explicitly backed by the
full faith and credit of the United States, given their guarantee and commitments for support reecived from the Treasury as well
as the credit quality inherent in Agency MBS, we do not typically consider any of the unrealized losses on our Agency MBS w
be credit-related. For our non-Agency MBS, we review the credil ratings of these MBS and the scasoning of the morigage boans
collateralizing these securitics ac well as the estimated future cash flows which inclisde any projected Josses in order 1o evaluate
whother we belicve any portion of the unrcalizod loss st the reporting date is related to crodit losses.

The detoemination as 1o whether an OTT1 exisis as well as its amount is subjective, as such detcrminations are basod not
only on factual information available ot the time of asscssment but also on management’s estimates of future performance and
cash fow projections. As a result, the timing and assount of any OTTI may constitute & material estimaie that i3 susceptible to
significant change. Our expectstions with respect (o our securitics in an unsealized loss position may change over time, given,
among other things, the dynamic nature of markets and other variables, For example, although we believe that the conservatorship
of Fannic Mac and Froddic Mac has furnther strengthened their croditworthiness, there can be no assurance that these actions will
be adequate for their needs. Accordingly. if these government actions are inadequate and the GSEs continue 1o sufler losses or
coase 1o exist, our view of the credit worthiness of our Agency MBS could materially change, which may affect our agsessment
of OTT] for Agency MBS in future periods, Future sakes or changes in our expeciations with respect 10 AGEnCY of non-Agency
sccurities in an unrealized loss position could result in us rocognizing other-than-emporary impairment charges o realizing losses
on sabes of MBS in the future.

Fair Value Mecsurements. As delined in ASC Topic 820, the fair value of & fivancial instrument is the cachange price
in an orderly transaction between market participamts (o scll an asset or ransfer o liability in the market in which the neporting
entity would transact for the asset or liability, that is. the principal or most advantageous market for the assct or hisbility. The
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the lisbility is a hypotheticsl irmnsaction at the messurement date, considered from the
perspective of a market panticipant that holds the asset or linbility. ASC Topic 820 provides a consistent definition of fair valuce
which focuses on exit price and prioritizes, within 8 measurement of fair value, the use of market-based inputs over entity-specific
inputs. Inaddition, ASC Topic 820 provides n framework for measuring fsir value and establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair
value measurements based upon the transparency of inputs 1o the valuation of an assct or lisbility as of the measurement date.
Please refer to Note 10 of the Noles (o the Consolidated Financisl Statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
& deseription of this hicrarchy.

The Company ‘s Agency MBS, a5 well a majority of its non-Agency MBS, are substantially similar to scourities that either
are currently actively insded or have been recently traded in their respective market. Their fair values are derived from an average
of multipe dealer quotes and thus are considered level 2 fair valuc measirements.

Less than 20% of the Company's non-Agency MBS arc compriscd of securities for which there are not substantially
similar securities that trade frequently, and thereforc, ostimates of fair valuce for those level 3 securities are based primarily on
management's judgment. The Company determines the Tair value of those sceurities by discounting the estimated future cash
flows derived from cash flow models using assumptions that are confirmed (o the cxtent possibie by third party dealers or other
pricing indicators. Significant inpuls into those pricing models are kevel 3 in natare due to the bnck of readily avaitable market
quotes. Information utitized in those pricing models inclode the seourity's credit rating, coupon rate, estimated prepayrmient speeds,
expecied weighted average life, collsteral composition, estimated fulure intcvest rates, expected credit losses, and credit
cnhancement as well as cortain other relevant information. Generally, level 3 assets arc most seasitive 10 the defiult rate and
severity assumptions.  Sipnificam changes in any of these inputs in isodstion would resull i a significantly different fair vabuc
measurement, and accordingly, there is no assunance that our estimates of fair value are indicative of the amounts that would be
realized on the witimate sake or exchange of these asscts.

36



FINANCIAL CONDITION
The following discussion addresses items from our Consolidated Balance Sheet that had significant sctivity during the
pasy year and should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements comained within liem R of
Part Il of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Agency MBS

Activity relared to our Agency MBS for the vear ended December 31, 2042 is as follows:

fameaitls it thorixamals CMBS Totnl

Beginning balance as of January 1, 2012 S ISTIZS0 § 300284 § #5665 $ 1965199
Purchases 1,721,284 19,826 532454 2303.564
Sales (61,534) (23.940) (85.474)
Change in net unrealized gain CrA9s8 0 1047 o c1TER 332
Net amortization _u2ssy (3.590) a2 {80.963)

Ending balance a5 of December 31, 2012

Parnotional value as of December 31, 2012 § 2425826 § 306,57 510059495

We utilized the majority of the procoeds from our equity capital raises dusing 2012 to purchase Agency RMBS and expand
our investments in Agency CMBS 10, We forusaed our purchases on shorer-duration Agency RMBS to minimize our expasure
w extension risk if ifterest rates were o increase in future porbods, and we purchased CMBS 10 in osder to diversify prepayment
risk exposure in our portfolio. Agency CMBS HO are less prepayment sensitive than Agency RMBS given the prepaynent protection
features of the loans underlying those securities. This helps to minimize the prepayment volatility of the investment portfolio.

As of Docember 31, 2012, 65% of our Ageney portfolio was comprised of Fannic Mac investments with the balance being
comprised of 29% Freddic Mac investments and 6% Ginnie Mac investments compared to 67% Fannic Mac investments and 33%
Freddie Mac investments a5 of December 31, 2001 Ax of Decomber 31, 2012, 73% of our Agency MBS investments are vanisble-
rate MBS with the remainder fixed-mte MBS

The fidlowing table presents the weighted average coupon (“WACT) by weighted average months-io-reset ("MTR™) for
the vanable-rate portion of our Agency RMBS portfalic based on par value as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
fenmenents it thonsamds i Par Value WAC W Par Valne w;\c o
012 MTR T SBII 30a% 5 RULMZ A3
13.24 MTR 105,372 441% 384,184 5.00%
2%5.36 MTR 5 ‘l“ﬁ*‘*‘u i 3 m m;; o A TEN

Oher 36 MTR l 55%2 017 154% &I% 'Hﬂ 4.33%

3.2, . 369% § 1466765 ASTH

(1 Ax af December 31 2H 2. appwuximuentely 1% of onr Amm ARMJ: mm' l’n-bmf ARMs reset !um-d npon fln- fevel of six
momth LIBOR. 93% reset based on the level of oncavear TIBOR and 4% rexet based ove the foved of ome-year CMT,

2 As of December 31, 2011, approximately 2% of owr Agency ARMy and hybrid ARMs reset basvd upon the level of six
momth LIBOR. 89% reset dased ou the leveld of ancvear LIBOR and 9% rexet based ov the level of one-yeur CAMT,

As of December 31, X012, approximately 95% of our variable-rate Ageney RMBS portfolio resets based on one-year
LIBOR plus o weighted average rate of 1.81%. Because we typically finance these mvestiments using 30-day repurchase agreement
financing for which we pay interest expense based on one-menth LIBOR plus a spread, our net inkevest inconme 15 sensilive to
changes 1 the interest rate environment, This sensitivity 1s discussed further in ftem 7A "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
Abcnit Market Risk™ of this Annual Report on Form 10K,

Nom-Agency MBS
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Acdivity related to our nopn-Agency MBS for the vear ended Docenaber 31, 2012 is as follows:

favmonnts in thonsands) RMBES CMBS CMBS 10 Total
Beginning balance as of Jenuary 1, 2012 T 15205 IS0 5 30165 A6
Purchases 7500 l65.466 68.315 Idl,ZSI
Principal paymenis IS0 @AY

Sakes

Change in net unrealized gain

Net aceretion {amortization)

Ending balance as of Docember 31, 2012

The combined notional balance of our investment in non- Agency CMBS 10 securities as of December 31, 2012 was §2 .4
billion. The weighted average months to maturity for all of our non- Agency CMBS (including 10 securities) 23 of December 31,
2012 was 68 months with 72% having onigination dates of 2008 or later, 11% hetween 2000 and 2005, and the remainder peior 1o
2000.

During 2012, the Company expanded its investrents in non-Agency CMBS and CMBS 1O baged on the favorable risk-
return peofile of these investments. Our non-Agency CMBS investments consist principally of securities rated 'A' or higher and
are primarily Freddie Mac Multifamily K Certificates on pools of recemly originated multifamily mortgage loans. These certificates
are not guarsniced by Freddie Mac and therefore, repayment is based solely on the perfermance of the underlying pool of loans.
These loans have prepayment lock-out provigions which reduce the nisk of early repayment of our investment.

The following table presents ratings information on our non-Agency CMBS and CMBS 10 investments asof December 31,
2012 a5 an indication of the overall credit risk of these investments:

Non-Ageacy CMABS Nou—Agcncy CMBES IO
Net Net
Unreslized Related Unrealized Related
fawowsnts f thousomdy) Fair Value Galn Bomwhgﬁ Falr Value Galn Borrowings
AA s

S8 2401
39908 5 397050 3 113942 S 5014 § 3 a2

Below A/Not Rated

The following table presents the peogiraphic diversification of the collateral undertying our non-Agency CMBS by the
top § stales as of December 31, 2012:
Market Valoe

fermmnients ot thonsamds) of Colisteral  Percentuge
Floride e 00 12.8%
Californin
New York 38,043 6.6%
Nonh Carolina 2%
Remaining sttes (imd excceding 4.7% individually)

Securitized Mortguge Loans and Allowsnce for Loan Lesses
Our sccuritized morigage loans, net of allowance for loan bosses decreased almost 38% from December 31, 2041 w0

December 31, 2012, This is primarily duc 1o our reeeipt of $40.8 million in principal payments, which includes unscheduled
prepayments arising from increascd refinancing activity during 2012,
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During the vear ended December 31, 2002, one of our securitized commereial mongape Joans with an amortized oost of
$3.6 millhon was liquidaied, resulting in a recognized gain of $2.1 million.  In addition, the terms for one of our securitized
commercial morngage loans were modificd during the year ended December 31, 2002, This loan is sccuged by & mixed-use property
locaied in the Midwest which has an appeaised value in excess of the contraciual payments due on the modified loan. The
modification resulted in an effective vicld as favorable to the Company as the effective yicld of the oniginal loan. In accosdance
with ASC 310-20, the Company accounted for this modifiod loan as a new loan which has an amortized cost basis of 33.2 million
as of December X1, 2012,

Our aliowance for joan losses decreased approximatcly 82% during the year ended December 31, 2012 as we have
experienced a significant decrease i our seriously delinquent mongapge loans.  During the year ended Decemnber 31, 2012, we
incurred charge offs of $2.3 million for securitized mortgape loans previously identified as impained while increasing our provision
$0.2 million for newly impaired monigage loans idemified during the vear

Derivative Ascers and Liabilities

As of Decemnber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we have enered ino imerest rate swap agreements in which we pay
moathly an agreed upon lixed rate of interess and seceve a variable raie of iterest based on 1-month and 3-month LIBOR. Qur
primany use for iNterest rate swap agroemems is (o hiedge our exposure 1o InCreases in interest raes on the repurchase agreements
wi use 1o fund our investment purchases. As such, we increased our volume of interest rate swap activity (o compensate for the
growth in our repurchase agroement borrowings usced 1o fund our investment portfolio. As the duration of our portfolio increascs,
we will generally add additionat hedging instruments such as intorest rate swaps to lower our portfolio duration and to hedge the
uncenainty of interest expensc cash flows on repurchase agreements anticipaled for the future.

The noticaal amount outsianding for our interest rate swap agroememts as of December 31, 2012 is $1.462.0 million with
a weighiod average fixed rate swapped of 1.53%; compared to a notional amount outstanding of $1,092.0 million with a weighted
average fixed rate swapped of | 38% as of December 31, X0t1. Since December 31, 2011, we have entered into fifkcen additional
inleresl rate swaps with & combined sotional amount of $495.0 million. a weighiod average pay-fixed rate of 1.33%, and a weighted
average 1ermn until maturity of approximately 66 months. included in the balance a2 of Dacember 31, 2012 arc scven interest rate
swaps which are pot effective until 2013, We utilized forward-starting interost ralte swaps in this instance in response to statemenis
by the Foderal Reserve that the foderal funds rarget rate will remain low for an exiended persod of time as discussed earlicr within
this [iem 7 in the "Exccutive Overview" section. The wable below provides additional information related 1o these forward-staning
micrest rate swaps:

Weighted-
Average
Notional Fixed Ratle
fermpnpnts iar thasandss Amounl Swapped
January 8, 2013 3 150,000 1.42%
March 25, 2013 ‘ 1.89%
Apeil 15,2013 1.70%

Qur derivative liabilies designated ns cash flow hedges had 8 net fair value of $39.% million as of December 31, 2012
compared 1o $25.5 million as of December 31, 2011, For the year ended December 31, 2012, our interest mie swap expense from
cash flow hedpes recognized in our consohidated stalement of income was $14.4 million compared to $11.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011, and this increase in expenst is primarily related (o the increase in the notiona! amount of our derivative
instruments outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared the year ended December 31, 2011,

Three of our imerest rate swaps inchuded within derivative lisbilities on our consolidaled balance sheets are designated
as trading instruments and had a fair value of $2.7 million as of December 31, 2012 compared to $2.5 million a5 of December 31,
2001 For the year ended December 31, 2012, we revognized i our consolidated statement of income a loss of $(0.9) million
related to these trading swaps, which inclodes the change in their fair value as well as the net interest payments made on these
tradding swaps, compared to a loss of $(2.8) millwon for the year ended December 31, 201 1. The Company entered into these interest
rate swaps as trading instruments during the yvear ended December 31, 2041,

Repurchase Agreements
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Repurchase agreements increased & net $1,470.3 million from December 31, 2011 10 December 31, 2042 primarily doc
1 additional horrowings to finance our purchases of investments during the year ended December 31, 2012, and principally 2012
purchases of Agency RMBS and CMBS 10, During 2012, the Company entered into a $200 million two-year committed facility
10 finance a portion of iz investmenits in CMAS 10 securitics.  The Company will continue 1o seck loager-tcrm or commitied
repurchase agroement financing when management believes that reasonable 1erms are available. Please refer to Note & of the
Nodes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within Ttem 8 of Pant Il of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as
“Liquidity and Capital Resources™ comained within this ltem 7 for additional information relating to our repurchase sgreements.

A portion of our repurchase agreement financing is collateralized by scouritization financing bonds that were issued in
the past by one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and then were subsoquently repurchased ("redeemed”) by us through a different
wholly-owned subsidiary. Akhough these bonds are legally outsianding. the balances are climinated on a consolidaied basis in
accordance with GAAP and are therefore not included in the "non-recourse collateralized financing™ balances shown on our
consolidaicd balance sheet. The additional repurchase agrocment borrowings collateralized by these redeemod bonds were used
to finance the bond redemption as well as to purchase additional investments. The following tables summarize the par and fair
values of these redeemed bonds used as collateral for repurchase agreement financing as of the periods presented:

December 31, 2012
Repurchase
Par Value Apgreement
fasournts I thotsands) Outatanding Fair Value Balance
Single-family mortgage loans 5 18,095 S 17331 § 15,956
Commercial mosigage joans oo as0 4R IRAX
S 32255 § 31,483 § 28,113
e, B, S e,
December 31, 2011
Reparchase
Par Value Agreement
famounts in thonsands) Outstanding Fair Value Balance
Single-family morygage loans $ 21477 %

772§

S 70607 §

Nom-recourse Collateralized Financing

Our non-recourse collateratized financing decreased from December 31, 2011 1o December 31, 2012 primarily bocause
we paid off the balance of our TALF financing. which had a fixed interest rate of 2. 7% and » remaining balance as of December 31,
2011 of $37.6 million, and replaced it with repurchase agreement financing.

Supplemental Information

The wbles below present the allocation of our sharcholders’ eguity to our assets and habilitics. The allocation of
shareholders” equity is determined by subtracting the associated financing for cach asset from that asset’s camrying basis. Dunng
2012, we allocated a substantial portion of our availsble investment capital to CMBS and CMBS 10 investments because of their

superior risk-adjusted retumn profiles as well as their prepayment protected profiles which offset our prepayment risk from our
RMBS assets,
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As of December 31, 2012

ﬂmdl:?"‘

| ¢

Asset Liabliliey Allocated
Carrylng Carrying Shareholders’
Basks Bask nity

ferrenents o thotsandsi

Agency RMBS T 23387 § 2o 3. W85 .
Agency CMBS 354,142 348771 105371
Non-Agency RMBS 11,038 7508 31236 0.5 %
Non-Agency CMBS 10 113,942 88221 25,721 2%
Securitized mortgage loans m - 43R0 B 1T G Y E
(nher investments RS8 — 4.3 01%
Derivative assets (liabilities) Bl 42537 - (42837 L (89
Cash and cash cquivalents 55,800 - 55,800 S.0%
Other assots/other liabilities ABTSE 2350 2408 - 36%
As of December 31, 2011
Associated
Fisancing'"
Asset Lisbhility Alocated % of
Carrying Carrying Shareholders”  Sharcholders’
fuvanemieins f1r thotesendy ) Baals Basis Eﬂllty Equity
Agency RMBS § LITIS0 S 1M1 S I MO
Agency CMBS 302244 222,921 79,323 4%
Agency CMBS 10 S 85665 AT 18224 49%
Nop-Agency RMBS 15,270 12,195 3075 0.8 %
Non-Agency CMBS 354070 206739 57331 154%
Non-Agency CMBS 1O 51756 IB.KKI 12873 35 %
Securitized mongage loans 113,703 001 . M2 93%
(ther investments HIHE LOIR 0.3 %
Derivative assets (liabilitics) e e QTG e (0.99T) s (8%
Cash and cash equivalents 48.776 - 48.776 13.1 %
Other assets‘other liabilities 32441 18,159 14282 . 39%
§ 1582,193 5§ 221084 S 371,349 100.0 %o

s fxsucigted fimpcmg refared to ivesmmenis e r’: reprchase 'xs a5 welf a:r s m-mi umcd
trades as of the reporting periad. and mon-rocourse colloteralized fimoncing. Associated fimancing for devivative
instusents represents the fair vadie of the interest role swap agreements in a Hability position.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion addresses significant activity in our Consolidsted Ststements of Income foe the years ended
Decomber 31, 2002, December 31, 201, and December 31, 2010 and should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements conteined within ltem 8 of Parnt 11 to this Annual Repont en Form 10-K and the Exccutive
Dverview contained within thiz Item 7.

During 2012, continued monctary caxing initiatives institined by the Federal Reserve and goneral coonomic weakness
bed to deelining interest rates with the S-year to {0-year portion of the ULS. Treasury curve declining by 0.11%-0.17%. This low
rate environment impacted our results of operations by increasing actusl and estimated prepsyment spoeds on our Agerwy RMBS
and by reducing retums on new investments that we added 1o the investment portfolie.  During 2012 we also saw increased
repurchase agrocment costs on our Agency RMBS versus 2011 a3 lenders began o pass through increased cegulatory compliance
costs and also due to competition for financing and temporary increases in costs from the Federal Reserve’s sale of shost-term
Treasury securitics pursuant 1o Operation Twist, The sale of shon-erm Treasury securitics by the Federal Reserve reduces the
amount of repurchase agreement available as buyers of these socuritics typically finance them through the repurchase agreement
markets.

Net Interest Income - Agency MBS

The following table provides a summary of the resubs of our Agency MBS investients and related financings by type
of collsteral for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
m — 2011
Effective Effective
Inceme Mmg& Yield Income \ A : Yicekd
farmournts in thousands) (Expense) ™ Balamee' (usm“' {l-.xpem} * Balan (mf’*

';‘w:;r*?

Agency RMBS $ 503
Financing
Net interest inconse/spread

Agency CMBS
Financing
Net interest imcomerspread

(3.946)  (183.868)

Ageocy CMBS 10
Financing
Net interest income/spread

(258955) (L3OP% Geind

248y

Totl W MBS ' ‘ - ; k . fio :w, L

Tota] financing 23,762y (2599957 (0.901% (13,786)  (1,655.714) {0 b"m
Towal pet interest income/
spread: Agency MES 3

(1) Expense asrounts audﬁmfng rafes m:‘!mk a!locami fnderest rade expense an interest raie swaps designated as lmxkex
f2r Average batances are calcnlated as a simple average of the daily amertized cost basis and exclude wnrealtized gains and
fosses.
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(31 Rffectve vields frates) are boved an omnlized fncowe fexpense) amotnrs. Recalorlation of effective vields and rates
micrv exod e poxsitile using deata provided bevesese cortain iceve and exprense iems of o ong - time natieee ave ot annualized
for the colcidation of effective viekds or rates. An exemple of such o ore-tinte item ix the retroxpective exdfiusiments of
discount and preminm amortizations arisimg frone adisseaenty of effective inferesi raiey.

The majonty of the increase in our interest income from Agency MBS for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared
10 the vear ended December 31, 2011 is duc to the growth of our Agency MBS ponfolio, During the year ended December 31,
2012, we purchased $2,.303.6 million in Agency MBS which increased our average interest camings assets 1o $2.886.7 million
from $1.845.9 miltion For the year ended Decerber 31, 201 1. The increase in average interest eaming asaets helped offset a decline
in the weighted averape yield during 2012 of 0.3% 10 3.71%.

Decreases m weighted average ooupons oby our Agency RMBS and Agency CMBS negatively impacied our interest
iwome and effective yields on Agency MBS duning the year ended December 31, 2012, The weighted average coupons for the
vear ended December 31, 2012 were 3890 and 5. 19% for Agency RMBE and Agency CMBS, respectively, compared to 4.51%
and $.36% for the year ended December 31, 2011, respectively. The decline in weighted average coupon for Agency RMBS 13
the vesubt of purchases of newer issue Hybwid ARMSs and resets in the coupon rates over the last iwelve months in our Ageacy
ARMs, The decline in weighted averape coupon {or Agency CMBS is primarily the result of purchases of invesiments with lower
cougaats over the last twelve months,

Our Agency CMBS 10 investments posstively impacted our Agency MBS effective vield by 0.30% for the year ended
December 3, 3017 even though vields oa Agency CMBS 10 declined in 2012 relative 10 2011 We were able to buy Agency
CMBS 1O investments at better vields than Agency RMBS as demand for the Agency CMBS 10 products was not as strong relative
to the demand {or Agency RMAS.

Net premium amortization on Agency MBS increased $53.0 million to S8 million for the vear ended December 31,
2012 compared 1o $2K (1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, This increase in net premium amortization is due primarily
to the purchases of higher-priced Agency CMBS 10 and Agency RMBS during 2002, To a lesser extent, our net premium
amontization also increased due 1o actusl prepayment activity as well as an increase in our forecasied prepayment speed during
the second quarter of 2012 in response to declining morigage rates and the HARP refinance program. We estimate that §1.0milhon
of our net premium amortization of $81.0 mallion was duc to actual prepaymenis exceeding forecasted prepayments duning the
year as well as changes 1o expecied futune prepayment activity on our Agency RMBS,

Excluding interest rale swap expense, our firancing cost for Agency MBS moreased $7.9 million to $12.7 million lor
the year ended December 31, 2012 from $4.8 mitlion for the year ended December 31, 2011, This increase 1s primarily due to the
additsonal repurchase agreerment bormowings we used 1o finance our Agency MBS purchases over the past 12 months. [n addition,
the average mie on the repurchase agreements increased to (L48% for the year ended December 31, 2012 from 0.29% for the year
ended December 31, 2001, This higher cost of financing is indicative of the higher costs of financing Agency CMBS 10 invesiments
and generally increased costs for repunchase agreements during the year as discussed above,

Our financing costs for Agency MBS shown in the table above for the year ended December 31, 2012 includes 111
milixon of interest expense related to mierest rute swaps compared to $9.0 million of interest rate swap expensc for the year ended
December 31, 2011, Interest rate swap expense increased our borrowing costs For Agency MBS by 0.42% for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to an increase of (1.53% for the year ended December 31, 2011,

Net Interest Income - Non-Agency MBS

The following table provides & summary of the results of our non-Agency MBS investments and related financings by
type of collateral for the periods indicaied:



For the Your Ended

December 31,
012
Income Average Effective Income
faesounis i thausamds (Expense) Bllu:fem \’Eid!lhlc"' (Exponse) "
Non-Agency RMBS - ~
Financing
Net interest income/spread
Non-Agency CMBS 406918 %S

Financing BRFTEIT (331.036) T (?,233: 1235.493; 6. mw

Non-Agency CMBS 10 ‘
Financing (55.864) 2 6‘)%
Net interest income/spread TS

Total non-Agency MBS 3967 5 4201 : an
Total financing {10,484) (39847 (2.59% (7.6!8) (25&,‘295) {2.91Y%
Toual net interest income/ e o
spread: non-Agency MBS }
tl luwmmmuandfmi»g rextes include allocated interext rate expense an interest roie swaps dmgmredm hcdzrs
(2 Average balancex are calewlated as o simple average of the daily ewortized cost basis and exchude unrealived goins and
fosses.
{3} Effective yields frates) are based an amialized income fexpensel amonnts. Revalcwlation of effective vields and rates
mry not be possible sing dita provided beeause certain income and expense ifems of a one-time natire are not arnnclized
Jor the calculavion of effective yields or rates. An example of such a ane-time item is the retrospective adjustments of
discount and premiums amortizations arising from adinstsments of effective intorest raves,

Our interest income from non-Agency MBS mcreased over 59% for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the
year enbed December 31, 2011, The increase is duc to & higher average balance resulting from purchases of $241.3 million of
these investments subsequent 1o December 31, 2011 as well a5 a favorable increase in interest income for the year ended December
31, 2012 for those investments held as of December 31, 2011,

As shown in the table above, the effective yield on our non-Agency MBS portfolio decreased for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, We added non-Agency CMBS 10 investments ot higher
premiums during 2012 and lower viclds as the demand for those investmenis increased our purchase prices. The higher premiums
on our non-Agency CMBS 10 increased our premivm amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared 1o
the year ended December 31, 2011

Our interest expense from repurchase agreements collateralized by non-Agency MBS increased 10 $7. | million (excluding
interest rale swap expense) for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared 1o $2.5 million for the vear ended December 31,
2011, an increase driven by the increased volume of repurchase sgreement berrowings used to finance our non-Agency MBS
purchases. In addition to the increased average balance, the average mie on these repurchase sgreements increased to 1.53% for
the year ended December 31, 2012 from 1.27% for the year ended December 31, 2011, This higher cost of financing is indicative
of the higher cost of financing for non-Agency CMBS 10 as well as genera! increases in repurchase agreement costs discussed
above,



Qur financing costs shawn in the able above for non-Agency CMRBS include interest rate swap expense of $3.4 million
and $2.6 million for the vears ended December 31, 2012 and Decernber 31, 2011, Overall, the financing costs {including interest
rale swap expense) lor non-Agency MBS decreased 32 bagis points for the year ended December X1, 2012 from the yvear ended
December 31, 2011 because our interest rale swap expense impacted our borvowing costs for non-Agency MBS by ouly 1.06%
for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared ta 1.64% for the year ended December 31, 2011

Net Imterest Income - Securiticed Morigage Loany

The following table provides a summary of the resulis of our securitized mongage loans and relaied linancing for the
periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2812 2011
Incamc Average Effective Incomc Average Effoctve

feentitts it thosseands) (Expense)  Balance''  viel/Rate'™ (Expemse)  Balance'  Yiekd/Rate™
Securitizod mongage loans  §° 5395 § QIR 0 3BE% S THIS % 133,198 570%
Financing (8641 {58.921) (Ladpts {24678) {90.972) (2.94)0%
Net interest income/spread  § 4511 o O 442% 8 4937 276 %
Provision for loan losses (19 (B71)

3. A3 o $ 406

t1¢ Average balunce excludes funds helid by trustees excep proceedy from defeased e eldd by trustees.

(21 Lffective yields (rates) ane based on anmedized income fexpense) ampnnts. Recalcadation of effective yields aef rates
micry not be poxsible uxing data proveded tr the table becanese certatn incowre and expense ifems of o one-Jime ature are
rnut annsalized for the caleulation of effective vields ov rates. An example of such a anelime ftem is the selraspective
adiustments of discannt and premices amorization eroing from ediwsements of cffective inferest rates.

e decrease i mienest KoM on secuntizd mortgage loans is the result of the lower average balance outstanding for
the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, These balances have decreased year over
vear because we are no longer adding secuntized mortgage Joans to our mvestment postfolio. Principal payments. includmg
unscheduled payments, were $40.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $37.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011

e decrease 1n nkerest expense assovsited with seouritized mongage loans is relsted to 8 decline in the average balance
of outstanding finaming. which declined due 1o the principal peyments on the mortgage boan collateral that are discussed sbove
{&s these payments received are used 1o pay dowa the prancipal on the related bonds) In addition, our interest expense associated
with securitized mortgage loans was favorsbly impacied by our redemption of $23.7 milhon of our non-recourse collaternlized
financing at the end of the third quarter of 2081, This redemption, which consisted of o portion of our securitization financing
bond issued in 1998 with & coupon of 7.16% that is collateralized by our secuntized commercial morigage loans, was financed
using vorable-rate repurchase agreemient financing a8 a significantly lower effective interest rate than the previously cutstanding
porton of the secuntizabinn financing bond

Provisiovt for Lowan Losses. Dunng the year ended December 31, 2012, we added $0.2 million of reserves for estimated
losses on our securibized mortgage loan portfolio compared to an addition of $0.9 million of reserves for the year ended December
3L 2001, The majonty of this additions] reserve was related to our single-family secuntized mongage loans.

Ovher Revenues and Expenses

Cogrin on sple of fvvestments, sy The tollowing table summanzes informateon reloted te our gan on sale of investments,

net for the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2011,
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For the Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011
Amortized . Gaim on sale,  Amortized  Galo on sale,

{erunenis [ thotsonds) cost basls seld net «ost basis soid net
Type of investment
Agency RMBS
Agency CMBS
Agency CMBS 10

on-Agency CMBS
Securitized morigage hoan liquidation
Freddic Mac Senior Unsccured Reference Notes

The increased gain on sale reflects price approciation during 2012, We purchased the Freddic Mac Senioe Unsocured
Reference Notes during 2012 with procecds from our capital raise in Febraary 2012 as a wmporary investment and subsequently
sold these notes in favor of Agency MBS, We sold the MBS sccurhics during 2012 as a result of pontfolio rebalancing and 10
reduce our cxposure to prepayment risk in the case of the Agency RMBS.

;, aet. Foe the year ended Deveraber 31, 2012, our fair value adjussments, net of ${£1.2) million
consist of unmlm tmm of 5(0 9) million related to the changes in fair value of vur derivative instruments designated as irading
securities pantially offset by unrcalized gains of $0.7 million related to changes in fair value of vur Agency CMBS designated as
trading socuritics. For the year ended December 31, 2001, our fair value adjustments, net consisted primarily of an unrealized
gain of $1.9 million related to the changes in fair value of cur Agency CMBS designated as trading securities and an unrealized
loss of (52.8) milkion related 1o the changes in fair value of our derivative instruments designated as irading securities.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended Docember 31, 2042 increased approximaiely $2.8 million
compared to the year ended December 31,201 1. The majority of this increasc is duc to increased incentive compensation cxpenscs
as well as an increase in our number of cmployces. General and administrative cxpenscs as 3 percentage of sharcholder's cquity
decreased 1o 2.3% for the year ended December 31, 2012 comparcd to 2.8% for the year ended December 31, 2011 as we grow
our cquity capital during 2012 without incurring significant additional overhead cxpenses.

Net Interest Income — Agency MBS

The following table provides a summary of the resubls of our Agency MBS investments and related financings by type
of collatcral for the periods indicated:



For the Year Ended

December 31,
2011 — 2810
Effective
Incame Average Yield lnceme L Avera
fetimmenernts tn thousandy) (Expense)'”  Balamee™ (Ra.te)"” [F:peme) b Batance™ '
Agency RMBS § 45013 § 1557408 287 % T 20408 20408 . § sst;m A0
Financing {9.595) (1,451,790 m 66]% {‘.:614,) {523.2*10) (0 67)%

Net interest income/spread = § . 35418

Agency CMBS $ 9T 5 2803313 3:&13&,5;.;; 25168 - 65188 . 3N
Financing (3.946) (183, m; 212p% {144) {47.861) (0.30P%
Net interest income/spread § 5.7 lm!& 5. 2 : 3%
Agency CMBS 10 209 5 2203 § e g i %
Financing (245) {"0 656) ﬁ ”l)% — -— — Yo
Netinterest income/spread — §_ 1843 G50% 5 — R o
Toul Agency MBS 6814 T LBASSM  3TWNS 9N T GIATE 3%
Total financing {13.786) nss 714) (0.82% (3.758) (571,121) (0.650%
Total pet interest income/ o a6 i i v
spread: Agency MBS

11} Expense anvenntis ard ﬁ:mm freg rerles auﬂ'm& aflrxam.l' inlervst ree expense an fterest resie Wy d":ngmwdm hedy

12} Average hutances are calenkated as o simple average of e daily anortised cost hativ and exclude unrealized gains xmd
fosses.

13y Effecnive wwelds (rates) are based on omtalized iscoue texpeasel amonnts. Recalculation of effective vields amd rates
miay tiov be possible nsing data provided becase cortain income aind expense items of a one-time natiore anre nol uarnalized
Jor the calcudaiion af effective vields ov rates. An example of sicch a one-time item is the retrospective adiustments of
disconnt and preminm amortizaiions arising from adiusterents of effective interest raies.

Crur interest inconwe from Agency MBS increased during the year ended Devember 31 2011 compared to December 31,
2010 peimanty due to our purchases of $1,215.2 million of Agency RMBS and $206.6 million of Agency CMBS during the year
emched December 31, 2001

Offsetting the benefit of these purchases. our interest income and effective yield on Agency MBS were negatively impacted
by an increasc in our net premivm amortization. Owr net premium amontization increased during 2011 because our purchascs of
Agency RMBS during the vear ended December 31, 2011 were at higher prices and at fower effective yiehds than our Agency
RMBS ponfolioas of December 31, 2010, The effective yicld on our Agency RMBS purchased during the year ended December 31,
il was 2.60% companed to the effective vaeld of 36004 camed on our Agency RMBS portfolio during the year ended
Duwcember 31, 2018,

During the thind quarter of 201]. we increased our forecastod prepayment speeeds for our Agency RMBS to 28% CPR
due to our beliel that prepayment speads on variable-rate Agency RMBS invesiments will increase in the next twelve months as
a resubt of the continied bow interest rate environment and proposed changes to the HARP progrum.  Incressing our forccasted
prepaymient speed reduced our inkenest income from Agency MBS by increasing our net premium amortization expensce for the
year ended December 31, 2011

Excluding interest rate swap cxpense, our financing cost for Agency MBS inercased $3.1 million w 54.8 million for the
vear endod December 31, 2011 from 51.7 milhon For the year ended December 31, 200 due to our increase in average bakance
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of repurchase agreement financing. which increased due 10 our use of reparchase agreement borrowings to partially finance our
Agency MBS purchages during the year ended December 31, 2011, The average rate on the repurchase agreements {eacluding
inlerest rate swap expense) coltateralized with Agency MBS remained flat a1 0.29% for both years ended December 31, 2011 and
December 31,2010,

Our financing costs for Agency MBS shown in the table above for the year ended December 31, 2011 include the allocation
of $9.0 million of inierest expense related to our interest rate swaps designated as cash Now hedges compared to $2.1 million of
interest rate swap expense for the yearended December 31,2010. This increase isdue to the additions] interest rate swapagreements
we have entered into since December 31, 2010 in ordier to hedge our increased expasure to interest rate risk associated with our
increased use of repurchase agreement borrowings.

Net Interest Incomse ~ Non-Agency MBS

The following table provides a summary of the resulis of our non-Agency MBS investments and related financings by
type of collateral for the penods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2001 2010
Income Average Effective Ay Effective
fawruents i thouscnds (Expease) ™ Balawee™  Vield/Rate™ (Expmc) n Balax ﬂmmm‘”
Financing

(6295)

Financing (?.233) (zas 498 [3 mm (4.129)  (152452)

Non-Agency CMBS 10
Financing

Total non-Agerncy MBS 032 by 193588 %
Total financing {1618)  (256,295) (29194 (4,223 uss 7471 (2 era
‘roul net imserest mne!

{ 1} Expense mmnm:mdﬁmmg renes include allocated inverest rate expense on interest raie swaps designated as lwdgﬂ

{2} Average balances are colewlated as u simple average of the daity amortized cost baxis and exclude unrealized gains anid
lasses.

(3) Effective yields {rates) are based an ammnalized income {expense) amonnts. Recalculation of effective yields and rates
iy ok be possible using data provided because certain income and expense ifems of a one-time natirre ave not anasalized
for the calculation of cffective vields or rates. An example of such a anc-time item s the retrospective adiustments of
discount amd premium amortizations arising fronr adiustments of effective intevesi rakes.

Onr interest income from non-Agency MBS increased for the year enwded Docember 31, 2011 compared to the year cded
December 31, 2010 due to our purchase of $189.2 million in non-Agency MBS during the year ended December 31, 2001, These
purchases increased our average balance oo which we earned interest income to $303.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2011 from $193.5 million for the year cowded December 31, 2000,
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Ofthe $189.2 million of non- Agency MBS purchases duning the year ended December 31, 2011, $52.9 million represents
the premiums we paid for non-Agency CMBS 1038 which increased our net premiium amortization on non-Agency MBS to $1.1
milhon for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, This increased
net premium amonisation contributed to the 0.76% decrease in our effective yield on our non-Agency MBS for the vear ended
December 11, 2011 compared 10 the vear ended December 31, 2010, Also contribating 10 this decrease in effective viekd 15 the
average coupon on the remaining $116.3 million non-Agency MBS purchases for the year ended December 3, 2011 was 4.86%
compared 1o the average coupon of 6.9M™% for non-Agency CMRS for the year ended December 31, 2016,

During the years ended December 31, 2011 amd December 31, 2010, our non-Agency MBS portfolio was finanoed using
recourse repurchase agreements and nonerecourse securiization and TALF financings. Interest eapense from non-recourse
financing was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 and $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, Interest
esperse from recourse financing increased 1o $2.5 million {exscluding imerest rate swap expense) for the year ended December 31,
2011 compared 10 $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an increase primanly driven by the increased volume of
repurchase agreemem borrow ings used 10 finance our 201 non-Agency MBS purchases. The oversll financing rate for non-
Ageney MBS shown in the table above increased 27 basis points from the year ended December 31, 2010 w the year emded
December 31, 2011 because of interest rate swap expense that was allocated 1o the reparchase agreements coliateralined by non.
Agency CMBS, which was $2.6 million for the vear ended December 31, 2011 compared to $0.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010

Net Interest Income — Securitized Morigage Loans

The following 1able provides a summary of the resulis of our securitized morgage loans and relaied financing for the
periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
Py ] 2818
o R USRS
Incomc Average Effective Income Average Effective

(amenonts in thowxands) _(Expense) hm:r‘ ' Yield/Rate™ o (i‘xpem} Babacc i \Witul o
Securitized mongage loans S 1615 7618 153398 CST0% S 12234 § 0 IN5807 6.58 %
Financing (2.678) {90972y (2 MY {6,.376) {!35 052) {4,621
Netimerest mcomespread  § . 4937 . 2% § S8 L%

Provision for boan losses (871) {1,194)

S A066 o S A664

{13y hyrage bedance exclindes funds held by trustees except proceeds from defeased loavns helid by trustees

12} Effective yiclds (rates) are based an awnnlized income fexpense) aononnts. Recalcwlation of effective viclds and raies
mery not be pessible nsing data providhed in the rable becanse certain income and expenye itemys of @ one-Hime natire an
not anmalized for the calentation of effective yields or ratcs. An exampie of such o onc-time item is the retrospective
adfustments of discount and prestiom aeroetizations avising from odiusimeats of effective inferest rates.

Ihe decrease i mterest income on securitized montgage loans s the result of the lower average balance of the securitized
mortgage loans outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended December 31,2010, These balances
have decreased year over year because we are 1o longer adding mortgage loans 1o our investment portfolio. Principal psyments,
including unscheduled payments, were $37.6 mithon for the year ended December 31, 2011,

interest income also declined os a result of the decrease in the sverage vield eamed on the securitized mortgage loan
postfolio. The primary cause of this decline was related to the average vield on our securitized cormmercial mortgage loans decliming
by 94 basis points from 2010 o 2011, This decline is prmarnly related to an increase in the average balance of commerend
maontgage loans on nonaccrual status which was approximately $18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to
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$12.9 millien for the year ended Decerber 31, 2010, The average balance increased due o one delinguent commercial mongage
loan, which was restructured in bankrupicy court subsequent 10 December 31, 2011,

The decrease in interest expense associsted with securitized morigage loans is related 1o 8 decline in the average balance
of outstanding financing, which declined due 1o the principal payments on the morigage loan collateral that are discussed above
(as these payments received are used 10 pay down the principal on the related bonds). In addition, at the end of the third quaner
of 2011, we redeemed $23.7 million of our non-recourse collateralized financing. This redemplion, which consisted of a portion
of our securitization financing bond issued in 1998 with a coupon of 7.16% that is collateralized by our securitized commercial
mortgage loans, was financed using vanisble-rale repurchase agreement financing at a significantly lower effective interest rate
than the previously outstanding portion of the securitization financing bond.

Provision for Loan Losses

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we added a net 309 million of reserves for estimated losses on our securitized
mortgage loan portfolio. Additonsl reserves of §2.7 million were added for securitized commercial mongage loans collateralived
maostly by multifamily or retail properties. These reserves were offset by $1.8 million of benefits from the recapture of previously
reserved losses. The additional reserves thal we added for our portfolio of securitized single-family morigage loans duning the
year ended December 31, 2011 were relatively minimal as we believe that our current reserves are sufficient o cover projecied
losses on those morgage loans. During the year ended December 31,2010, we added §1.4 million of reserves for estimated losses,
$1.2 million of which was on our securitized mongage loan porifolio and $0.2 million on our unsecuritized mongage loans.

Other Revenues and Expenses
Litigation yetriement und refarted cpxts, During the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred $8.2 million of litigation

setibernent and related delense costs pertaining to the class action lawsuit brought by the Teamsters. In December 2011, we entered
a stipulation of settiement agreement whereby we agreed to settle this litigation for $7.5 million. The remaining $0.7 million
represents the additional legal expenses of finalizing the setthement as well a3 the defense cosis we incurred once we reached the
cap on litigation expenses covered by our directors’ and ofTicery’ insurance policy ("D & O policy™ ). Funther details regarding this
litigation are provided in ltem 3, "Legal Proceedings™ of Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

_ T qcing. We redeemed $23.7 million of our non-recourse collateralised
financing in 250! 1. Th;s redemphon resulled ina M}-mh chm,’gse of $2.0 million for the write-ofV of the relnted unamortised bond
discount and bond issuance costs. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we necorded non-cash income of 3.6 mithon for
the write-off’ of bond premium, net of bond issuance costs relaled 1o our redemption of $56.4 million of our non-recourse
collateralized financing.

Ciain ov sale of inveserents, pet. Duning the year ended December 31, 2011, we sold Agency RMBS with a par value of
5134.7 million and Agency CMBS with a par value of $29.2 million, resulting i net gains of $1.2 million and $0.9 million,
respectively. These sales resulied from our continued effonts Lo diversify our investment portiolic while capitalizing on the strong
market dernand for these assets. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded a gain of $2.2 million from the liquidation
of a delinquent commercial mongage Joan and 8 gain of $0.7 million from the sale of Agency RMBS.

Fair value adigstments, nel, For the year ended December 31, 2011, our Agency CMBS designated as trading securitics
increased in {air value $1.9 million while our interest mte swap agreements designated as trading instruments decreased in fair
value $2.8 million,

General and Adwinistrative Expenses
QOur compensation and benefits expense increased $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared (o the
year ended December 31, 2010, Our stock based compensation expense increased $0.2 million because we issued approximately

338,000 shares of restricted stock 10 employees during the year ended December 31, 2011, In addition, our salary and related tax
expenses increased $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2011,
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Qur other general and administrative expenses increased $0.7 million for the vear ended December 31, 2011 compared
10 the year ended December 31, 2010, Increases in our consulting, relocation, and shareholder expenses account for 39%, 20%,,
and 8%, respectively, of this increase with the remainder resulting from other miscellaneous expenses,

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity include borrowinpgs under repurchase arrangements, monthiy principal and interest
PRMINCRLS We Feceive on ouf investments, and cash. Additional sources may also inchwde procecds from the sake of investments,
cquity offerings. issuances of collateralized financings, and payments reecived from counterpartics from intercst rate swap
agreements. We use our hiquidity Lo fund our investment purchases and other operating costs, to pay down borrowings, te make
paymenis lo counterpartics as required under interest rale swap agroements, and to pay dividends on our common stock.

The capital we mised during the past twelve months through offerings of common stock and Senies A Preferred Stock
increased our available liquid assets as of December 31, 2012 vo $186.0 million compared (o $134.1 million as of December 31,
201 . As of December 31, 2012, our liquid asscts consist of unrestricied cash and cash cquivalents of $55.% million and $130.2
million in uncacumbered Agency MBS, Unencumbered Apency MBS are considered part of our liquid asscts as we may plodge
them to lenders and interest rate swap counterparties if we experience a margin call (which is discussed below ). We monitor our
currensd and forecasted available liquidity on a daily basis.

We perform sensitivity anslysis on our liquidity based on changes in the value of our investments due to changes in
tnlerest rates, market credit spreads, lender brircuts snd prepavnwent speeds, We abso closely manage our debt-to-invested equity
ratio{which is equal 1o the ratio of debt versus equily financing of any investment} as pan of our liguidity management process. Our
currem opcrating policies provide thal recourse hotrowings inclsding repurchase agreements used (o finance investments will be
in the range of three to (en times our invested ogquity capital. Our current opeating policics also limit our overall debe-to-invested
cquity ratio to po more than scven times our investod equity capital for the entire investment portiolio and provide different limits
by investment type. Our maximum target levenage is up to ten times our invested equity for Agency RMBS, cighn times for Agency
CMBS and five times for Agency CMBS 10, With respect to non-Agency MBS, our maximum target levernge is up to five times
our invesied equity caprial in non-Agency CMBS and RMBS. and up 10 four imes our invested equity capital in non-Agency
CMBS 10, The maximum targets represent fixed limis for leveraging our investiment eapitsl. Based on our mvestment portfolio
s of December 31, 2012, our overadl current keverage tungpet is spproximately six times our invested equity capital. The keverage
targed may change in the future as the pontfolo mix changes. We may also increass our leverage target by holding less capatal
ngaimst certain investments in our portfolio in the future (therefore effectively increasing the leverage on those investmentis). In
mdchitron, because non-Agency MBS arc loas hquid and therr fair values ane more volatrle than Agency MBS, we are mone
vomserviive i leveraging non-Agency MBS as evidenved by lower targeted debt-to-equity ratio.

in general. we have had ample sources of iguidity 0 lund our activities and operations.  Liguidity 1 the repurchase
agreement market has steadily improved since the Rnancial crisis in 2008 and 2009, However, credit markets remain fmpake and
susceptible 10 exogenous shexks, Further. regulatory reform could impact the availability of credit.  In times of severe market
stress, repurchase agreement avaibabitity could mpidly be reduced and the wrms on which we can borrow could be matenslly
altered. Competinon from other REITs, banks. hodge funds, and the federal government for capacity w ith our repurchase agreerment
lenders could also reduce our repurchase sgreement avarkability. While we do not anticipate such events in the near term, a reduction
m our bosrowing capacity could force us 1o sl assets in onder 1o repay our lenders or could otherwise restrict our ability 10 opersie
our business,

Over the course: of the last severs] vears we hiave reised ssgmificant amowms of common and preferred sharcholdens” equity.
Pepending on our bquidity levels, the condition of the credit markets, and other factors, we may from tme @ Lime consider the
issuance of debt, equily, o other securities, te procceds of which could provide sdditional liquidity for our operstions. Whike we
will attempdt 1o avord difutive or otherwise costly issuances, depending on market conditions, in order to manesge our liquidity we
could be Forved 10 saxe equity or dehi securities which are dilutive o our capitad base or our profitability.

Repurchaxe Agresments
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The following table presenis certain quantitative information regarding our shor-tem bomrowings (exclnding interest
rale swap expense) onder repurchase agreements for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
femourints iyt thonsands) 2012 011 2018
Aversge balance GULARGing — m— —
Weighted average borrowing rate {excluding interest rate swap expense) . 0.42%
Maximum balanoe outstanding $ 3689052 $ 2067302 § 1,256406

Our repurchase agreement borrowings gencrally have a term of hetween one and theee months and carry a rate of interest
based on a spread to an index such as LIBOR. Repurchase agreemcents are renewable at the discretion of our lenders and do not
contain guarantecd roll-over terms. We artempt to maintain unused capacity under our existing repurchase agreement oredit lines
with multiple counterpartics which helps protect us in the event of a counterparty’s failure to renew existing repurchase agreements
cither with favorable terms o st all.  As of December 31, 2012, we had 28 repurchase agreement counterparties and $3.6 billion
in repurchase agreement borrowings outstanding with 19 of those counterpanies st a weighued average borrowing rate of 0.70%. As
of December 31, 2011, we had $2.1 billion outstanding with 20 counterpantics at a weighted average borrowing rate of 0.61%,

The following 1able discloses our sepurchase agreement amounts outstanding and the value of the related collateral pledged
by geographic region of our counterparties as of December 31, 2012

Repurchasc Market
Agreement VYalue of

Ambpunt Collaters]
fanounts it thonsands) Outstanding Pledged
North America T 220812 5 ZAMAR
Asia 692,390 734,640
Europe s -~ s

S 3564128 §  3.935.504
.= 1

For our repurchase agreement borrowings, we are required (o post and maintain margin to the lender (i.e., collateral in
excess of the repurchase agreement financing) in order to support the amount of the financing. This excess collsteral is ofien
referred to as a "haircut™ (and which we also refer to as equity st risk). The amount of haircut posted, particularty for non-Agency
MBS, is based on the quality and type of collateral being pledged. Because we have increased our investments in both Agency
and non-Agency CMBS 10 investments, our weighted avernge haircut has increased from 5.5% as of December 31, 2011 10 7.4%
us of Decemnber 31, 2012 for repurchase agreements collateralized by Agency MBS and from 16.9% to 19.5%., respectively, for
repurchasc agreements collateralized by non-Agency MBS, The increase in haircut since December 31, 2011 is due to the advance
rates under repurchase agreement financing being lower for CMBS 10 investroents than for other MBS, We have not otherwise
expericnced any increases in haircuts by our lenders due to market conditions, credit risk, or otherwisc.

As the collateral pledged is Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS, the value of the collsteral can fluctuate with changes
in market conditions. 1f the fair vatue of the collaterad fulls below the initial haircut amount, the lender has the right to demand
additional margin, or collateral, to increase the haircut back 1o the mitial amount. These demands arce typically referred w as
"margin calls”. There is no minimum amaunt of collseral value decline required befors the lender could initiate 3 margin call,
and we typically will cxpericnce margin calls for downward fluctuations in collateral valucs. Declines in the value of investments
occur for any number of reasons including but not limited to changes in interest rates, changes in mtings on an investment, changes
in wctual or perceived liquidity of the investment, or changes in overall market risk pereeptions. Additionally, values in Agency
RMBS will also decline from the payment delay feature of those sccuritics. Agency RMBS have a paymem delay featune wherchy
Fannic Mac and Freddic Mac announce principal payments on Ageocy RMBS bt do not remit the sctual principal payments and
interest for 20 days in the case of Fannie Mac and 40 days in the case of Freddic Mac, Becauss these scouritics arc financed with
repurchase agreements, the repurchase agreement lender generally makes s margin call for an amount equal to the product of their
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advance rale on the repurchase agreement and the announced principal payments on the Agency RMBS. This causes
a lemporary use of our ligaidity 10 meet the margin call until we receive the principal payments and imerest 20 10 40 days later.

The counterparties wilh whom we have the greatest amounts of equity a1 risk miay vary significantly during any given
period due o the shor-tenm and generally uncommitted nature of the repurchase agmement borrowings. Equity at risk is delined
as the amount pledged as collateral 1o the repurchase agreement counterparty in excess of the repurchase agreement amount
outstandimg. The following tables present the five counterparties with whom the Company had the greatest amounts of equity at
risk as of December 31, 2012 and as of December 11, 2011

December 31, 2012

Repurchase
Agreement

{eranerseits tiv thaaesandds

Well Fargo Bank, NA and affiliates $ 36540 §
Bank of America Securities L1C 287319
Credit Suigee Securities LLC CMAs2 2T
Nomura Securities Imemational, Inc. 206,201 21,266
JP Morgan Securities, LLC 199389 . 36,097
Remaining coumterpartics 2,260,529 113,645
5 3%‘!28 5 37'!'&76
— December 31, 2011
Repurchase
Agrecment
Amouat Equity at
famouwnis uv thansamnds i risk

Bank of America Securities 1L1LC 2T § UMM
Guggenbeim Sccuritics 214,685 11,343
Deutsche Bank Securities 178,284 9,308
Nomura Secunbies Intemational, Ine. i 15,502
Jefferics & Company, bnc. cono 101354 18098
Remaining counterparties 1,259,610 85,930

$ 20073 5 174519

Our repurchase agreement counterparnties require us 10 comply with vanous operating and financial covenonts. The
financual covenonts include requirements that we maintain minimum shareholders' equity (usually a set minkmum, or o percentage
ofthe highest nmount of shareholders’ equity xince the date of the agreement), mas imum decling in sharcholders’ equity (expressed
s » percentage decline m any piven peniod), and limits on max imum leverage (s 2 multiphe of sharcholders’ equity). Operating
requirements include, among otber things, requirements 1o mainain our status a3 a REFT and to maintain our listing on the NYSE,
Violations of one or more of these covenants coubd resadt in the kender declaring on evert of default which would result in the
termination of the repurchase agreement and immediate accelertion of amounts due thereunder. Inaddition, some of the agreements
vontain cross default features, wherelyy default with one lender simullancously causes default under sgreements with other
lenders. Violations could also restrict us from paymg dividends oc engaging in other transactions that are necessary for us (o
maintgin our RE(T siatus,

We monilor and evaluate on an ongoing basis the impact these customary financial covennmts moy have on our opersting
angd financing tlexibility, Currently, we do not believe we are subject 10 any covenants thar materially restrict our financing
flexibility, nor do we believe that we are i danger of breaching any of these covenants,

Derivatives



Our inderest rate swap agreements fequire us to post initial margin at inception and variation margin bascd on subsequent
changes in the value of the swap. The collateral posted as margin typically is in the form of cash, Agency MBS, or Treasury
sccurities. Generatly, as inkerest rates decline we will have to post collateral with the counterparty, and, as interest rates increase,
the counterparty will deposit collateral with us or return our collateral (typically when the amount of collateral required o be
posted excceds & ocntain dollar amount). Asof December 31, 2012, we had Agency MBS with a fair value of $47.3 million posted
as crodit support wder the agreements and no collateral had been posted to us.

Repurchase Agreement Reform

In addition 1o market related issucs, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York along with certain industry participants have
issued a repon that makes recommendations for reforming the tri-party repurchase agreement market (o address potential systemic
risk concems associsted with its infrastructure.  The report Tocuses primarily on the scttling and clearing mechanisms of the
repurchase agreement market and the two primary clearing banks, 1.P. Morgan and Bank of New York Mcllon. It is unclear if
these recommendations or any subsequent recommendations will have any impact on our ability to borrow using repuschase
agreements of increase the cost of borrowing under these agreements.

Dividends

As a REIT, we arce required to distribute to our shaseholders amounts equal to at least 90% of our REIT axable income
for cach taxable year afler consideration of our tax NOL carryforwards. We generally fund our dividend distributions through our
cash flows from operations. [ we make dividend distributions in excess of our operating cash flows during the period, whether
for purposcs of mecting our REIT distribution requirements or other sirategic reasons, those distributions are generally funded
cither through our existing cash balances or through the retum of principal from our investments (cither through repayment or
sale). Asof December 31, 2012, we had an estimated NOL carryfoward of $135.9 million. We may utilize our NOL carryforward
to ofifsct our REIT distribution requirements, subject fo limitations as discussed further below. This would alhow us to retain capital
arct increase our liguidity by reducing or climinating our dividend payout 1o common sharcholders.

Ax a result of our common stock offering in February 2012, we have incurred an “ownership change™ under Section 382,
In general, if 2 company incurs an ownership change under Section 382, the company's ability to utilize an NOL carryforward 1o
offset its taxable income {(and, in our case, afier taking the REET distribition requirements into account) becomes limited to &
certain amount per year. For purposes of Section 382, an ownership change oocurs if over a rolling three-year period, the perceniage
of the company stock owned by 5% or greater shareholders has iocreased by more than 50 percentage points over the lowest
percentage of common stock owmed by such sharebolders during the three year period. Based on management's anslysis and expert
third-party advice, which necessarily includes certain assumptions regarding the characterization under Section 382 of our use of
capital raised by us, we determined that the ownership change under Section 382 will limit our ability to use our NOL carryforward
to offset our taxable income to an estimated maximum amount of'$ 1 3.4 million per year. The NOL carryforward expires substantially
beginning in 2020, '

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual oblipgations by payment due date as of December 31, 2012:

famaints i thonsands) Payments doe by period
Contraciual Ohllglﬂou:‘" Total < | yesr 1-3 years 3.5 years > K years
Securitization financing ! 30974 10,767 12,283 4,539 3.385
Total $ 3596138 § 31575754 § 12366 § 4581 % 3415
e e R ]

(h Awrownts presented exelnde lnterest on the retated obligarions.

2 Represents financing that & non-recourse 1o us as the debe is payable solely from loons and securittes plodged ax
collateral. Puayments due by perfod wene extimared based on the principal repeyments forecasted for the wnderlying loos
and securities, sibytamiially ol of which is wsed o vepay the assaclated financing ontstanding.
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in addition, we had contractual commitments under interest rawe swap agreements as of December 3, 2012, These
agreements were for a total notional amount of $1.462.0 million, had a weighted average rate of |1.53% and a weighted average
teem of 41 months,

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012, we do nut believe that any ofl-balance sheet arrangements exist that are reasonably tikely o
have & material effect on our current or future financial condition, results of operations, liquidity of capital resources.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Please refer to Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidmed Financial Statemnents for information on recent accounting updates
1 the ASC which haye been issued bt are not yet effective.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Cenain written statemens in this Annual Report on Form 10K that are not historical facts constiwue "forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the 1933 Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Statements in this repon
addressing espectations, assumptions. beliels. projections, furure plans and strasegies, future events, developments that we expect
or anticipate will occur in the future, and future operaling results are forward-looking statements. Forwand-looking statements
are based upon management's beliefs, assumptions. and expectations as of the daie of this repont regarding future events and
operating performance, taking into account all information currently available 1o us, and are applicable only as of the date of this
report. Forward-looking siatements generally can be identified by use of words such as “believe”, “expect”, "amicipate”,
“estimate”, “plan™ “may™, “will”™, “intend”, “should”, “could” or similar expressions. We caution readers not to place undue
reliance on our forward-looking statements, which are not historical facts and may be based on projections, assumptions,
capectations. and anlicipated events that do not materialize. Except as required by law, we are not obligated to, and do not intend
1o, update or revise any forward-looking statemem whether as a result of new information, fituse events, of otherwise.

We make forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K regarding:

* Our husmess and investment strategy including our sbility to generate acceptable nsk-adjusted returns;

*  Our financing and hedging strategy, including our larget leverage ratios and onticipated trends in financing costs;

= Our investment portfolio composition and targe! myestments:

«  Ourinvestiment portfolio performance, including the forr value, yields, and forecasied prepayment speeds ol our
investment ponfolic;

< Our hiquidity and ability 10 access financing, and the anticipated avatlability and cost of financing:

*  Our use of and restrictions on ysing oar tax NOL carmvfowand;

*  The status of pending lingatson;

*  Estimales of future inferest expenses refated 1o the Company™s derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

¢ The status ol regulston nile-making or review processes and the status of reform effons in the repurchase
agreement financing market:

»  Market, industcy and economic tnends; and

= intevest mtes.

Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 10 risks, uncertainties and other factoss that could cause our actua!
rexults to differ matenially from hastorical results or from any results expressed or srplied by such forward-looking statements. Not
ol of these nsks and other factors are known 10 us, New risks and uncertainties anse over time, and it is nat possible 1o predict
those events or how they moy affect us. The projections. assumptions, expectations or beliefs upon which the farward-looking
statements are based can also change as a resubt of these risks or other factoes. 11 such a nsk or ather factor materalizes i fiure
peniods., our business, linancinl condition, liguidity and results of operations may vary materially from those expressed or impled
in our forward-lookimg stalements.



While it is not possible to idemily all factors, some of the Mctors that may cause actual results w differ from historicsl
results or from any resulis expressed or implied by forward-looking statements, or that may cawse our projections, assumptions,
expectations or beliefs to change, include the following:

¢ the risks and uncenainties referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31,
2011, particularly those set forth under ltem 1A, “Risk Factors™,

*  our ability 1o find suilable retnvesiment opporiunities;

« changes in economic conditions;

»  chanpes in interest rates and interest rate spreads, including the repricing of interest~carning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities;

*  pur invesiment porifolio performance particulsrly as it relates to cash flow, prepayment rates and credit
performance;

»  adverse reactions in financial markets related 0 the budgel deficit or national debt of the United Stales

government, potential or aciual default by the United States government on Treasury securities; and potential

or actual downgrades 1o the sovereign credit rating of the United States;

the cost and availability of financing:

the cogt and availability of new equity capital;

chanpes in our use of leverage:

the quality of performance of third-party servicer providers of our loans and loans underlying our securities;

the leve! of defaults by borrowers on loans we have securitized:

changes in our industry;

increased competition;

changes in government regulations affecting our business;

changes in the repuschase agreement financing markets and other credit markets;

government initiatives o support the 1S financial system and U.S. housing and real estate markets;

GSE reform or other government policies and actions; and

ownership shifts under Section 382 that further limil the use of our tax NOL. carryforward,

- - - L L] » - » - - L 4 -

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE PISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We strive 10 manage various risks inherent in our business strategy. which include interest rate, prepayment, reinvestment,
market value, credin, and liquidity risks. We do not seek 10 avoid risk completely, but rather, we mtiempt 10 mannge these risks
while carning an scoeptable risk-adjusted retum for owr sharehoiders,

Interest Rate Risk

Investing in interest-rale sensitive investments on a leveraged basis subjects us o interest rne sk, Interest rate risk ariscs
primarily because of the mismatch between intersst-rate reset dates or maturity of our sssets and our liabilitics during a specified
period. The costs of our borrowings are generlly based on prevailing market rates and reset more frequently than inlerest rales
on our assets. In addition, our adjustable rite asscts may have limits or caps on the amount that an interest rate may reset while
our habilitics do not bave rste reset caps. During 8 peniod of rising mierest rates (particularly short term rates), our borrowing
costs will increase Tnster than our asset yickds, negatively impacting our net inlerest income, The amoumm of the impact will depend
on the composition of pontfolio and on the effectiveness of our hedge instrarnents af the time, as well as the magnitude and twe
durmtion of the increase in interess rates.  Rising interest tates will also negatively impact the market value of our investments
which reduces our book value. See "Market Value Risk™ below For further discussion of the risks 10 the market value of our
investments.,

W attempl 1o manage our exposure Lo changes 1o interest rales by investing in instruments that have shorter maturities
or inkerest resct dates, enlering into hedging transactions and by mansging our imvestment portiolio within interest rie risk tolevanoes
st by our Board of Directors, Our current goal 15 10 maintain a net portfolio duration (n measure of interest rate risk) within a
range of 0.5 10 1.5 years. Our portfolio durstion has drifled outside of our target range st various imes due 1o changes in morket
conditions, changes in actual or expected prepayment rates og our investments, changes in interest rates, changes in market specads,
and mcrivity in our mvestment portfolio. In addition, duration is driven by model inputs, ond in the case of Agency RMBS, thwe
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mos1 important inpns inchide anticipated peepayvment speeds.  Estimates of prepayment speeds can vary significantly by investor
for the same security and therefore estimates of security and portfolio duration can vary significantly.

We will wse imlerest rate swaps o help manage our interest rate visk and, where practical. we will attempt 1o fund out
assets with linancings that have similar terms as the relsted investments. Since interest rate swaps fix the raie of interest for the
notional amount of the swap, such instruments generatly result in interest savings in a rising interest rate environment when the
curreit market interest rate we receive on the swap (which generally is egual 10 one-month LIBOR) rises higher than the stated
fined rate we pay on the notional amount for esch interest rate swap agreement. Altematively, a declining or stable interest rate
environment generally results in interest expense equal 10 the difference between the siated fixed rawe we pay less the current
markel interest rate we receive.

Our adjustable rate investmems have interest rates which are predominanty based onupon six-month and one-year LIBOR
and contain periodic (or interim) and lifetime interest rawe caps which limit the amoant by which the inlerest rate may reset on the
investment. The following table peesents information about the lifetime and inderim interest rate caps on our adjusiable-rate Agency
MBS ponfolio as of December 31, 2012 {which totaled $2.6 billion):

Lifetime Interest Rate Caps Interim Interest Rate Caps
% of Totsl % of Tatal
9.0% 10 10.0% TN LM T 0%
1 1o 114% 1R0% 24 13.9%
>110% o 12 1% 4% 5.0%-6.0% sy nlh i 85.6%
100.0% 100.0%:

Effect of Chariges v Interest Beles e Net Interest Incame and Murker Value. The whle belm shows the sensitivity of
vut proyectod net interest income and the projocted market value of o investenents (For those carriod at fair value on our balancee
sheet, inciuding all interest rate swage) as they cvisted as of Decernber 31, 2012 based on an instantancous paralle] shaft in masket
mterest rates as set forth in the table. The "percentage change in projected net intercst income” amd the “percentage change in
projected market value™ included in the table below arc hased on the projecied net interest income on and projecied market value
of the investment partfolio over the next twenty -toor (24) months Apant from the changes in interest rates, the net interest income
prigections nre based upon a variety of other assumptions ixcluding investmen prepaymens speeds, credit porformance, market
credit spreads, and the availability of financing over the projected period.  The peojections for market value are based on the same
assumptions us projected net interest meome exseept they do not not assume any change in market crodit spreads,

The tble below assumes a static portioho and does not consider any reinvestmes or rebalancing of the investiment
portfolio or ndditsonal hedging activity by the Company. Changes in types of investrents, changes in future interest mtes, changes
i oredit spreads. changes in the shape of the yield curve, the availability of financing sad’or the mix of our investments and
financings may cause actual results to differ significantly from the modeled results. In addition, given the ow interest rate
enviremment existing as of Deoember 31, 2002, the impact of increasing interest rutes on market expectations of fudure changes
1 terest rates may cause declines in the markes value of our investments {from widening credit spreads) that are not modeled in
the table below. Other factons will also impact the table below, such as whether we raise additional capital or change our investment
allocations or strategics. Accordingly. interest incoame may differ from that shown below, and such difference may be material.
There can be no assurance that assumed events used for the maodel below will oocur, or that other events will pot occur, that will
affect the outcomes; theretore, the tables below and all reluted disclosures constitte forward-looking statements.

i
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December 31, lllll

l’ml-ﬁ change in o Percentage change in -
Basls Point Cmg In Interest Rates prejected pet Interest income’ projected market valoe
+100 ¥)
+50 . (0.81%
0 ' :
-50
=100

M Inchudes changes i interest expense frou the financings for our brwestments as well as onr derivative instruments,
N Inctudes changes in market valie of our investmwnts and derivative Instraments, but excludes changes in market value
of our financings becanse they are vof carried af fair wilue on our bolance sheet.

Prepayment and Reinvestment Risk

Prepayment risk is the risk of an early, unscheduled retumn of principal on an investment. We are subject 10 prepayment
risk from premiums paid on investments which we acquire. In general, purchase premiums on our investments are amortized as
8 reduction in interest income using the effactive yield method under GAAP. adjusted for the actual and anticipated prepayrent
activity of the investment. An increase in the actual or expected rate of prepayment will typically accelerate the amonization of
purchase premiums, thereby reducing the yieldfinterest income earned on such assets.

Prepayment risk results from both our RMBS and CMBS investments. Loans underlying our CMBS and CMBS 10
wecurities generally have some form of prepayment protection provisions (such as prepayment lock-ouls) of prepayment
compensation provigions {such as yield maintenance or prepayment penalties). Without these prepayment profection provigions,
prepayment risk on CMBS 10 would be particularly acute as the investments are all premium. Yield maintenance and prepayment
penalty requirements are intended to create an economic disincentive for the loans 10 prepay; however, theamount of the prepayment
penahty required to be paid may decline over time, and a5 boans age, interest rates decling, or market valuss of collateral supporting
the loan increase, prepaymend penaltics may lessen as an economic disincentive (o the borrower over time. Genemlly ourexpericnce
has been that prepayment lock-out and yick maintenance provisions result in stable prepayment performance from period to period.
There arc no prepaymen protections, however, if the loan defauhs and the loan is partially or wholly repaid carficr as a result of
loss mitigation actions taken by the underlying loan servicer. Historically, our default experience on loans in CMBS and CMBS
10 has been relatively low. Delinguencies as of the last reported date arc less than 1% for cur CMBS 10 securities.

Loans underdying our RMBS do not have any specific prepayment protection. All of the loans underlying our RMBS are
ARMs or Hybrid ARMs. Prepayments on these loans accelerate in a declining rate environmend and as they near their initial reset
date. Our prepayment models anticipale acocleration of prepayments in these events. To the extent the actual prepayments exceed
our modeled prepayments, or it we change our future prepaymem cxpectations, we will record adjustments 1o our premium
amortization which msy negatively impact our net interest income and could impact the market value of our RMBS.

Principal prepayments on our investments are influenced by changes in market interest rales and a varicty of cconomic,
geographic, and other factors beyond our control. In addition, actions taken by the LS. government could increase prepayments
as discussed in "Trends and Recent Market Impacts™ in liem 7 of Part 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012,

The following table dischoses the net premium (discount) by months until interest rate reset as well as the net premium
(discount) as a perceniage of par value (or notional value in the case of CMBS 10) for Agency and non-Agency MBS in our
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mvestient poetfolio as of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2041

famenents it thonsends) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
el st oo treraaad e

Agency: RMBS CMBS CMBS 10O RMAS CMBS 10

0-12 months to reset $ AsHYS S TETE g S R

Greater than 12 months to resct 101,505

Fixed rate () msiT 0 SSOMYE . am o AT 86a8
Total premium, net S 137167 5 13517 § 550,171 S BSATY $ 2627 §  B6ISE
Premium, net as 8 % of par value $7 % 7.7 % 5.5% 57 % 1% 4.8%
Non-Agency:

0-12 months to resct $ 0 (W06) 8 - 1§ — § (540) § o 4 -
CGireater than 12 months to reset — — —_— — — _
Fixed ratc G U1y Je8E (463 (13,86%) 31,39
Toxa! {discount} premium, net S (781) & (IT313) S J0R92R 0§ (L0O}) § (13865) § 51239
Par/notional batance S AL S 463HT 32393614 S 17019 § 359851 5 906202

{Discounm) premium, net as a %
of par value {6.81% (3.7 4.6% (5.91% {3.984 5.7%

We seek to0 manage our prepayment risk by diverxifying our investments, seeking investments which we believe will have
superiof prepayment performance, and investing in securities which have some sort of prepayment prohibition or yield maintenance
{ax is the cage with CMBS and CMBS IO

We are aleo subject to reinvestment risk as a result of the prepayment. repayment or sale of our investments. Yieids on
sxxets in which we invest now are generally lower than yields on existing assets that we may sell or which may be repaid. due to
lower overnll interest rates and more competition for these as investment assets. As a resubt, our inferest income may decline in
the future, theveby reducing eamings per share. In onder to maintain our investment portfolio size and our eamnings. we need to
reinvest our capital into new interest-caming assets. [f we are unable to find suitable reinvestment opportunities, iMerest income
on aur investiment portfolio and investment cash flows coukd be negatively impacted.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the nisk that we will not receive all comtractual smounts due on myvestments that we own due to defauht by
the bostower oF due to a defickency in proceeds from the hiquidation of the collateral securing the obligation. We are also exposed
to credit risk on investments that we own #t a premium.  For investments owned at premivms. defisults on the underlying loan
typically result in the complete Joss of any remaining unamortized premium we paid.

We attempd to mitigate our credit risk by purchasing Agency MBS and higher quality non-Agency MBS,  Agency MBS
have credit risk to the extent that Fannie Mac or Freddic Mac fails 10 remit payments on the MBS for which they have issued a
guaranty of payment. Given the conservatorship of these entities and the continued support of the U S, government, we believe
this nisk s low. For our non-Agency MBS, we will generally only purchase securities 'A'-rated or better by 1 least one of the
nutionally recognized statistical ratings organizations, with the concentration of these securities being mted 'AAA". For securities,
such as CMBS {05, where wie have & higher premium at risk, we seck to invest in securitics where we are comfortable with the
credit profile of the boans underlying the secunity.

The following table presents information on our mon- Ageney MBS by credit rating as of December 31, 2012
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December 31, 2002

feemsosunts iy thonsandy)

AAA

AA i
Below A of not rated . 2.4%;

With respect 1o our securitized mortgage boans, these loans are well-seasoned, thereby lowerning our average loan-1o-value
{“LTV") ratio and decreasing our risk of loss, Onher effons to mitigate credit risk include maintaining s risk management funcuon
that monitors and oversees the performance of the servicers of the morigage loans, as well az providing an allowance for boan loss
as required by GAAFR

Market Valwe Risk

Market value risk generally represents the risk of Joss from the change in the value of a financial instrument due 1o
Muctustions in interest rates and changes in the perceived rigk in owning such financial instrumemt. Securities in our investment
porifolio are reflected at their estimated fair value, with the difference between amortized cost and ¢stimated fair value reflected
in accumuliaied other comprehensive income if the securities are deemed available for sale, or fair value, net in our siatement of
operations il the securities are viewed as trading. Regardiess of how the investment is carried in our (inancial statements, we will
monitor the change in its market value. In particular, we will monitor changes in the value of investments collateralizing our
repurchase agreements for liquidity management and other purposes, including mainiaining appeopriate collmeral marging. The
fair value of our securities Misctuntes primarily due W changes in interest rates, changes in credit spreads (which represent the
markets valuation of the perceived rigkiness of assets relative 1o risk-free raies), changes in actual prepaymenis or expecied
prepayments, the perceived liquidity of the investment, and other factors.  We attempt to manage market value risk by managing
our exposure 10 these factors (although we do not actively attempl to manage market value risk from changes in credii spreads).
For example, the types of derivative instruments we are curmently using (o hedge the imerest raies on our debt tend 10 increase in
value when our invesiment portiolic decreases in value, although not & one-to-one correlation. See the anatysis in the “Interest
Rate Risk”™ section above, which presenis the estimated change in our portfolio given changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity Risk

We have liguidity risk principally from the use of recourse repurchase agreements (o finance our ownershipofsecuritics. In
general, our repurchase agreemenis provide a source of uncommitted short-term financing that finances 8 longer<term asset, thereby
creating 8 mismatch between the maturity of the asset and of the associaied financing. Our repurchase agreements are rencwable
at the discretion of our lenders and do not contain guarantecd roll-over terms.  we fail to repay the lkender at maturity, the lender
has the right to immediately scil the coliateral and pursue us for any shontfall it the sales proceeds are inadequate to cover the
repurchase agreement financing. In addition, repurchase agreements are collaieral based and declines in the market value of our
investments subject us to hiquidity risk.

For further information, including how we stienpt 1o mitigate liquidity risk and recent developments with respect to our

liquidity position, please refer to "Executive Overview™ and "Liquidity and Capital Resources™ in Item 7 of Part 11 to this Annual
Report en Form 10K for the vear ended December 31, 2011,

ITEM B, FIRANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consoludated financial statements and the related notes, together with the Repons of the Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thercon, are se1 forth on pages F-1 through F-32 of this Annual Report on Form 10K,



ITEMS. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Dasclosure Controls and Procedures

Qur management evaluated, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, the
effectivencss of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(¢). as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on that evaltuation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finsncial Officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2042 (o ensure that information required to be disclosed
in the reporis that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized snd reported, within the time
periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such infommation is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appeopriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal contrel over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2012
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely 1o materially affect, our internal contrel over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Orur management i responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rule | 3a-15(0) of the Exchange Act. Because of inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial repocting
may mot prevent or detect misstatements, Alxo, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 1o future periods ire subject o the
nisk that controls muy become snadequate due to chwnge m conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedurex
may detenonite.

Uur munagement evalunted, with the participatson of our pnncipal executive officer and poncipal fimancial officer, the
effectiveness of our wiernal control over financial reparting using the criteria set forth by the Comminee of Sponsonng
Chrganizations of the Treadway Commission {“COSO™) m “Intermal Control-Integrated Framewaork.” Based on that evaluation,
our principsl executive officer and principal financin] officer concluded that our mtermal control over financial reporting wax
effective as of the end of the perwad covered by this repuort,

The Company s internal controd over financial reporting us of December 31, 2012 has been audited by BDO USA, LLP,
the independent regrsterad publc accountmy firm that abuo puditest the Company s conselidnted financial statements included in
this Annusl Report on Form 100K The attestation repoet of BDO USA, LLPon the effectiveness of the Company s internal controd
over financiul reporting appears on page F-4 herein.

ITEM 9B, OTHER INFORMATION

None,

Ol



FART LI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information about our exceutive officers required by this item is included in Pant 1, Ttom I of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Dfficers of the Registramt”™. The remaining information required by Item [0 will be
included in our definitive proxy statement for usc in connection with our 2013 Annual Mreting of Sharcholders (*2013 Proxy
Statement™) under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Committees of the Board,” “Code of Ethics™ and “Scction 16(a) Benclicial
Ownership Reporting Compliance.” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 1. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by hem ] will be included in the 2013 Proxy Statement under the captions “Compensation
Cemmitice,” *Exccutive Compensation™ and “Dircctors’ Compensation,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2012, with respect to the Company ’s equity compensation
plans, under which shares of our common stock are authorized for issuance.

Number of Securities  Weighted-Averspe Number of Securities

to Be Issued u Excreise Priccofl  Remaining Available for
Exercise Outstanding Future Issusnce Under
Outstanding Opdonsa Optiens, Warrsats  Equity Ce sation
Warranh and Rights ™ and Rights !

Equity Cempeasatisn Plans Approved by
holders:

2009 Stock nnd Incentive Plan 1.805.276
Total 15,000 S 981 505,276

L
(1) Arrowni includes alf outstanding stock opvion awards, bt excldes all outstonding xtock appreciation righis. which can anly
e settled for cash,
(2 Reflects shares availabic to be grovicd under the 2009 Stock and fucentive Plan in the form of stack oplions, stock appreciation
rights, stock awards, dividend equivatent rights, performance share awands, stock unitx and incentive awands. No new awards
miery he issied wnder the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan effective May 13, 2009,

{3 The Compary does not have any equity compensation plans that bave nat been approved by sharchalders.

The remaining information required by lem 12 will be included bn the 2013 Proxy Statement under the caption “Ownership
of Stock™ and is incorporated herein by reference,

ITEM 13. CERYAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENCENCE

The information required by e 13 will be included in the 2013 Proxy Statement under the captions “Related Person
Transactions”™ and “Director Independence,” and is incorporsied herein by reference,

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by 1tem 14 will be included in the 2013 Proxy Statement under the caption “Audit Informution.”
and s incorporatied herein by reference.
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by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 to Dynex’s chlsimmn Sunmm on Form 8-A filed August |, 2012).

,mwmwmum

'Dynex C apml lm 2004 Sloc& lncmw: Flan Qnuxupovsmd herein by rcfmncc to h.h:bu 10.1 to Dynex’s
Annual Report on Form 1K for the vear ended December 31, 2004).

Fofm of Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Dynex Capitsl, Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated herem by reference 1o Exhibit 10.2 1o Dynex s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) for
the quaner ended June 30, mn

Severance Agm:mcm b&ucw Dynex Capital, |m and ‘itvphm kN Benadctu dated Jum: H 2004 (mwrpumled
herein by reference 1o Exhibit 1005 1o Dynexs Anrivat Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
07y

mﬂ.m w0 Sevme Aw baml)ymml. Inc. mdamepben 2 R Bmdeui, dated

Drynes C apund !m «ml{k) ()vcrﬂtm Plnn fective July 1, 1997 (incorporstied herein by nfcncrm:e o Fxh:hn
IIJ Tw Dym:x s Quartcﬂy chun on I orm HN} forttu: qumv mﬂed Mm*h 3l. .mac}

Dyu:xl apital, ing, zumsm und incecmw l'lm.eﬁemx erasoany !3 M{mmpomtd hmnbytefcmcc
to Appemhx A 1o Dynex's Proxy Stsement filed Apnl 3, 009;

weat Agieement, dated as of July 31, 200

Equity Distnbution Agreement betwoen Dynex Capital, Inc. and JMP Sccurities LLC. dated June 24, 2010
{tneorporated erein by referenee 1o Exhibat 10,14 10 Dypex's Current Repont on Form K-K (iled Junc 24, 2008,

63



Number
10,141

10 |6t

1017+
j0.(8*

10.19

1020

10.21

10.24

1025

2u
23.1
k1N

312

321

m

(by

{c)

Hxhigix
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Undwmm,gA reement, dated July 25, 2012, by mdmmg Dynex Capital, Inc., .l P Mo Securities
LLC, Barclays (is{mal Inc. and Jefleries & C lnc (incorporated herein by nfcrmce to Exhibit 1.1 10
DymsCmﬂ chan on me 84& mcd July 30, 20 1.
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National Association Qinmpmwd herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Dynex's Current Report on Form

B-K ﬁledAugm g, 20t2)
&, b

mﬁmtm of pmmpnﬂ v::wmmw uﬂiccr pursaant 1o Scmun 30" nl‘ lbc ‘iubanm}xlcy Act of 2002 (I'lbcd
with)

Centification of principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 { herewith).

* Denotes management contract.
Exhibits; Sece ltem 15{a}3) sbove.

Finanginl Swement Schedules; None.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or | S{d) of the Sceuriticos Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly cansed
this report o be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thercunto duly authorized.

March 7. 2013

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC,
{Registrant}

fs/ Stephen J. Benedetti

Stephen J. Benedetti, Executive Viee President, Chicfl
Operating Officer and Chief Financial Oflicer

Pursuant 1o the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persors. on behalf of the registrant and in the capacitics and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s Thomas B. Akin

Thomas B. Akin

's Byron L. Baston

Byron L. Boston

‘s Stephen J. Benedetti

Stephen 1. Benedetti

& Jefrey L. Chuldress

Jeffrey L. Childresx

% Michae! R. Hughes

Michael R, Hughes

% Barry A Igdslol}

Harry A, Igdalofl

/¢ Damed K. Oshome

Dansel K. Osbome

w Jamwes © Whent, 11}

James C. Whea, 111

Tide Datx
Chairman, Chiel Exceutive Officer March 7, 2113
and Director

{Principal Exccutive Officer)

President, Chicf Investment Officer, and  March 7, 2043
Disector

Execitive Vice President, Chief Operating  March 7, 2013
Oficer and Chief Financial Officer

{Principal Financial Officer)

Vice Pressdent and Controller March 7, 2013
(Princopal Accoumting Officer)

Divector March 7, 2013
Direcion March 7, 2013
Director March 7, 2013
Directanr March 7, 2043
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Report of Independent Registered Pablic Acconnting Firm

Board of Directers and Stockholders

Dynex Capital, Inc.
Gilen Atlen, Virginia

Wi have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dynex Capital, Inc. (Dynex) as of Decenber 31, 2012 and 2011
and the related consolidated statements of incame and comprehensive income, sharcholders” equity, and cash flows for cach of thw
three years in the period ended December 31, 2012, These financial statemcents are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statemems based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the stanvdards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards roquire that we plan and perform the audit to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are frec of material misstatement. An aadit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amousis and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managemont, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement peesentation. We belicve that our andits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred 1o above poesent fairly, in all matcrial respects, the financial position
of Dynex at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the resubts of its operations and its cash flows for cach of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepeed in the United States of America.

We aiso have sudited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Acocounting Oversight Board (United Staws),
Dynex's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on eriteria established in Ivernal Coutrod -

Iniegrened Framework issued by the Committes of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0) and our report
dated March 7, 2013 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

BDO USA. LLP
Richmoml. Virginia

March 7, 2013



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Dvaes Capatad loe,
Glen Allen, Virginia

We have audited Dynex Capital, Inc s {Dynex ) intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, basod on criteria
established in Mternal Covtrad - Integrated Framework issued by the Comaittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission {the COSO criteria). Dynex's management is responsible for maintaining effective imemal control over financial
reporting and for s assessment of the effectiveness of internal controd over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
e 9A. Manapement’s Repont on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting . Qur respoasihility is to express an opinion on the
company’s internal control over financial reporting hased on our audis.

We conducted our sdit in sccondance with the standands of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unind States).
Those standards reguire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether cffective intemal control
vver finaawial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our awdit included obtaining an understanding of intemal control
ovet financial reporting, assessing tw risk thar a matenial weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of intemal control based on the ussessed risk. Our audit also inchuded performing such other procedures as we
considened necessary in the circunmastances. We believe that our audit peovides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonahle assurance reganding the reliability
of financisl reporting and the preparation of financial statements For external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
socounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting inchades those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maimenance of reconds that, in reasonable detait, accurately and fairly refloct the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company. {2) provide reasonable assuranoe that transactions are reconded as necessany to permit pecparation of financial
statemems in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company arc
being made only in acvordanes with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assyrance regarding prevention or timely detection of unaithonized sequisition, use, o disposttion of the company’s assets that
could have u material cffisct on the nancial statements

Bevause of its inherent lioatatons, mtemal control aver financial seporting may no? prevent oF detect misstatements. Abse,
privections of any evaleation of effectiveness 1o future penods are subject to the sk that controls may become inasdequate bocause
of changes in condations, or thig the degroe of complinnee with the policses or procedures may deteriomte

In our opmicn. Dynea maimaimed. inabl matenial espects, offective internial control over linancial reperting ss of December 31,
2032, hased on the COS0 criteria

W abser have audrted, i accordance with the standurds of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States), the
consolsdated balace sheets of Dvpex as of Decomber 35, 2002 and 2011, and the relnted consolidatod statements of income and

comprehensave income, stockholders” eguity, and cash flows for cach of the three years n the period ended Decvmber 31, 2042
andt our repont dmied March 7, M1 3 expressed an ungualifiod opinon thervon

BORO USA, LLP

Richrvomt, Vinginia
Murch 7, 2013
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DYNKEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
famonnts in thousardy except shary dato)

December 31,2012 December 31, 2011

ASSETS
Agency MBS (inchuding pledged of $3,362,427 and $1.879,831, respectively) $° -

on-Agency MBS (including plodged of 5604,707 and $415,195, respectively)
Onher investmoenis, net

Cash and cash cquivalenis
Principal receivable on investments
Accrund interest reccivable
Otbser axsets, net
Total asscts
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Liabllities:
Repurchase agreements
Non-recourse collateralized financing
Accrucd intorest payable
Accrued dividends payable
Onher hobiliues
Total labilities
Commitments and Contingencics (Note 13)
Sharcholders® equity:
Preferred stock, par value S.01 per share, 8.5% Series A Cumulative

Redeemable; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 2,300,000 and no shares issued and
uumndm respectively (557,500 aggregate hqukhum preference)

5425' value S.legz'm 100,000,000 shares

915 and 40,382,530 shares issved and outstanding,
Addnml pmd-in capital
Accumuisied other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumbutated deficit
Tota! shareholders” equity

Total liabilities and sharehobders’ equity

See mnes 10 consolidaved financial statements,
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
famounts in thosusands exeepn por shere date)

Intcrest incomg:
Agency MBS
Non-Agency MBS
(Mher investments

Interest expense:

Repurchase agreements

Non-recourse collateralized financing

Net interest income
Provision for koan losses
Net interest income after provision for loan losses

Litigation settiernent and related costs

(Lo ) gain on non-recourse collateralized financing

Gain on sale of investments, net

Faw value adjustiments, st

Qther income, net

Gieneral and adminisirative expenses:
Compensation and benefits
Orher general and sdministrative

Net income

Preferred stock dividends

Net income 10 common shareholders

Werghted aversge common shares:

M‘

Dilued

Net income per common share:

Raswe

Dilured

[Dvubends declared per common share

Sev menes 2 corsalickaied fisaneial statements,

k-6

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 019

$ TIIet §OSsRN4 3 90
29967 18 825 13491
123 136

TR 1959 8368
1,358 4.513 7959
TR T e

(1929 (70 (1379

(173 (676) 04

{1635 (5321) . (4930)
___{s10n (4.635) (3.887)
T MpE T OWAR 3 Ba

(2.036) —_ — {3.06])
$ 72006 S 39312 § 26411

53,146

17,595
0919

5 1.50

§ 14
S 0w

s 3;35 S
S 15 s




DYNEX CAPITAL, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(awrenrits ivr thousendcy
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2818
Net income !
Other compeehensive income:

Change in fair value of available-for-sale securitics
Reclassification adjustment for gain on sale of investments, net included in

statemoent of income

Change in fair value of intérest rate swaps -

Reclassification adjustment on derivatives included in statement of income 14448
Other comprehensive income (loss) $5,766
Comprchensive income 129808
Dividends declared on preferred stock o (a0%6) B.061)
Compechensive income 1o commwn sharcholders $ 127772 8§ 26500 § 26407

SERTUEERRICCRMERTA NN

See noves to consalidnied financiol sttemens.
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

feamourmts B thousaediy
Accamulated
Other
Additional Comprrheasive
Preferred Common  Paid-in {1.053) Accamulated
Stock Stock Capital Income Delkcit Tuotal

Balance as of January [, 2010 5 4749 % 135 3 3719717 § 10,061 $

(262.913) § 168,753
Conversion of preforred shares o (4L749) - @2 a7 R N

Commeon stock issuance e 122 116,948 — —_ 117,070
Granting and vesting of restricted Al g i ed e e c e e
stock e R 60
Capitalizcd cxpenses associated — — — —

with stock issuances {128) (128)
Cumulative cffect of adoption of R R —
Net income —_— — —_ — 29472 29472
Dividends on prefemed stock e e e e (B08T) (3061)
Dividends on common stock o — — — (19817 (19817
Other comprehensive loss - = = RO . N o .
Balance as of Becember 31, 2010 e an3 538,304 10,087 (256,387) 292.3%7
Commen stock issuance — 97 95,327 _— e 95424
Granting and vesting of restricted

stock - 4 1,194 e — 1198
with siock sovances o T e T (142)
Net mcoms - — KL R 1 b 39812
Dividends oo common stock o s it o (43.988)  (43,988)
Other comprehensive loss - - (13.312) — (1332
Balunce ws of December 31, 2011 - 404 634,683 (3,25%) (260483) 371,349
Stock issuance 55.689 138 123,859 — — 179,686
Granung and vesting of restricted

stnck - 2 1,721 1723
Capitalized expenses associated (282) . - {129 _— - 4D
with stk issusnces -, : : : ' e e R
Commwon stock repurchased ib {920 92h
Net income — — L — - 74042 74042
[hvideods on profemmed stock {2,036) (2.036)
Dividends on common stock o _— L= {62ABE) - (62488)
Onhier comprehensive income

Balsnace ax of December 31, 2012

Sve entes to the consefidated fingncial stevemeris
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

farrrenonis G thousesndsy
For thc Year Endod
December 3,
2012 2011 2010
Opcrnting activitices:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile not incomo to cash provided by operating activities:
Increasc (decreasc) in accrucd interest payablc T30
Gain on sale of investments, net (8.461) {2.096) {2.89! )
Loss {gain) on non-recourse collsteralizod financing )
Fair value adjustments, net
Amortization and depreciation
Stock-based compensation expense
Cash payments on stock sppreciation rights
Net change in other asscis and other labilitics

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by operaling activitics

Investing activithes:

Purchase of investments

Principal payments reocived on investments

{Increase) decrease in principal receivable on investments

Proceeds from sabes of investments

Principal payments received on securitized mongage loans

Other investing activities T asey 419
Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities (Te91.102)  (15.755).
Financing activities:

Deferrad bormowing costs paid (825) s -
Borrowings under non-recourse collateralized financing LTy
Princips! payments on not-recosrse collateralized financing
Cash pald 1o redeens securitization financing bonds

Proceeds from issuance of preferved stock

Proceeds from issusnce of common stock

Cash paid for common stock repurchase

Dividends paid

Net cosh and cash equivalents provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalends

Cuash anvd cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalems at end of period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Activity:
Cash paid for intevest

See mnes 10 consolidated financial statements,




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
ferntemtenss i thonsamdy except shame end per shore duto)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dynex Capital, Inc. and sts qualificd real cstate investment trust
{"REIT”) subsidiarics and its taxable REIT subsidiary {together, *Dynex™ or the “Company™) have been prepared in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP™} and the insiructions to the Annual Repon on
Form 10-K and Article 3 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the Sceurities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™),

Cenain items in the prior ycars' consohdated financial statemenis have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
preseatation. The Company’s consolidated statements of income for the vears ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010
now present “interest income: cash and cash cquivalents” together with “interest income: other investments™. These preseniation
changes have no cffect on repornied total assets, toual Liabilitics, results of operations, or cash flow activities.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its qualificd REIT subsidiarics and is taxable
REIT subsidiary. The consolidated financial stastements represent the Company's accounts afler the climination of inlercompany
balances and transactions. The Company consolidatcs cndities in which it owns more than S0% of the voting equity and controd
doces not rest with others and variable inkerest entitics in which it is determined to be the primary beneficiary in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC™) Topic 810-10. The Company
follows the equity method of sccouniing for investments with greater than a 20% and less than 50%; intercst in partneeships and
corporate joint ventures or when it is able 1o influence the financial and eperating policies of the investoe but owns bess than 5%
of the voting oquity. As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company did not have any investiments in which it
owned less than a 50P¢ interest in the voting equity

In acvordence with ASC Topic 810-10, the Company also consolidates oertain trusts through which it has seouritiocd
mortgage oass. Additional information regarding the accounting policy for securiized mongage loans is provided below under
“Investmenis”™.

Use of Estimates

The prepamstion of {inancaal staterments inconformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and sssumpliors
that aftect the reported amounts of assets and lisbilities and the disclosure of comtingent assets and Babilities ol the date of the
(inoncial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported penod. Actual results could
differ from those ¢stimates. The most significant estimates used by management include but are not limited to fair value
measurcrments of its ivesiments, allowance for loan bosses, other-than-lemporary impainments, commitments snd contingencics,
and arnortization of premiums and discounts. These iems are discussed Turther below within this note 1o the consolidated financial
statements

Federal Income Taxes

The Company believes it has complicd with the sequirements for qualification as a REIT under the Iniernal Revenuc
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). As such, the Company believes that it qualifics as 3 REIT for federal income tax purposcs,
and it generally will not be subject to foderal income tax on the amount of itg income or gain that is distributed as dividonds 10
sharcholders. The Company uses the calendar year for bothax and financial reponing purposes.  These may bo differenocs between
taxable income and income compuied in scoordance with GAAR

Cash and Cash Equivalenis
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Cash and cash squivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or bess,

Investiments
The Company s investments include Agency MBS, non-Agency MBS, securitized mortgage loans, and other investments.

Agency MBS. The Company accounts for its investment in Agency MBS in accordance with ASC Topic 320, which
requises that investments in debt and equity securities be designated as either “held-to-maturity,” “available-for-sale™ oc “wading™
a1 the time of acquisition. As of December 31, 2012, the majority of the Company’s Agency MBS are designated as availsble-for-
sale (or "AFS”) with the remainder designated as irading. Although the Company generally intends to hold its available-for-sale
securities until maturity, it may, from time to fime, sell any of these securities as part of the overall management of its business. The
available-for-sale designation provides the Company with this flexibility,

All of the Company's Agency MBS are recorded at their fair value on the consolidated balance sheet. In accordance with
ASC Topic 820, the Company determines the fair value of its Agency MBS based upon prices obtained from a third-party pricing
service and broker quotes. The Company‘s application of ASC Topic 820 guidance is discussed further in Note 10. Changes in
the fair value of Agency MBS designated as trading are recognized in net income within “fair value adjustments, net”. Gains
(logses) realized upon the sale, impainment, of other disposal of a trading security are alzo recognized within “fair value adjustments,
net”. Alemnatively, changes in the fair value of Agency MBS designated as available-for-sale ane reparted in other comprehensive
income ax unrealized gaing (losses) until the security is collected, disposed of, or determined to be other than temporarily
impaired. Upon the sale of an available-for-sale security, any unrealized gain or loss is reclassified oum of accumulated other
comprehensive income (“AOCI") into net income as & realized “gain (loss) on sale of investments, net” using the specific
wentification method,

The Company accounts for its investment in pon-Agency MBS in accordance with ASC Topic 320, As
of December 31 21112 all of the Company's non-Agency MBS are designated as available-for-sale and are recarded at their fair
value on the consolidated halance sheet.  Changes in fair value are reported in other comprehensive income until the security is
collected, disposed of, or determined (o be other than temporarily impaired. Like Agency MBS, the Company generally intends
to hold its investments in non-Agency MBS until maturity. but it may, from time to time sell any of these securitics as part of the
overall management of its business. Upon the sale of an available-for-sale security, any unsealized gain or Joss is reclassified out
of AOC! into net income as a realized “gain (loss) on sale of investments, net™ using the specific identification method.

in accordance with ASC Topic 820, the Company determines the fair value for the majority of its non-Agency MBS based
upon prices obtained from a third-party pricing service and broker quotes. The remainder of the non-Agency MBS are valued by
discounting the estimated future cash flows derived from cash flow models that wilize information such as the security s coupon
rate, estimated prepayment speeds, expected weighted average life, collaters! composition, estimated future intercst mtes, expected
losses. credit enhancement, as well as certain other relevant information. The Company’s application of ASC Topic 820 guidance
is discussed further in Note 10,

V porg irmegny, The Company cvaluates all MBS in its investment portfolio for other-than-temporary
mtpurmcmx by lppiymg thc guulanec prescribed in ASC Topic 320-10,  The Company compares the amortized cost of cach
security in an unrealized loss position against the present value of expected future cash flows of the security. If there has been 2
significant advense change in the cash flow expectations for & security resulling in the its amortized cost becoming greater than
the presemt value of its expected future cash flows, an other-than-temporary credit impairment has occurred. 1f the Company does
not intend to sell and is not more likely than not required to sell the security, the credit loss is recognized in eamings sad the batance
of the unrealized loss is recognized in other comprehensive income {loss), If the Company intends to scll the security or will be
more likely than not required 1o sell the security, the full unrealized loss is recognized in carings.

In periods after the recognition of an othev-than-temporary impairment loss for MBS, the Company shall account for the
ather-than-temporarily impaired MBS as if the MBS had been purchased on the messurement date of the other-than-temporury
impainment at an amortized cost basis equal to the previous amortized cost basis less the other-than-temporary impairmient
recognized in carmings. For MBS for which other-than-tempornary impairments were recognized in earnings, the difference between
the new amortized cost basis and the cash flows expected to be collected shall be acereted into interest income using the effective
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interest method.  The Company shall continue to estimate the present value of cash flows expected 10 be collected over the life
of the MBS, For all other MBS, if upon subsequent evaluation, there is an increase in the cash flows expecied 1o be collected or
il actual cash flows are greater than cash Mows previousty expected, such changes shall be accounted for as a prospective adjustnent
10 the accretable yield in accordance with Subtopic 31030 even if the MBS would not otherwise be within the scope of thst
Subtopic. Subsequent increases and decreases in the fair value of the MBS that are not atherdhan-temporary shall be included in
other compeehensive income.

Please see Notes 3 and 4 for additional information related o the Company's evaluation for other-than-temparary
IMPANMENIR.

Seenritized Morrgage Lowis, Securitized morigape loans congist of loans pledped 1o support the repayment of
secuntization financing bonds issued by the Company. The associated secaritization financing bonds are treated as debt of the
Company and are presented as a portion of "non-recourse collateralized financing” on the consolidated balance sheel. Inaccoedance
with ASC Topic 31010, the Company’s securitized monigage loans are reponied at amortized cost. Securitized mortgage boans
van only be sold subject 10 the lien of the respective securitization financing indenture. An allowance has been established for
currently existing and probable losses on such loans as further discussed below.

Other Investmenty. Other investments include unsecuritized single-family and commercial mortgage loans which are
carried at amortized cost in accordance with ASC Topic 310-10. An allowance tag been established for cursently exigting and
probable logses on these Joans as further discussed below.

Altonance for Loan Loxses. An allowance for boan losses has been estimated and established for currently existing and
probable loases for securitized and unsecuritized mongage loans that are considered impaired in accordance with ASC Topic
310-10 Provisions made to increase the allowsnce are charged as a curvent period expense. Commwercial mongage loans are
secured by income-producing real extate and are evaluated individually for impairment when the debt service voverage ratio on
the mortgage koan is bess than 121 or when the mortgage loan is delinquent. Commercial monigage loans not evaluated for individual
impairment are evaluated for a general allowance. Cenain of the commercial mortgage boans are covered by mongage loan
guarantees that limit the Company s exposure on these mortgage boans. Single-family mongage loans are considered homogeneous
and nre evaluated on a pool basis for 1 general allowance.

The Company considers various factors in determining its specific and geners! allowance requirements, including whether
# Joan s delinquent. the Company’s historica) experience with similar types of loans, historical cure rates of delinguent loans. and
historica] and anticipaed loss seventy of the mortgage loans as they are guidated. The factors may differ by montgage Joan type
{e.g . single-family versus commercinl b and collaterat type (.2 mubltifamily versus office property). The allowance for loun losses
is evaluated and adjusted periodically by management based on the actual and estimated timing and amount of probable credit
brsses, using the above factors. as well as industry boss expericoce

Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase agreements are treated a5 financings in accordance with the provision of ASC Topic 860 unber which the
Company pledges ity securitics as coliatersl to secure » loan, which is equal in volue 10 & specified percentage of the estimated fair
value of the pledged collateral. The Company retains beneficial ownership of the plodged collsteral. Atthe muturity of a repurchase
sgreement, the Company is required to repay the loan and concurrently receives back its pledged collateral from the lender or,
with the consent of the lender. the Company may renew the agreement at the then prevailing financing rate. A repurchase agreement
Jender may require the Company th pledge additional collaterat m the event of a decline in the fair value of the collaternl
pledged. Repurchase agreement financing is recourse to the Company and the asscts pledged. Most of the Company’s repurchase
sgreements are based on the Scptember 1996 version of the Bond Market Associstion Master Repurchase Agreement, which
generally provides that the lender, as buyer, is responsible for obtsining collateral valuations from a generslly recognized source
agreed 1o by both the Company aml the lender. or, in an instance when such source is not available, the value determination is
made by the londer,

Derivative Instruments
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The Company may enter into interest rale swap agreements, interest rate cap agreements, interest rate floor agreements,
financial forwards, financial futures and options on financial futures {“interest rate sgreements™) Lo manage is sengitivity tochanges
in interest rales. The Company acoounts for its interest rate agreements under ASC Topic 815, designating each as cither 3 cash
fow hedging position or a trading position using criteria established therein, In order 10 qualify as a cagh flow hedge, ASC Topic
§15 requires formal documentation to be prepared at the inception of the interest rate agreement that meets certain conditions, 17
these conditions are not met, an interest rate agreement will be classified as a irading position,

For interest rate agreements designated as trading positions, the Company records these instruments a4 fair value on the
Company's balance sheet in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Changes in their market value are measured a1 each reporting date
and recognized in the current period’s consolidated statement of income within “fair value adjustments, net”.

For imerest rate agreements designated as cash fMlow hedges, the Company evaluates the effectiveness of these hedges
agains the financial instrument being hedged. The eilective portion of the hedge relationship on an interest rate agreement
designated as a cash flow hedge is reporied in AOCH and is later reclassified into the consolidated statement of income in the same
period during which the hedged transaction affects eamings. The ineffective portion of such hedge i3 immediaiely reported in the
current peripd’s consolidated siaternent of income. These derivative instruments are carried at fair value on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet in accordance with ASC Topic 815. Cash posted 1o meet margin calls, if any, is included on the
consolidated balance sheet in other assets,

in the event a hedging instrument is terminated, any basis adjustments or changes in the fair value of hedges recorded in
AQCI are recognized into income or expense in conjunction with the original hedge or hedped exposure,

IT the underlying asset, liability or commiiment is sold or matures, the hedge is deemed partially or wholly inefTective,
orifthe criterion that was established al the time the hedging instrument was entered into no longer exisis, the interest rale agreement
nolonger qualifies asadesignated hedge. Under thesecincumstances, such changes inthe market value of the interest rate agreement
are recoghized in the current period's statement of income,

The Company has elected (o use the portfolio exception in ASC 820-10-35-131) with respect (o measuring couniterpany
credit nisk for derivative instruments. The Company manapes credit nisk foc its denvative positions on a counterparty-by-
counterparty basis {that is, on the basis of iis net portfolio exposure with each coumerparty), consistent with its risk management
strategy for such transactions. The Company manages credit risk by considerig indicators of risk such as credit matings, and by
negotisting terms in its ISDA master netting srrangernents and, il applicable, any sssociated Credit Suppont Annex documentation,
with esch individual counterparty. Simce the cifective date of ASC 820, management has monitored snd measured credit risk and
calculated credit valuation adjustments. for its derivative transactions on the basis of its relsionships st the coumerparty portfolio
level. Management receives reports from an independent third-party valuation specialist on a monthly basis providing the credit
valuation adjustments at the counterparty portfolio bevel for purposes of reviewing and managing its credit risk exposures. Since
the portfolio exceplion applics only 1o the fair value measurernent and not to financial statement presentation, the portiolio-level
adjusiments are then allocated in a reasonable and consistent manner cach period to the individua! assets or liabilities that make
up the group, in accordance with other applicable sccounting guidance and the Company's accounting policy clections.

Although MBS have characteristics thal meet the definition of 8 derivative instrument, ASC 815 specifically excludes
these instruments from its scope because they are accountied for as debt securities under ASC 320,

Interest Income, Premium Amortization, and Discount Aceretion

Interest income is accrued based on the outstanding principal balance {(or notional balance in the case of imerest-only, or
"10™, securities) on the Company’s investment securities amd their contractual terms.  Premiums and discounts on Agency and
non-Ageacy MBS and on loans are recognized over the expected life of the investment using the effective yicld method in rocordance
with ASC Topic 310-20. Adjustments to premium amortization are made for sctual prepayment activity as well as changes in
projected future cash flows in accordance with 320-10, Intevest income on pon-Agency MBS that are rated lower than "AA" are
recognized over the expected life as adjusted for the estimated prepayments and credit losses of the securities. Actual prepayment
and any credit bosses experienced are compared to projected prepayments and credit losses, and effective yickds arc adjusted when
those amounts differ.
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The Company‘s projections of future cash flows are based on input and analysis received from extemal sources and
internal models, and includes sssuraptions aboat the amount and timing of credit bosses, loan prepayment rates, fuctuations in
interest rates, and other factors. On at least a quanerly basis, the Company reviews and makes any necessary adjusiments to its
cash Mlow projections and updates the yield recognized on these assets.

For securities, the accrual of interest is discontinued when, in the opinion of management, it 13 probable that all amounts
comtractually due will oot be collected, and in cerain instances, as a resull of the other-than-temporary impairment analysis. For
loans, the accrual of interest is discontinued when, in the opinion of management, the interest is not collectible in the normal course
of business, when the loan is significantly past due or when the primary servicer of the lean fails to advance the interest andior
principal due on the loan. Loans are considered past due when the borrower fails 10 make 1 timely pryment in accordance with
the underiying loan agreement. Al interest accrved but ner collecied for investments that are placed on a non-scerual status or
are charped-ofTis reversed against interest income.  Interest on these investments is acoounted for on the cash-hasis or cost-recovery
method until qualifying for retumn to accrual status. Investments are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest
amounts contractually due are brought current and fiture payments are reasonably assured.

Stack-Based Compensation

Pursuant w the Company 's 2000 Stock and Incentive Plan ("SIPY), the Company may grant stock-based compensation
o eligible employees, directors o consuliants or advisers to the Company, including stock awards, stock options, stock appreciation
rights (*SARs™), dividend equivalem rights, performance shares, and restricted stock units. Currently, the Company’s stock options
and restricted stock issued under this plan may be settled only in shares of ity common stock, and therefore are treated as equity
awards with their fair value measured at the grant date as required by ASC Topic 718, Omuanding SARs isswed by the Company
may be scttbed only in cash, and therefore have been trested as Fability awards with their fair value estimated o1 the grant date and
remeasured mt the end of each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option valuation model as required by ASC Topic
T18. Please see Note | for additional disclosures regarding the Company's SIP.

Contingencies

in the normal course of business, there are vartous lawsuits, claims, and other contingencies pendimg against the
Company. We evaluate whether 1o establish provisions for estimated Josses from those matters in accordance with ASC Topic
450, which states that o linbility is recognired for a contingent loss when: (e} the underlying causal event has occurred prior to the
balance sheet date: (b) it is probable that a loss has been incurred: and (¢) there 15 a reasonable basis for estimating that loss. A
liability 15 not recognized for a contingent loss when it is only possible or remotely possible thot a boss has been incurred, however,
possible contingent losses sholl be disclosed. Please refer to Note 13 for details on the most significant matters cormently pending.

Receat Accounting Pronoancements

There are no recently issued accounting pronouncements that are expected 1o materiaily impact the Company's financin!
conditron or results of operations which are not effective as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.,

In December 2011, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU™) No. 2041-11 which amends ASC Topic 210 10
require an entily 1o disclose information about offsetting assets and liabilities nnd related amangements 1o enable users of its
finoncial staternents 1o undersiand the effect of those armangements on ats linancial position. Offsetting, otherwise known as netting.
is the presentation of assets and lisbilities as a single net amount in the halance sheet, GAAP gives companies the option 1o present
tn their consolidated balance sheets, on a el basis, dervatives that are subject to a legally enforceable netting arrangement with
the same party where rights of set-ofl are only svailable in the event of default or bankruptcy. This amendment is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or afler January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods, and should be
applied retrospectively for sll comparative periods presented. The Company does not currently offset any of its assets and lisbilities.
and as such, docs not anticipate that ASU No_ 2011-11 will have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results
of operations,

NOTE 2 - NEY INCOME PER COMMON SHARE
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Net income per common share is presented on both a basic and diluted basis. Dilwted net income per common share
assumes the exercise of gtock options using the treasury stock method for all periods presented, and for the year ended December
31, 2010, the conversion of the Companys formerly culstanding Series D 9.50%% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Siock (the
*Series [ Prefermed Stock™) into common stock using the two-class method. Because the Company's 8.50% Series A Cumulative
Redeemable Prefemed Stock (the "Series A Preferred Stock”™) issued during the third quaner of 2012 is redeemable at the Company's
option for cash only, and the Series A Preferred Stock can convert into shares of common stock only upon a change of control of
the Company, ihe effect of those shares is excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per common share for the year
ended December 31, 2012, Holders of unvested shares of our issued and outstanding restricted common stock are eligible to
receive non-forfeitable dividends. As such, these unvesied shares are considered panticipating securities as per ASC 260-10 and
therefore are included in the compuiation of basic earnings per share ("EPS®) using the two-class method.

The following table presents the calculation of the numerator and denominator for both basic and diluted net income per
common share:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 2814
o
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Cammon Common Common

lncome Shares Income Shares Income Shares
oy = ——— - ———— wo—— r—
Preferred stock dividends
Net income to common
Effect of dilutive securitics —_— — — 799 3,061 3324014
Net income per common share:
Basik:

Diluted "

Components of dilutive iterms:
Series D Preferred Stock

Swock options

5 3061 32199
_— bRl

s : 5 ™ § 3,324,014
P ]

.8 ___________§ N ] ﬂ
{1} For the years ended December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2018, the calculavion of ditwed nei
income per common share excludes the effect of 15,000 wnexercised stock opvion awards becase their inclusion would
have been anti-dilutive.
NOTE 3 - AGERCY MBS

The following table presents the components of the Company's investiment in Agency MBS as of December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011:
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Deccmber 3M, 2012

RMBS CMBS  CMBSI10" Total
Principabipar valuc 2SS mvesm—
Linamoriised premivm 550,171
Amontized cost SEO.TT 3443208

Available for sabe (recognized in statement of compechonsive L L
income): ,

Gross unrealized gains 19477 I8.218 59268

Gross unrealized losses (11,134) (1209 (12.349)
Tradmy (recegnized inincome statememy:

Gross unrealized gains e 254 e 254
Total Agency MBS fair value: $2,571,337  § 354,142 § S6T.IB0 S 3492659

Weighted sversge coupon 0T T519% 098
i) The combincd notiondal balance for the Agency CMBS 1O secnritics ix $10,059,493 ax of December 31, 204 2.

December 31, 2011
RMBS CMBS  CMBSIO"”  Tolal
Unamonized premium 85,488 21,627 86,358 193,473
Unamonizod discount s (17, e ,,,, s (37}
Amortized cost 1.573868  288.579 86358 1,948 805
Available for sale (recognized in statement of comprehensive Gt b ~
Gross unrealized gains 10787 L7460 50 22843
Gross unreslized losses - {7405) — {1.043) (B.448)
Trading (recognized m income statement);
Total Agency MBS fair value: $1,577.250 5 302244 § 85665 S 1,965,159
wﬁ@ui AVETRGE COUpOn R g R ljm- A —— : ﬁmi‘ e '.,— N

thy  The combined notiveal badance for the Agency UMBS 10 seenrities (v 81,413,006 as of December 31, 2041,

The Company purchased 31,721,284 of Agency RMBS and 3581, 280 of Agency CMBS, consisting principally of CMBS
s, since December 31, 2012 Agency CMBS 10s are secured by exeess inerest payments on pools of muBifamily housing
mongage loans. As these securitics have noprincipal sssociated with them, the interest payments received are based on the unpaid
principal balance (often referred 10 as the notional amount) of the underlying pool of moagage joans. The 10 securitics gencrally
have prepayment protection in the form of keck-outs andfor yicld maintenance associated with the underlying loans.

A portion of the Agency UMBS included in the t1ables above ane designated as trading securitics by the Company, snd
chanpes in the fair value of those Ageney CMBS are recognized cach reporting period within "fair value adjustments, net” in the
Company's consolidated stalements of income.  As of December 31, 2012 and Devember 31, 2011, the amontized vost of these
Agency CMBS designated as trading securnilics was $27.535 and $28.119. respectively. The Company recognized a net unrcalined
gain lor the year ended December 31, 2012 of $652 compared (o 51,919 for the year ended December 31, 2011, respectively,
related to changes in fair value.  The Company also has derivatives designated as trading instruments, and the changes in their
fair valuc are also incladed within ™ fair value adjustments. net”. Pheasc refer to Note 7 foradditional information on these derivatives
designated as trading instrumcents.
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The following table presents centain information for those Agency MBS in an unrealized loss position as of December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2011

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Unrealized . Rof Unrealized ¥of
Fair Valoe Loss Securities  Fair Value Loss Securities
Unrealized loss position for:
One year or more

Because the principal and interest refated to Agency MBS are guasaniced by the government-gponsored entities Fannic
Mae and Froddie Mac who have the implicit guarantec of the LS. government, the Company docs not consider any ofthe unncalized
losses on is Agency MBS to be credit related. Although the unrcalizod losses are not credit refated, the Company assesses itz
ability and inicnt 1o hold any Agency MBS with an unrealized foss until the recovery in is valoe. This assessment is based on the
amount of the unrcalized Joss and significance of the related investmant as well as the Company's current leverage and anticipated
liquidity. Based on this analysis, the Company has determined that the unnealized losses on its Agency MBS as of December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2001 were temporary.

NOTE 4 - NON-AGENCY MBS

The following table presents the components of the Company™s non-Agency MBS as of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011

Decomber 31, 2012
RMBES CMBS CMBS 10 Total
g iy r‘"ﬂ o 2

Unamaortized promium
Unamortized discount
Amsortzed cost

Availsble for sale (recognioed in siatement of compeeheasive
income):

Grozs unrealized gains ‘
Fair value S 11,038 § 48
Weighted average coupon :

(1) The notional balance for the mom-Agency CMBS 10 securities ix §2,393,614 as of December 31, 2012,

6,342 § 113.942

$ 611,322
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December 3, 2011
RMBS CMBS CMBS 10" Total

Primcimalper vaiue S T Y
Unamwontized premium 51,3239 54,885
Amonized cost 51239 413,343
Available for sale (recognized in ststement of comprehensive E
mcome): i . S
Gross unrealized gains 07 11,806 893 13,206
Fair value 5 15270 5 35407 0§ S17%e 5 421,096

Weighted average coupon A% SI% . L%
(1} The metivnal balance for the non.Agercy CMBS 10 securities is S006, 202 as of December 31, 2011

The Company has purchaved $7.500 of non-Agency RMBS, $165.466 of non-Agency CMRBS, and S68.315 of nom.
Agerey CMBS 10 secarities during the year ended December 31, 2041,

The following table presents cenan inlormation for those non-Agency MBS that were in an unteatined loss position as
of Devcember 31, 26012 and December 31, 2011,

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Unrealized  # ol Unrealized N of
Fair Value Loss Securities  Fair Value Loss Securithes
Unrealtaed loss position for
Less than one year: 3 B s % 3 5 I839M 8§  (5075) B
One vear ar more: 2.701 (198) 1) 2993 _ 3791 7

SR v WS V W S T

The Company reviews any non-Agency MBS in an unecalized loss position 1o evaluate whether any decline in fair vatue
represents an othev-than<emporary impairment. The evalustion includes a review of the credit rtings of these non-Agency MBS
and the scasoning of the morigage loans collateralizing these secunities as well as the estimated future cash flows which inclde
projected losses. The Company performed this cvaluation for the non-Agency MBS in an unrealized loss position as of
December 31, 2012 and has determined that there have not been any adverse changes in the timing or amount of estimated future
cash flows that mecessitaie a recognition of other-than-temporary impairment amounts as of Decemnber 31, 2012

NOTE § - SECURITIZED MORTCGAGE LOANS, NET

The Company’s securitized mongage loans are pledged as collwernl for s associaled securitization financing bonds,
which are discussed further in Note 9. Please also reler to Note 6 for disclosures related to impaired securitined monigage boans
andd the related atlowance for loan losses. The following table summanees the components of securitized mortgage loans as of
December 31, 2012 mnd December 31, 2004



w 312012 Deccm_hrer 31,2011
Single- Single-
Commercial family family

Principalipar value s AT

Unamortized premium, pet

Unamortized discount, net )
Amortized cost 116202

Allowance for loan losses )

3 a.0% § 11370
AR

() Includes funds held by trustees.

The balance of the Company’s securitized commercial mortgage loans has decreased since December 31, 2011 primarily
due 1w principal payments, including amounts received on defensed loans, of $34.831, The Company’s securitized commerncial
moertgage loans were originated principatly in 1996 and 1997 and are collateralized by first deeds of trust on income producing
properties. Approximately 58% of these securitized commercial mortgage loans are secured by multifamily properties. As of
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the loan-to-value ratio based on onginal appraisal was 48% and 42%, respectively.
There were no securitized commercial morigage loans identified as seriously delinguent (60 or more days past dus) and therelfore
on nonaccrus! siatus on the Company's balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 compared to nonacerual loans with an unpaid
principal balance of $14,997 as of December 31, 2041,

The increase in unamortized discount, net for the Company’s securitized commercial mortgage loans sinoe December 31,
2011 is due 1o the modification of terma for one securitized commercial mongage loan which resulted in an effective yield as
favorable to the Campany as the effective yield of the origingl loan. In accondance with ASC 310-20, the Company accounted for
this modified loan as a new loan, resuhing in s discount of $1,218 being recognized 1o adjust the new koan's basis to that of the
origing! loan,

The balance of the Company’s secoritized single-family movigage loans have decreased since December 31, 2011 doe to
principal payments on the loans of $5.999. These single-lamily morigage loans are secuned by first deeds of trust on residential
real estate and were originated principally from 1992 10 1997, As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 204 1, the current loan-
to-value ratio based on original appraisal was approximately 43% and 46%, respectively. The unpaid principal balance of the
Company's sccuritized single-family mortgage loans idemtified as seriously delinguent as of December 31, 201215 $3,380 compared
to $3,366 as of December 31, 2011, The Company continues accruing interest on any seriously delinquent secornitized single-
family morigage loan so Jong as the primary servicer comtinues to advance the intenest and‘or principal due on the loan.

NOTE 6 - ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

As discussed in Note 1, the Company estimates for currently existing and probable bosses for its mortgage doans that are
considered impaired. A loan can be considered impaired even if it is not delinquent. The following toble summarizes the aggrogate
activity for the portion of the allowonce for koan losses that relates to the securitized mongage loan portfolio for the periods
indicated:
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For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012 } 2011 - 1018
Single- Single- Single-
Commercial family Commercial family Commercial family

Allowance at beginning of

Provision for loan losses 24 23 1,194 —

Crodi o, o of rcoveries. M2 a0y Gy @ oW @

Allowance at end of period g s § 2268 8 231 S 4200 § 270
fo o e e e TN SRR R

The following table summarizes infoemation regarding the Company’s impained secaritized commercial and single-Genuly
montgage loans s of December 31, 20142 and Devember 31, 2001

December 3, 2012 December 31, 2011
Cn-meﬂ:hl Slngle-hmny (‘mmerchl SlWanm

Basis adjustments related to impaired securitized lvans —_ $o R 4%
Amortized cost basis of impaired sccaritized loans = g 34 S48 0
RN VSRR

For the secaritized xingle-family mongage loans identified as impaired as of Docenther 31, 2012, the Company estimates
that it has recognized approximately $179¢ of interest income for the year ended December 31, 2012 compated 1o $162 and 8205
for the vears ended December 31, 2001 and Docember 31, 2000, respectively. Although the Company did not have any specific
sceuritized commercial moagage loans identified s smpaired as of December 31, 2002, it is currenily maintaining a geocrad
allowance fiw commercial montgage boan losses of $150. The Company estimanes that it recognized interest income of $109 and
SK08 for the years ended December 31, 201 and Decomber 31, 2000, respectively. on commercial securitized mortgage boans
wdentificd as impaircd as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

NOTE 7 ~ DERIVATIVES

As part of 1ts risk management achixiiies, the Company” utileaes derivative financial instruments 10 manage its Cxposure
o cash Bow volatility and murkes value nisk related to interest rate nisk on the Company”s mvestments and their associated financing.
The Compnny's derivalive instruments are comprised entirely of inlerest rde swaps which are designated os either hedging
mstruments or trading instruments.  The tablex below summarize information about the Company s denvative financial instruments
on the balance sheet as of the dates indicated:

December 31, 2012 Decemaber 31, 2001
Weighted Weighted
-average Ve
Aggregate Fixed regate Fix
Accounting Babwace Sheet Nothoan! Rate Fair othonnl Rate
Deﬁgumaw Location: Fair ¥alue  Amount Swnppcd Value Amm Swa
Hedging instruments =~ .+ (393%3) $ 1435000 lm $(5512) 8 10 |
Trading instruments {27 J) 27.000 2RR% {(2A8%) -1.rm 2RR%
Decivative bisbilities §_(42,537) e R 5199

included in the balance ax of December 31, 2012 are seven forwnnd-starting interest rate swaps with a combined notsonn!
balance of $275,006 and p weighted avernge pay-fixed rate of 1.62% which arc non elfective unil 2013,

The following table summanyzes the contractual maturities remaiming for the Company’s outstanding mterest rate swap
agreements ns of December 31, 2012
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Weighted-
Remaining Notiopal Amount:  Notiowal Amount:  Notional Amount: Number of Fmg:tc
Maturity Trading Hedgiln Total Swaps Swapped
0-12 months o
13.36 momhs
37-60 months
Owver 60 months

With respect to hedging instruments, the Company's objective for using interest rate swaps is 10 minimize i13 exposure
10 the risk of cash flow volatility from increased interest expense on its repurchase agreement borrowings. Asrepurchase agreements
are shori-term in nature, as they mature, the intevest rate on the new repurchase agreement resets 1o a market interest rate,  This
sequential rollover borrowing prograns creates a variahle interest expense pattern. The changes in the cash flows of the interest
rate swaps are expected 10 be highly effective a1 ofTseniing changes in the interest pormion of the cash flows expected 1o be paid at
matrity of each borrowing.

The table below presends the effect of the derivatives designated as hedging instrumens on the Company s congolidated
statement of comprehensive income For the periods indicated:

Location of Location of
Amount Amount Amount Amount of Gain

Amount of Gain  Reclassified from  Reclassified from ™ Recogmlzed in (Loss) Recogmized

Type of Derivative (Loas) Recognized  OCI into Net OC1 inta Net RKet Income in Net Income
ignated as in OCI (Effective  1ncome (Effective  Income (Effective (laefTective (Ineflective

Cash Flaw Hedge Portion) Portion) Portion) Portion) Portion)
Fer the year ended December 31, 2002: Gl R
Inierest rale swaps $(28,740) Interest expense S14,448 Other income, net L
For the year ended December 31, 2011: 5 AN i Reredia S
Intevest rite swaps §(34,228) Interest expense 511604 Other income, net $(49)
Fer the year ended December 31, 2010: e R e . o
Interest mle swaps (6,315 Interest expense $1487 Oiher income, ne $(20)

As of December 31,2012, the Company estimates that $17,875 will b reclassificd from AQCH into camings as an increase
to interest expense within the acxt 12 months.

The Compeny's objective for designating cortain interest rate swaps as trading instruments is to offsct the changes in
market valuc for s postion of its Agency CMBS investments that arc also designated as trading. The table below presents the effect
of the derivatives designated as trading instruments on the Company's consolidated statements of income for the periods indicated.

Type of Derbvative Amount of Less Recognlzed in Net Income
Designated us Tradiog Location On Income Stalemen! _ For the Year Ended
' ' December 31,  Deccmber Decembrer
2012 31, 201 31, 2010

T8 S (4

—

Interest rute swaps Fair value adju

Thesc interest mate swap agreements conain various covenants related to the Company s credit risk. Specifically, il the
Company defaults on any of its indebledness, including those circumstances whereby repayment of the indebiedness has not yet
been accelerated by the lender, or is declared in default of any of its covenants with any counterparty, then the Company could
als0 be declared in default of its derivative obligations. Additionally, the agreements outstanding with its derivative counterparties
allow those counterpartics 10 require settiement of its outstanding derivative transactions if the Company fails to ¢am GAAP net
income greater than one dollar as measured on a rolling two quarter basis. Thesc interest rate agreements also contain provisions
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whereby, il the Company fails Lo maintain a mintrum nes amount of shareholders’ equity, then the Company may be declared in
default on its derivative obligations. As of Devember 31, 2012, the Company had derivatives in a net liability position with s
devivative counterpanies for which it had pledped Agency MBS with a fair value of $47,289 and cash of $38 as collateral. 0 ihe
Company had breached any of these agreements as ol December 31, 2012, it could have been required 1o setthe those detivatives
at their estimated termination value of $43, 198, which includes acorued interest but escludes any adjustment for nonperformance
risk. As of December 31, 2012, the Company was i compliance with all covenants.

NOTE 8 - REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The following tables presemt the components of the Company®s repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 by the fair valuce and type of securitics pledged as collateral to the repurchase agreements:

Decembaer 31, 2812
Fair Vatuc of
Weighted Collateral

Colisternl Type Balance Awnge Rate Pledged
Agency RMBS § 2365982 - 048% § 2458200
Agency CMBS and CMBS i) 692,311 0.95% 856939
Non-Agency RMBS o 1808 1.84% 9634
Non-Agency CMBS and CMBS 105 4700873 1.36% 579,248
Securitization (inancing bonds 28,113 1.64% 31483

Deferred foes t659) n'a na
- CD70% § 3935504

Deecmber 31, 2011
Fair Value of
Weighted Collateral

Collaters! Type B-Ium:r Avrugg Rate Pledged
Agency RMBS 5 tM‘Mﬂl e 'ﬂm $ 1820107
Ageney CMBS and CMRBS 10s 290,362 059 329612
on-Agency RMBS 12,195 1L.B5% 13,597
Newn-Agency UMBS and CMBS H0s 283 266 1.54% 336,124
Sccuritization financing bonds 60462 1.65% 61872
$ 283,793 0.61% § 2268312

The vombaned weighted average ofganal term to maturity for the Company s repurchase agreements was 67 duys ax of
Devcember 31, 2002 and 57 days as of December 31, 2001 The following tabke provides @ summary of the erginal maturities as
of Pecemnber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013

December 31, December 31,

Original Maturity 2812 2011

30 days o hess 5 mm,,@ - 180,387
10 o) dlays 1,263,105 880,49
61 1090 days L BEE0 496509
Gireater than 90 day 1,380,065 536,406




As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately 18% of its shareholders’ equity at risk with Wells Fargo Bank
National Association logether with its affiliate Wells Fargo Securities, LLC. The borrowings outstanding with that counterparty
and its affiliates as of December 31, 20012 were $366.130 with a weighted average bommowing rate of 1.35%. OF the amount
outstanding with this counterparty and its affiliate, $196,520 is under a two-year repurchase facility with Wells Fargo Bank National
Association. The facility provides an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of $200,000 and is set 1o mature on August 6, 2014,
subject to cenain early termination provisions contained in the master repuschase agreement. The facility is collateralized primarily
by Agency CMRBS 10, and its weighted average borrowing rate as of December 31, 2012 was 1.47%. Shareholders’ equity at risk
did not exceed 1% for any of the Company's other counterparties.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had repurchase agreement amounis outsianding with 19 of its 28 available
counmerparties. The Company’s counterparties, as set forth in the master repurchase sgreement with the counterparty, requite the
Company to comply with various customary operating and linancial covenants, incloding., but not limited 1o, minimum net wonh,
maximum declines in net worth in a given period, and maximum leverage requirements as well as maintaining the Company’s
REIT siatus. In addition, some of the agreements contain cross default features, whereby default under an agreement with one
lender simultaneously causes defsult under agreements with other lenders. To the extent that the Company fails 1o comply with
the covenants comained in thege financing agreements or is otherwise found 10 be in defaull under the terms of such agreements,
the counterparty has the right 1o accelerate amounts due under the masier repurchase sgreement. The Company was in compliance
with all covenants as of December 31,2012,

NOTE 9 - NON-RECOURSE COLLATERILZED FINANCING

As of Deocmber 31, 2012, the Company’s non-recourse collsieralized financing consists of collateral-based financing
issued by special purpose sccuritization trusis. The followinp table summarizes information sbout the Company's non-recourse
collateralized financing for the periods indicated:

December 3, 2012
Weighted
Average
L.He Remalning Balance Value of
Interest Rate fin years) Outstanding Collateral
Securitixation Mnanciog:
Secured by single-family mortgage loans 1-month LIBOR

phus 0.30% 3l 15974 17,300

" .
S AL




December 31, 2011

Welghted
Average
Lile Remalning Balance Value of
Interest Rate fint yewary) Dlmndh_g__ Collateral
Sccuritization financing:
Secured by non-Agency CMBS  S2%feed . 21§ 15000 5 16388
e L t-month LIBOR
Secured by singhe-family montgage loans ';:F“; 0.30% 12 18028 10,843
TALF financiag:'"’ SR e PR S s e
Secured by non-Agency CMBS 2.7 fixed 1.2 37672 49,087
Unamartized et bond premium and deferrod o n .
$ 70895 S 5318

s Financing provided by the Federal Rexerve Bank of New Yook under its Term Adssei-Backed Securities Loar Facilin
U TALET) The belamce as of December 31, 20480 was paid off during the first gqunsrter of 2012,

NOTE 10 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASC Topic 820 defines [air value as the price that would be reacived 1o sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a lisbility in an
orderly transaction between marker participants at the measurement date. ARC 820 clarifies that fair valie should be based on the
assumptions market panicipants would use when picing as asset or liability and also requires an enuty to consider afl aspects of
nonperformance risk, including the entity's own credit standing. when measuring fair value of a liability. ASC Topic 820 established
a valuation hicrarchy of three levels as follows:

Level 1 - Inputs are wnadjusted, quoted prices m active markels for dentical assets or labilties as of the
measurement date. None of the Company's assets ond habslities that pre measured at farr value are included in
this category ax of [ecember 31, 2012 or December 34, 2001

Level 2 - Inputs include quoled prices m active markets for similar assets or habilines; quoted prices in inactive
markets foe sdentical or sinnlbar assets or labilties; or inputs either directly obsenvable or indirectly observable
through correlation with markel data of Lhe measurement dote and for the duration of the instrument s anticipated
life. The Company s fixir valued assets and lisbalities that are genernlly included in this category ane Agency
MBS, centein non-Agency MHS, and derivatives,

Level 3 - Unobsersable inputs are supported by ittle or no market activniy, The snobsenvable inputs represent
managerment’s best estimate of how marke! participants would price the asset or habslity a1 the measurement
date. Consideration is given Lo the sk herent an the vatuntion technigue and the risk inherent in the inpaits to
the manicl, The Company™s Iar valued sxsets and Habilitses that are generally incloded in this category are certam
non-Agency MBS and other invesiments

The folloswang 1able presenis the tair value of the Company ‘s assets and liabilities measured at fair vatue on a recuming
hasts as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, segregated by the hicrarchy level of the foir value estimaie:
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December 34, 2012

Falr Value Level 1 Level 2 FLevel 3
Assos:
Agency MBS
Non-Agency MBS:
CMAS (inchuding CMBS 10}
RMBS
Other investments o
Toral assets carricd at fair valoe § 4104006 §
Derivative liabilitics $ 42,537 §
Total liabilities carried at fair value 2 42537 §
December 31, 2011
Fair Value Level i Level 2 Leved 3
Agsets:
Agency MBS 5 19651 8§ — 5 196518 %
Non-Agency MBS:
CMBS (inchuding CMBS 10) L 4osERe
RMBS 15270
Other investments Lo 8
Tota! assets carvied at fair value $ 2386280 §
Linbilities: ;
Derivative Habilities
Total lishilitkes carried ot faic valoe

The Company 's Agency MBS, as well 8 majority of its non-Agency MBS, are substantially similar to sccuritics that either
anc currently actively traded o have been recenmily tradked in their respective market. Their fair values are derived from an average
of multiple dealer quotes and thus are considered Level 2 fair value measurements.

The Company's remaining non-Agency CMBS and non-Agency RMBS are comprised of securities for which there are
not substamtially similar securities that trade frequently. As such, the Company determines the fair value of those securnities by
discounting the estimated future cash flows derived from cash low models using assumptions that are confirmed to the extent
possible by third party dealers or other pricing indicators. Significant inputs into those pricing models are Level 3 in nature due
w the tack of readily available market quotes. Information wiilized in those pricing models include the security's credit mting.
coupan rale, estimated prepayment speeds, eapecied weighted average life, collaters! composition, estimated future interest rates,
expocted oredit losses, and credit enhancement as well as certain other relevant information. Significant changes in any of these
inputs in isolation would result in a significantly different {air value measurement. Generally Level 3 assets are most sensitive to
the default rate and severily assumptions.

The table below presenis information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair valuc measurement for
the Company's Level 3 non-Agency RMBS and CMBS as of Decemnber 31, 2012
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Quaatitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements''’

Prepayment
Speed Default Rate Severity Discount Rate
Non-Agency CMBS S 0CPY T 2 BN AW
Non-Agency RMBS SCPR 0.5% 9.0% 5 1%

i Dania peexented eve weighted overages.

The following table presents the activity of the instrurments Baie vadued a1 Level 3 for the penods indscated:

Level 3 Fair Valoes
Non-Agency  Non-Agency
CMBS RMBS Other Total assets
Balancr as of January 1, 2011 § 1466705 937 5. 25 5 156002
Purchases 30584 7,000 —_ 10054
Sakes — (3.706) - (3.706)
tLossh gain recognized in net income —— 59 — (59)
Unrealized (loss) gain included in other comprehensive v
income TNy 16 — (2,178)
Principal payments {22.652) {2.278) — {24,930
Amortization {1,175) IR [ E R e IR
Balance as of December 31, 2011 S 123703 S 10296 § 25 8 134,024
Purchascs — 1,500 — 7.500
Teansfers out 10 Level 2 {3670) — — {44670
Unrealized {loss) gain included in other comprehensive : : R v :
Principa! payvments {18437 {12.804) {31241
Amortization = 435} : 49 @000 - (395
Balance as of December 31, 2012 § e 5 SR 8 25 8 105,245

The Company evaluates the availatulity and quality of valuatson inpats for sts Leve! 3 securities on o monthly basis. When
it determmes that there are sutficient ohservable market inputs for the sanie or similar securities, the secunities are transferred o
Level 2 at the end of the reporting penod in which that determination is made, As xhown in the tabbe above for the vear ended
December 31, 2012, the Campany transferred two of its non-Ageney CMBS from Level 3 10 Level 2 becanse the higudity for
securities stmilar to these non-Agency CMBS impeoved such that the Company wies able to obtain market discosnt mies and
prepavment speeds which it used in extehlishing the fuir value of these two non- Agency CMBS,

I'he following table presents a summary of the reconded basis and estimated fair values of the Company’s financinl
mrsiruments as of Deceraber 31, 2012 and Decernber 31, 2001
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December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Recorded Rasis Fair Value Recorded Basis Falr Value

Assets:
Agency MBS s 492,659 .5 1965059 § 1,965,189
Non-Agency MBS 6l 3R 611,322 421,09 421.0%
Securitized morigage loans, net 7083 8196 . N3703 1066
(ther investments R58 Ri0 1L.OIK §92

Liabilities: ,
Repurchase agreements 5 3564128 S 3564.7R7 S 2093793 § 2083793
Derivative liabilitics 42,537 42,537 27,997 27,997

There were no assets o liabilities which were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of Decernber 31, 2012
or December 31, 2011

NOTE 11 - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred Stock

On August £, 2012, the Company closed an offering of 2,300,000 shares of 8.30% Serics A Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock, par vakue of $0.01 per share and liguidation preference $25.00 per share. The Company received net procoeds
before expenses of $55,689, including the additional proceeds from the underwriters’ overallotment option which was fully
excrcised. The Company declared dividends of $0.43681 for the perind August 1, 2012 through October 15, 2012 and $0.53125
per share of preferned stock for the period October 16, 2012 through January 15, 2013,

Common Stock

The following table presenits 3 summary of the changes in the number of common sharex owstunding for the periods
indicated:

2012 on

Balance as of Janvary |, 40382530 30342897
Common stock issued under ATM program 402,494 400,237
Common stock issued under DRIP 380 4368
Common stock ixsued via public offeting 13,332,748 9,200,000
Common stock issued or redeemed under stock and incentive plans Miee3 a0
Common stock repurchased (104,000

Balance as of December 31, - 54268915 - 40382530

The Company has a continvous oquity plecement program {also known as an "#t the market™ progrom, o " ATM™) wherehy
the Company may offer and sell through its sales ageot, JIMP Securitics LLC, up to 8,000,000 shares of its common stock. Duning
the vear ended December 31, 2012, the Company received proceeds of $3,721, net of 357 in broker sales commigsion, for 402,494
shares of common stock sold under this program &t an average price of $9.39.

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and Shore Purchase Plan ("DRIP") which allows registered sharcholders to
automatically reinvest some or all of their quarterly dividends in shares of the Company s stock and provides an opportunity for
investors o purchase shares of the Company s stock, potentially at 8 discount to the prevailing market price. A total of 3,000,000
shares have been reserved for issuance under the DRIP. The Company declared a founth quarter common stock dividend of $0.29
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per share payable on January 31, 200 3 10 sharcholders of recond as of December 31, 2012, There was no dividend reinvestrent
discount for fourth quaner dividends reinvested throagh the DRIP.

In February 2082, the Company closed a secondary offering of 13,332,748 shares of its common stock which inclodes
%32 487 shares issued pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares thal was exercised by the underwriters, at a public affering
price of $9.12 per share for inal et proceeds of approximately $119.992 afler deduction of underwriters' compensation and
EAPENSes.

in November 2012 the Company announced that itz Board ol Directors had authorized the repurchase of up 10 $56,000
of 15 outstanding shares of commeon stock through December 11, 2014, The shares are expected 10 be repurchased from time 1o
lime through privately nepotisted ransactions or open market transactions, including pursuant to a irading plan in accordance w ith
Rules 10bS-1 and 10b~18 under the Securities kxchange Act of 1934, as amended, of by any combination of such methods. The
manner, price. number and timing of share repurchases will be subject to a variety of lactors, including marker conditions and
appheable Securities and Fachange Commissson rubes. The Company will only repurchase shares when the repurchase price per
share 1s kess than the Company's estimate of the currem net book value of its commaon stock. During the fourth quanter of 2012,
the Company repurchased H4 (00 shares of its common stock at an average price of $8.86 per share afier commissions.

Incamiive Plans. Parsaant to the Company s 2008 Swock and Incentive Plan, the Company may grant stock-based
eompensation (o cligible employees, directors or comsubants or advisers 1 the Company, including stock awards. stock options,
SARs, dividend equivalent rights, performance shares, incentive awards, and restricted stock units. OF the 2,500,000 shares of
common sock avthorized for ssuance under this plan, {805,276 shares remain svailable for issuance as of December 31, 2012
Tetal stock-based corapensation expense recopntsed by the Company for the vear ended December 31, 2012 was $1.828 compared
e 8217 for the year ended December 31, 2011 and $627 for the vear ended December 31,2014

The follow ing 1able presents a rolliorward of the restricted stock activity for the periods presented:

2012 2011
""""" R
Rostricted stock owtstanding at January 1. © 365,506 - 25,000
Restnicted stock granted 20829 355,006
Restrcted stock vested (138,044) {172,500)
Restncted stock outstanding at December 31, #4858, 283 365,506
RTINS

The restricted stock granted m 2002 and 2081 had foir values ol 52,073 and 33,729, respectively ot their grant dates A
of December 31, 2012, the fair valuc of the Company ‘s outstanding restricted stock remaining 10 be amentized into compensation
expensc is $2,983, of which $1.720 is cxpecied 1o be anvortized in 2003, $520 in 2014, $386 in 2015, and §57 in 2016,

As of December 31, 2012, the Company also has SARs and stock options vwistanding. all of which wore grunted pursuant
e the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan  No new swards may be granted under this plan. The following wable presents a
reltforward of the SARs activity for the peniods presented:

i ] b))

Weighted- Wreighted-
Quantity  Average Price Quantity  Averape Price

SARs outsianding ot January 1, L 883788 ﬁ.&? o 1388188 . 138
SARs exervised {I1LR?S) 6.71 {77.500) 7.64
SARs cutstanding a8 December 31, o DRS00 8 T8 593758 6R7

As of December 31, 2012, ull of the Company”s outstanding SARs are vested and exervisable at any Ume prior o their
expiration date of December 31, 2013 As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fuir value of the Company's
outstanding SARs of $66 and $77. respectively, ane recorded as lisbilities on its consolidated balance sheet for the respective
perivds.
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The Company has not granted any stock options since the year ended December 31, 2008, and the compensation cost
related to all stock options has been expensed in prior periods. All outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2012 will expire
by May 16, 2013, The following table presents a rollforward of the stock option activity for the periods presented:

2012 2611
Weighted- Weighted-
Quantity  Average Price Quantity  Average Price

Stock oplions outstanding st January I, 45000 '3

T

Stack options expired
Stock options outstanding at December 31, 15000 % 9.81 30,000 § 9.42

Accumplated Other Compreheasive ncome

Accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 200 2 and December 31,201 is compnsed of the following
femns:

December 31,  December 3,

1012 2011
Available for sale investments: S
Unrealized gains S IMET0 S 36,091
Unrealized losses Co 26 o (13902)
92,247 22,189
Hedging instruments: s
Unrealized losses {39.736) {25.444)
(39,736 - (25A44)
Accumulnted other compeehensive income (loxs) $ 52511 § (3.25%)

Due to the Company’s REIT status, the items comprising other comprebensive income do not have related tax effects.

NOTE 12 - INCOME TAXES

The Company's estimated REIT taxable income belore consideration of its net operating loss carryforward was $73,962
for the year ended December 31, 2012, $43,.988 for the year ended December 31, 2011, and 324,669 for the year ended December
31,2010, Afer common and preferred dividend distnibutions during those vears as well as ulilization of the Company's 1ax net
operating boss ("NOL.") carryforward 1o ofTset taxable eamings, the Company does not expect 1o incur any income 1ax lability for
the year ended December 31, 2012 and did not incur ony income tax linbility for the years ending Decernber 31, 2011 or December
31, 2010,

The Company’s estimated NOL carryforward as of December X1, 2012 is $135,857. As a result of its common siock
offering in February 2012, the Company incurred an "ownership change” under Section 382 of the Intemnal Revenue Code ("Section
382"} Ingencral, ifacompany incurs an ownership change under Section 382, the company’s ability to utilize an NOL carryforward
10 offse its taxable income afler any required dividend distribinions, becomes limited to a certain amount per year. Due to the
ownership change, the Company’s ability to use its NOL is limiled to an estimated 513,451 per year. The NOL will begin 1o expire

principally in the years 2020-2024 10 the extent it is not used.



The Company also has a wsable REAT subsidiary {"TRS"), which has an estimated NOL careyfarward of $4,208 as of
December 3, 2012, The Company’s TRS has himited operations, and, accordingly, the Company has established a full valuation
allowance for the related deferred 1as assel,

Afier reviewing for any potentially unceriain tncome Lax positions, the Company has voacluded that it does not lave any
uncenain tax positions that meet Lhe recognition of measurement criteria of ASC 740 as of Decerber 31, 2012, Deverber 31,
2011, or December 31, 2010, although it tax retumis For those Lax years are opens o esanination by the IRS. In the event that the
Comgpany incurs income tax related interest and penalties, its policy s to classify them ss a component of provision for income
taxes.

NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company secords accruals for cortain outstanding legal procecdings, investigations o claims when it is probable
that a liability will be incurred and the amount of the oss can be reasonably estimated. The Company cvaluates, on a quarterly
basis. developments in lepal proccodings, investigatbons and claims that could affect the amount of any accrual, as well as any
developments that would make a loss contingeney both probable and reasonably estimable. When a loss comtingency is not both
probable and reasonably estimable. the Company docs ot aceruce the loss. However, i the loss (or an additional loss in cxeess of
the accrual) is at least & reasonable possibility and material, then the Company discloscs a reasonable estirate of the possible loss
or range of loss. if such reasonable cstimate can be made. I the Cempany cannol make a reasonable estimate of the possible
material loss, or range of boss, then that fact is disclosed.

The Company and its subsidiaries arc pariics to various legal peoccedings, including those described below. Although
the alismaic outcome of these legal proceedings cannot be ascertained at this iime, and the results of legal procoedings cannot be
predicted with certainty, the Company believes, based on current knowledge, that the sesolution of any of these proceedings,
including those described below, will not have a material cffect on the Company’s consolidatcd financial condition or
liquidity. However, the resolution of any of the proccedings deserited below could have a material impact on conselidated resuls
of operations or cash flows in a given future reponting period as the proceedings are resolved.

One of the Company’s subsidinries, GLS Capital, Inc. "GLS”). and the County of Aliegheny, Peansylvania (" Allegheny
County™) are defendants in a class action lawsant liled in 1997 m the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania
{the “Count”t Between 1995 and 1997, GLS purchased from Allegheny County delinguemnt property tax hien receivables for
properties kcated o the county  The plantifis in this muntter atieged that GLS impropedy recovered or sought recovery for certain
fees, costs, interest, and attomeyys’ fees and eapenses i conmection with GLS collection of the property tax licn reocivables, The
Court granted class action stotus and defined the class 10 mclude onby owners of real estate in Allegheny County who paid an
mtomeys” fee between 1996 and 2003 1 connection with the forced colbection of delinquent propenty tax receivables by GLS
(penerafly thraugh the mitation of s foreclosune action). Amendments 10 the staute that governs the collection of delinquent 1ax
hens n Peansylvania, related case fow, and GLY filing of one or more successiul motions for ssmmary judgment resulied in the
dismussal of centain claims againxt GLS and narrowed the issues being litgated 10 whether attorneys’ fees and relaled expenses
charged by GLS m connection with the collecion of the receivablies were reasonable. Such attomeys” tees and lien costs were
sssessed by GLS i itx collection offorts punsuant to the prevailing Allegheny County ardinance. On April 23, 2012, as a result
of a petition to discentinue Giled by the plamiifls, the Court dismissed the remaining clyums agatnst GLS, Plaintiffs subsequently
sppesicd the dismissal to the Pennsybvania Commonwenlth Cournt of Appeals. The claims made by plaintifls on appeal inclwde
anly the legality of charging and recosenng stormeys’ Fees and tax lien revival and assignmend costs from the class members,
Plaimtafls have nod enumerated therr damages in s mutier

The Company. GLS, and Allegheny County are named defiendants 1n o putative class action lawsunt fiked in June 2012 in
the Count of Common Pleas of Alkegheny Coumty. Pennsyivania, The Inwsuit relates 10 the activities of GLS i Allegheny County
related 1o the purchase and collection of delinguent property tax fien reocivibles discussed ubove, The purported class in this
pction consists of owners of real cstte in AHlegheny County schose property is or has been subject 1o 2 tax Jien filed by Allegheny
County that Allegheny County esther retained or xold 1o GLS and who were billed by Allegheny County or GLS for atiomeys'
fees, nterest, and certaan other foes and who sustaned sconomie damages on and afler August 14, 2003, The putative closy
allegations ane that Allegheny County, GLS, and the Company violatesd the class's constinmional due process nghts i connection
with dehinguent tas collection cllons. There arc also allegations that amounts recovered from the class by GLS and ¢ or Allegheny
County are an unconsttutional taking of private property. The claims ageinst the Company are solely based upon its ownership
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of GLS. The complaim requests that the Count order GLS to account for amounts alleged 1o have been collected in violation of
the putative class members' rights and create a constructive trust for the return of such amounts to members of the purported class.
The same class previgusly filed substantially the same lawsuit in 2004 against GL.S and Allegheny County (ACORN . County
of Allegheny and GLS Capital, inc.), and GLS's Motion for Summary Judgment is pending in that action. The Company believes
the claims are without merit and intends 1o defend against them vigorously in this matter.

The Company and DCI Commercial, Inc. ("IDCT*), a former afliliste of the Company and formerly known as Dynea
Cemmercial, Inc., are appellees (or respondents) in the matter of Rasic Capital Management, Inc. et al. (collectively, “BCM™ or
the “Plaintilfs™) versug DCI et al. currently pending in state court in Dallas, Texas. The matter was initially filed in the siate coun
in Dallas County, Texas in April 1999 against DC1, and in March 2000, BCM amended the complai and added the Company as
a defendant. Following a trial court decigion in favor of both the Company and DCI, Plaimtifls appealed. seeking reversal of the
trial court's judgment and rendition of judgment against the Company for slleged breach of pan agreements for tenant impeovements
in the amount of $250. PhaintifTs also sought reversal of the irial coun's judgment and rendition of judgment against DC1 in faver
of BCM under two mutually exclusive danage models, for $2,200 and $25,600, respectively, related 1o the alleged beeach by BXCI
of 8 $160,000 “master” loan commitment.  Plainiills also sought reversal and rendition of a judgment in their favor for attomeys’
fees in the amount of $2,100. Allernativetly, Plaintiffs sought a new trial. On February 13, 2013, the Filth Circuit Count of Appeals
in Dallas, Texas (the “Fifth Circuit™) ruled on Plaintill's appeal, affimming the previous decision of no liability with respect (o the
Company, and reversing the previous decision ofno liability with respect to DCI relating to the $160,000 “master™ Joan commitment.
The Fiflh Circuit ordered a new trial (0 determing the amount of atiorneys' fees and prejudgment and post-judgment interest duc
to Plaintiffs and reinstated the $25.600 damage award against DCL. The Fifth Circuit's decision appears to permit Plaintifls 1w
recover the costs of their appeal from both the Company and DCL. The Company and DCI currently indend to file a motion for
rehearing with the Fifth Circuit on the issue of the costs. As part of the motion for rehearing, DCT may also chalienge the 325,600
damage award and the decision regarding attormneys' fiwes. Management believes the Company will not be obligated for any smounts
that may ultimately be awarded agsinst DCI.

NOTE 14 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As discussed in Note 13, the Company and IXC] have been jointly named in litigation regarding the activitics of DCI
while it was an opersting subsidiary of an affiliate of the Company, The Company and DUT entered into @ Litigation Cost Shaning
Agreement whereby the parties st forth how the costs of defending against such lingation would be shared, and whereby the
Company sgreed o sdvance DCI's portion of the costs of defending against such liigation. DCI costs advanced by the Company
ase boans and bear simple interest al the rate of Prime plus B.0% per annum. As of Deoemiber 31, 2012, the total amount due to
the Company under the Litigation Cost Sharing Agreemendt, including interest, was $7,616, which has been fully reserved by the
Company. DC ix currently wholly awned by ICD Holding. fnc. An executive of the Compony is the sole sharcholder of ICD
Holding. Inc.

NOTE 15 - SELFCTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Year Ended December 34, 2032
Second Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Quarter

Operating results:

Net interest income S 194785 190088 191008 21,145
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 19,087 19,008 18,990 2423
Basic diluted net tncome per common share b3 033 % 035 3% 034 % 0,34
Dilused net income per common share $ s o 03ss CMs M
Cash dividends doclared per common share 3 02§ 029 $ 029 $ .29

F-31



‘h’eva: Ended December 31, 2011

Second Fourth
Flirst Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Quarter

Operating results:
Net interest income $ 12731 8 15033 § 14,559 § 16972
Net interest income after proviston for loan losses 12,481 14,833 14,259 16,851
Net income - 10280 135M 1512 14406
Basic net income per common share s 031 § 034 3§ a4 S 0.36
Diluted net income per common share $ 03I 0345 oM S 036
Cash dividends declared per common shane s n27 s 027 S LG . 0.28
Year Ended December 38, 2010
§mnnd Fourth

First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Quarter
Operating resulis:
Net interest income 5 ners . 79 S 8400 $ 10,895
et interest income alter provision for loan losses 6,788 7,782 8,190 10,285
Net income to common sharcholders 4534 0 664 8966 o 9647
Basic net income per common share s 032 % 041 S 03% % 041
Diluted net income per common share 4 030 § 038 $ 033 8 040
Cash dividends declated per common share b 023 8 023 § 0235 § 027

NOTE 16 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Munagerment hus evaluated evems and circumstances ocvurring as of and through the date this Annual Report on Form

K was filed with the SEC and made avarbable to the public and has determined that there have been o significant ovents or
circumnstanees that qualify as cither “recognized” or "nonrecognized” subseguent events as defined by ASC Topic #55.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas B. Akin, contify that:
1. [ have revicwed this Annual Report on Form [0-K of Dynex Capital, Inc..

2. Based on my knowlcdge, this repot docs not contain any untruc statement of a material fact or omit to state a matenial fact
necessary (o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements weee made, not miskeading
with respoct o the period covered by this reportt;

3. Bascd on my knowledge, the financial statcenents, and other financial information inchuded in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the perieds
presemed in this sepont;

4. Theregistrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(c)) and internal control over financial reporting {(as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{f) and 15d- 1 5(f)) for the registrant and have:

tal

(b}

{c)

(d}

Designed such disclosure controbs and prooedures, or cansed such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our superviston, to cnsure thatr material information relating (o the registrant, inchding its consolidated
subsidiarics, is made known (o us by others within those entitics, particularly during the period in which this repoa
is being prepared;

Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such imernal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable sssurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for extermal purposes in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting,
principles;

Evaluated the cffectivencss of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and peesented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the dischosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regisizant’s internal contrel over financial reperting that occurred during
the registrut's most recent fiscol quarter (the registrant’s fourth fscal quarter in the case of an annual repost) that
bas materially affected, o is reasonably likely 1o materolly affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reponting: and

5. The registrant's other contifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evalustion of imernal control over
financial reporting. to the registrunt's auditors and the audit commitice of the registrant’s board of directons (or persons
performing the equivalest functions);

(n}

th)

All significant deficiencics wnd material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the cegistrant's ability 10 record, process, summarize sawd
repert finoocial information; ancd

Any fraud, whether or not masterial, that involves manogement of other employees who have a significant robe in the
registrunt's infernal control ever fimancial reporting.

Date: March 7, 2043

s Thomas B, Akin
Thomas B. Akin
Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Stephen 1. Benedem, cemnify that:
I Phave reviewed this Annuat Repont on Form 10-K of Dynex Capital, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report docs not contain any untrue statement of 8 material fact or omit t state & material fact
necessary o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not miseading
with respect 1o the period covered by this repor,

3. Based on my knowlodge, the financial statements, and other financial infiwmation included in this report, fairly peesent in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
prescoted in this repan;

4. Theregistrant's other certifying officer and Fare responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedurcs
tus defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 154-15{c)) and intemal control over financial reponting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-150 and 15d-1 50 for the registrant and have:

tay Designed such disclosure comrols and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls andd procedures to be designed
under our supervision, 1o ensure ther material information rclating 1o the registrant. including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entitics. particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(k) Designed such intemal controd over financial reporting, or caused such imemal control over financial reporing 10
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of Rnancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

i) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report aur
conclusions about the effectivencss of the dischosure controls and paoncedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this seport based on such evaluation. and

td) Disclosod in this repers any chaags in the registrant’s imemal contrel over financial reporting that ovcurred during
the registramt's muesst recent fiseal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quanter in the case of an annual report) that
s matenally affected, o0 &5 reaxonahly likely o matenially sffect, the rogistrunt’s insernal control over financial
roporting: and
S The registrants other centifymg officer and | have dischosed, based on our most recent evadustion of internal contral over
fimancial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audst committer of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions);
tnd Al significant deficsencies and material weaknesses in the design or opersion of intemal control over financial
seporting which are reasonably ikely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record, process, summarize st
repowt financial information; and
tht Any fraud, whether or oot mmtenisl, that involves management o ether emplovees who have o significant robe in the
registrunt's internal control over Baancial reporting.

Date: March 7, 2011
& Stephen ), Benedetti
Stephen ). Benedetti
Principal Financal Officer
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